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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

B B B E
(In HK$'000) (X FAETEBEN) 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
“EBCCF ZT-F ZTTF ZTN0F ZT)\F
OPERATING RESULTS EEMR
Revenue Wz 127,011 119,221 174,831 191,589 124,642
Profit for the year attributable to RRARGEB AE
owners of the Company F R 87,036 46,227 47,738 254,624 163,603
Earnings per share - Basic FROEN - &R
HK cents pqlil 3.2 1.7 1.8 9.5 6.1
FINANCIAL POSITION B AR R
Total assets EERE 3,292,975 3,468,281 3,238,239 2,903,628 2,713,372
Net assets EESE 2,718,501 2,655,793 2,633,091 2,642,866 2,491,167
Total liabilities BEEE 574,474 812,488 605,148 260,762 222,205
SEGMENT INFORMATION D EER
- SEGMENT REVENUE - pEKE
Broking e 8,340 11,379 9,564 8,136 11,307
Financing 815 84,575 77,772 94,614 73,146 77,307
Corporate finance TERBE 3,176 1,076 3,714 1,276 16
Assets management BETIE 1,735 1,621 2,075 2,242 2,565
Properties investment EHERE 28,757 27,075 64,569 106,496 25,912
Precious metal trading E2BEE 428 298 295 293 7,535
- SEGMENT RESULTS - PHWEE
Broking & (2,809) 243 76 (1,609) 1,162
Financing B % 54,598 48,772 44,561 13,490 33,158
Corporate finance rERE 3,120 1,043 3,669 1,224 7
Assets management BEER 659 83 383 634 1,552
Properties investment EHERE 24,967 23,847 58,656 100,347 20,562
Precious metal trading E¢EBEE (343) (611) (640) (686) (703)
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Dear Shareholders

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
Upbest Group Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to present to
you the results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2022.

Financial and Business Review
During the financial year 2022, the Group recorded a profit of
approximately HK$87.0 million, 88.0% increase when compared
with HK$46.2 million in the preceding year. Revenue increased by
approximately HK$8.0 million, around 6.5% increase when compared
with last year of HK$119.0 million.

The financing segment of our Group has recorded a revenue and
operating results during the year, amounted to HK$84.6 million and
HK$54.6 million respectively. In view of the downturn of the economy
in Hong Kong, the Group has implemented a more prudent treasury
control approach in terms of evaluating and controlling our clients’ loan
recoverability.

Market Review

Throughout the world, resurging of the COVID-19 variants spread that
the first quarter of 2022 is still challenging, and the world health and
economy are facing myriads of significant threats. To alleviate the
spread of the COVID-19 pandemic (since its outbreak in late 2019), a
series of precautionary actions such as the lockdowns, quarantines,
travel restrictions, vaccination, directions and restriction among various
kinds of business have been continuously implemented. Those waves of
COVID-19 and variants have lasted far longer than anticipated thereby
causing enormous impacts over the global economy. Businesses have
been responded by implementing tougher and long-lasting differences
against social contact in response to COVID-19 pandemic in those
major economics, such actions among the Pan-Asia regions have
shown signs of accelerating adverse effect on the world’s finance and
economy.

The economic growth of Hong Kong in 2022, as observed in the report
by the Government Economist prepared in the midst of the threat from
new COVID-19 variants and the persistent tension in Ukraine, has
adjusted the expected growth rate revising from the original forecast
increase of 2-3.5% to 1-2% as attributed to the decreasing outlook of
exports, together with noticeably, declining performance in the first
quarter of 2022.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
T F OH &

The Hong Kong Government Economist statement, predicted that “The
worsened global economic prospects may continue to weigh on Hong
Kong’s export performance,” with the Ukraine tensions driving up the
commodity prices and the disruptions in the supply chain. “In the face
of mounting inflation, major central banks are expected to expedite
their monetary policy tightening, further dampening global economic
growth.”

The evolving new COVID-19 variants, high tension in Ukraine, and the
tightening relationship between mainland China and the US imposed
more uncertainties to the global economy. Such development in the
monetary policy would inevitably impede Hong Kong's economic growth
forecasted for the year.

The anticipated economic recession as well as uncertain global
economic outlook had greatly affected investors’ appetite and market
performance. The Hang Seng index (“HSI”) was moving within the range
from the point of 18,235.48 to 29,490.61 in the financial year under
review. As at 31 March 2022, the HSI was at the point of 21,996.85,
which represented a decrease of 24.0% comparing with that on 1 April,
2021. For the period from April 2021 to March 2022, the total turnover
value amounted to approximately HK$36.37 billion, an approximately
4.8% decrease compared with approximately HK$38.19 billion for the
same period last year.

On recognizing the relatively slow down of economic development
in Hong Kong, Pan Asia and Globally, the Group has been acting
more prudently in terms of (a) preserving financial resources as far as
practicable, and (b) leveraging on increasing the proportion of portfolio
towards value-based clients, for securing earnings on a sustainable
basis and weathering through this COVID-19 aftermath with more ease.

Brokerage

The securities’ daily operation agency business within the brokerage
segment continued to make positive contributions to our Group. On
the other side, the quiet market activities since second half of 2021/22
slowed down the other business opportunities available to our Group
such as brokerage services relating to the subscription of new shares
and placement of securities.

Revenue of brokerage segment was approximately HK$8.3 million,
a decrease by approximately HK$3.1 million on a like-with-like
basis (HK$11.4 million in prior year), representing a contraction of
approximately 26.7% which led to a nominal manageable operating
loss of HK$2.8 million during the year, as compared with the profit of
HK$243,000 recorded last year.
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Financing

Revenue of the financing segment was approximately HK$84.6 million,
representing an increase of approximately HK$6.8 million or 8.7%
compared with the preceding year thereby leveraging an encouraging
increment in segment results by 11.9%, recording to HK$54.6 million.

Implementing stricter treasury control approach in evaluating the loan
recoverability of our clients portfolio (including new clients) before
granting or extending loan to them, we maintained a cautious attitude in
structuring the terms of loans, without losing sight of offering attractive
money lending packages in a risk-bearable base so as to maintain our
competitiveness.

Corporate Finance and Asset Management

During the financial year 2022, the corporate finance segment
contributed revenue and segment results for approximately HK$3.2
million and approximately HK$3.1 million respectively.

For the asset management segment, the revenue and results in the
current year were approximately HK$1.7 million and HK$0.7 million
respectively, which were aligned with the market environment.

Precious Metal Trading
During the current financial year, the segment loss was approximately
HK$0.3 million which was half of the preceding financial year.

Properties Investment

Our shopping mall in Macau generated a stable income to our Group
despite economic downturn. During the period, our rental capacity rate
of shopping mall as well as car parks increased when compared with
the previous years. Our Directors are of the view that our shopping
mall provided a comprehensive range of dining, shopping, lifestyle and
leisure facilities for citizens living in Macau, which attracted a stable
income even during lockdown.

During the current financial year, the properties investment segment
recorded a revenue of approximately HK$28.8 million, increased
by approximately HK$1.7 million. The segment recorded a result of
HK$25.0 million for the year ended 31 March 2022.

As at 31 March 2022, the fair value of our investment properties was
approximately HK$1,622.1 million, with the net fair value increase of
approximately HK$21.0 million recorded during the year.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
T F OH &

Administration Performance

The administrative and other operating expenses for the current
financial year amounted to approximately HK$26.4 million, which
represented an increase of HK$0.1 million comparing with last year. The
administrative expenses to revenue ratio of approximately 20.8% was
lower than that in 2021 with approximately 1.3%. This demonstrates that
the management has been mindful of exercising proper cost control in
particular during period of business containment.

Prospects

We expect the current conditions of the global economy, as well as the
Hong Kong economy, will be maintained in the coming quarters of 2022,
having regard to the US Fed decision to increase the interest rate, fears
of new contagious COVID-19 variants, persistent geopolitical conflict
of Ukraine, and long-lasting dispute between mainland China and the
United States.

Despite the continuous headwinds of the economy and geopolitics,
we are hopeful that the global and Hong Kong economy might soon
be recovered and rebound ahead along with a worldwide continuous
application and improvements in vaccination, which should inter alias
provide scope for further releasing travel restrictions and loosening
restrictive policy on local retail segment for boosting international trade
and tourism activities globally. And in Hong Kong with persistent close
monitoring on travel traffic and tight control on local infected cases, the
Government has indicated its attempt to implement different stimulus
policies to boost the economy: rounds of consumption vouchers and
cash subsidies to certain industries for the growth of such industries
and market.

Economic growth in mainland China sustained, according to the
National Bureau of Statistics of the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”) that Gross Domestic Production (GDP) grew by about 4.8% of
GDP in the first quarter of 2022 compared to the same quarter last year,
and 1.3% compared to the fourth quarter of last year. Mainland China’s
“14"" Five-Year Plan” stated that the year 2023-2024 is in the phase of
“Growth and Release” that will be expanding internally and externally
to regain and improve the level of international openness. Such is
predicted to boost Hong Kong'’s economic recovery with the expected
borders reopening and harmonized political and administrative
governing bodies, and meanwhile contributing to the internal
consumption in mainland China.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (X &£ E 4 WA A)
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Facing such complicated investment environment, our Group will
continue to work on prudence amid challenges and maintain a cautious
approach to regularly review and adjust our business strategies in
due occasion. We strive to look for other investment opportunities
to contribute a long-term economic benefit to our shareholders for a
sustainable growth in shareholder funds and return on investment.

Appreciation

The Board would like to thank the management of the Group and all
staff for their hard work and dedication, as well as shareholders of the
Company, the Group’s business partners and associates, bankers and
auditors for their supports to the Group.

On behalf of the Board

IP Man Tin, David
Chairman and
Non-executive Director

Hong Kong, 24 June 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B EE N W R 2 M

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had bank balance and cash of
approximately HK$568.4 million (2021: HK$816.2 million) of which
approximately HK$10.0 million (2021: HK$10.0 million) were pledged
to bank for facilities granted to the Group. The Company has given
guarantees to the extent of HK$452.0 million (2021: HK$452.0 million)
to secure the facilities granted to subsidiaries. As at 31 March 2022
the Group had available aggregate banking facilities of approximately
HK$468.0 million (2021: HK$468.0 million) of which HK$233.4 million
(2021: HK$209.4 million) was not utilised.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s borrowings decreased to
approximately HK$234.6 million from approximately HK$263.4 million as
at 31 March 2021.

Gearing Ratio

As at 31 March, 2022, the amount of total borrowings was approximately
HK$234.6 million (2021: HK$263.4 million). The gearing being equal
to approximately 8.6% (2021: 9.9%) of the net assets of approximately
HK$2,718.5 million (2021: HK$2,655.8 million).

Capital Structure
There was no significant change in the Group’s capital structure for the
year ended 31 March 2022.

As at 31 March 2022, the total equity attributable to owners of the
Company amounted to approximately HK$2,719.8 million (2021:
HK$2,657.0 million). The Group’s consolidated net assets per share as
at the reporting date was HK$1.01 (2021: HK$0.99).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group operates in Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC and the majority
of transactions are denominated in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), United
State dollars (“US$”) and Macau Pataca. Foreign exchange risk arises
from commercial transactions, recognized assets and liabilities, which
are denominated in a currency which is not the functional currency of
the Group and the Company.

During the year, the Group mainly uses Hong Kong dollars,
Macau Pataca and United States dollars to carry out its business
transactions. The Board considers the foreign currency exposure is
insignificant.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (X &£ E 4 WA A)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS

As at 31 March 2022, the Group has pledged certain of its investment
properties with fair value of approximately HK$1,386.1 million (2021:
HK$1,394.1 million) to a bank to secure general banking facilities
granted to the Group.

EEE N W R 2 M

SEEEMTD

RZEZZF=ZRA=+—8 XEE2AEY
1,386. 1B BB T (ZEZ_—F 130418 8%
TOWMETREDEELER  URGERTAE
Bz—MIETRE -

FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS BBEREN
2022 2021
—E=-= B
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
TET FHET
Guarantees given by the Company and its RRBIREMNBRARIABLE=F
subsidiaries to financial institutions in respect BEEEME T BEREER
of facilities to independent third parties 3,000 3,000
Guarantees given by the Company to financial AR BENBARRESEEM
institutions in respect of facilities granted to BT BHEER
subsidiaries 452,000 452,000

At the end of the reporting period, the Directors do not consider it
probable that a claim will be made against the Group under any of the
guarantees.

Of the above guarantees, the amount utilised by the subsidiaries at 31
March 2022 is HK$234.6 million (2021: HK$258.6 million).

The Company has not recognised any deferred income in respect of
these guarantees as its fair value cannot be reliably measured and its
transaction price was HK$Nil (2021: HK$NIil).

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had 40 staff including those staff of
Macau (2021: 40). For the year ended 31 March 2022, the staff costs of
the Group amounted to approximately HK$15.5 million (2021: HK$16.6
million), representing 12.2% and 13.9% of the Group’s revenue in
financial year 2022 and 2021 respectively.

The Group continues to maintain and upgrade the capabilities of its
workforce by providing them with adequate and regular training in order
to enhance their technical skills and update their industry knowledge
with regards to laws and regulations.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B EE N W R 2 M

The Group remunerates its employees mainly based on industry
practices, market remuneration and individual's performance and
experience. On top of regular remuneration, discretionary bonus may be
granted to eligible staff by reference to the Group’s performance as well
as individual’s performance.

PROPOSED FINAL DIVIDEND

Subject to the approval of the shareholders of the Company at the AGM,
the Board has recommended the payment of a proposed final dividend
of HK2.0 cents per ordinary share (2021: HK1.0 cent per ordinary
share) in respect of the year ended 31 March 2022 to all shareholders
of the Company whose names appear on the register of members of the
Company on Friday, 9 September 2022. If approved, the payment of the
proposed final dividend will be made on or about Friday, 23 September
2022.

SHARE OPTION
The Company does not have share option scheme.

CREDIT CONTROL

The Group has been practicing tight credit control policy. A credit
committee composed of two executive Directors and other members
is responsible for overseeing the granting of credit facilities. Daily
operation of money lending will be guided by the stringent procedures
as prescribed by the internal control manual.

COMPLIANCE AND RISK STEERING COMMITTEE AND
STRATEGY MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The Group has established a Compliance and Risk Steering Committee
and a Strategy Management Committee which aims to maintain a good
corporate governance environment for the Group. The Board believed
that this will help to enhance the Group’s expanding process in the
future.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (&t £ #f W A +)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The annual general meeting of the Company (the "AGM”) will be
convened and held on Friday, 26 August 2022. Notice of the AGM
will be published on the websites of the Company and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and sent to the
shareholders of the Company together with the Company’s 2022 Annual
Report in due course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS FOR THE AGM

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Monday,
22 August 2022 to Friday, 26 August 2022, both days inclusive, during
which period no share transfers can be registered. In order to be
eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfer, accompanied by the
relevant share certificates, must be lodged with the Company’s branch
share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Standard Limited, at Level 54,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong (and with effect
from 15 August 2022 onwards, at 17" Floor, Far East Finance Centre,
No. 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong) for registration no later than 4:30
p.m. on Friday, 19 August 2022.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS FOR FINAL DIVIDEND
The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Wednesday, 7 September 2022 to Friday, 9 September 2022, both
dates inclusive, during which period no share transfers can be
registered. In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all
transfers, accompanied by the relevant share certificates, must be
lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor
Standard Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Hong Kong (and with effect from 15 August 2022 onwards, at 17"
Floor, Far East Finance Centre, No. 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong) for
registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 6 September 2022.
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Non-Executive Director and Chairman

Mr. IP Man Tin, David (“Mr. Ip"), aged 76, is the chairman and
non-executive Director of the Company. He holds a Bachelor of Arts
Degree and Master’'s Degree in Public Administration. Mr. Ip is a
Chartered Marketer and a Certified Management Consultant trained in
ISO20700:2017. He has more than 25 years of public administration
and more than 15 years of public company management experience
in Hong Kong and Britain. He has extensive consultancy experience
across industry sectors. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Ip does not
hold directorship in any other listed public companies in Hong Kong or
overseas during the past three years and he does not hold any other
position with the Company and other members of the Group.

Non-Executive Director

Dr. SZE Ping Fat (“Dr. Sze"), aged 64, is a non-executive Director of
the Company. Dr. Sze is an Australian legal practitioner having obtained
the Doctorate in Juridical Science from Deakin Law School in Melbourne
as well as Master’s degrees in law from Trinity College Dublin, the
University of Leuven and the University of Sydney. He was appointed a
Justice of the Peace in and for New South Wales in 1996 and elected a
Member of the National Institute of Accountants (with a Master's degree
in Professional Accounting from the University of Southern Queensland)
in 1997, a Visiting Fellow of Clare Hall in the University of Cambridge
in 2002, a Fellow of the Malaysian Institute of Arbitrators in 2003, a
Member of the Society of Trust and Estate Practitioners and a Fellow
of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators in 2008, a Full Fellow of the
Society for Advanced Legal Studies in the University of London in 2009,
a Special Member of the International Association of Prosecutors (The
United Nations) in 2012 and a Member of the Magistrates’ Association
of Great Britain in 2015.

Dr. Sze specializes in criminal and commercial matters. Since 2007,
he has been a Visiting Professor of the IMO International Maritime Law
Institute (The United Nations). He has authored a treatise on carrier’s
liability, several monographs for The International Encyclopedia of
Laws, and more than 60 articles in the areas of public law, business
law and international trade law. He has been commissioned by the
University of Oxford to produce a biography of the late Sir Denys
Roberts, a former Chief Justice of Hong Kong. In 2005 and 2008, he
served as a PhD thesis examiner at Macquarie Law School in Sydney.
Save as disclosed above, Dr. Sze does not hold directorship in any
other listed public companies in Hong Kong or overseas during the past
three years and he does not hold any other position with the Company
and other members of the Group.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (X &£ E 4 WA A)
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Executive Directors

Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie (“Ms. Cheng”), aged 43, is an executive
Director, Chief Executive Officer, member of the Remuneration
Committee and member of the Nomination Committee of the Company.
She is responsible for overseeing the daily operations of the Company.
Ms. Cheng received her bachelor’s degree in Business Administration
(Accounting and Finance) from the University of Hong Kong and is a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. Prior to
joining the Company, she had served with an international audit firm.
Save as disclosed above, Ms. Cheng does not hold directorship in
any listed public companies in Hong Kong or overseas during the past
three years. Ms. Cheng is the sister of Mr. Cheng Wai Lun, Andrew,
an executive Director of the Company. She also holds directorships in
various subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew (“Mr. Cheng”), aged 49, is an executive
Director of the Company. He obtained his bachelor’s degree from the
California State University, USA. He has over 22 years’ experience
in securities, corporate finance and direct investment. He is also an
executive director of UBA Investments Limited (Stock Code: 0768).
Save as disclosed above, Mr. Cheng does not hold directorship in any
listed public companies in Hong Kong or overseas during the past
three years. He also holds directorships in various subsidiaries of the
Company. Mr. Cheng is the brother of Ms. Cheng Wai Ling, Annie, an
executive Director of the Company.

Mr. MOK Kwai Hang (“Mr. Mok”), aged 58, is an executive Director
of the Company. Mr. Mok is responsible for overseeing the daily
operation of the Company’s property investment segment. Mr. Mok
received his Bachelor’s Degree in Quantity Surveying from Hong Kong
Polytechnic (currently the Hong Kong Polytechnic University) and is a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors, the Royal Institution
of Chartered Surveyors and the Chartered Institute of Architectural
Technologists. Prior to joining the Company, he had served with Hip
Hing Construction Company Limited as Deputy General Manager
(Commercial) involved in various projects in Hong Kong and Macau
and as associate director in Widnell Limited involved in building and
infrastructure projects in Hong Kong. Saved as disclosed above,
Mr. Mok has not held any other directorships in other Hong Kong or
overseas listed public companies in the last three years. He also holds
directorships in various subsidiaries of the Company.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan (“Mr. Chan”), aged 55, is an independent
non-executive Director, chairman of the Audit Committee, member of the
Remuneration Committee and member of the Nomination Committee of
the Company.

Mr. Chan is currently the Chief Operations Officer of Miramar Hotel
and Investment Company Limited, (a company listed on the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange, Stock code: 0071). He is also an Independent
Non-executive Director and the Chairman of the Audit Committee of
China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited (a company listed
on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, Stock code: 1209). Mr. Chan
was previously an Independent Non-Executive Director, and the
Chairman of the Audit, Remuneration and Nomination Committees of
UBA Investments Limited (a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, Stock code: 0768).

Mr. Chan is a standing member and convenor of Hong Kong members
of the Political Consultative Conference of Yunfu City, Guangdong since
2011, a standing member of the Guangdong’s Association for Promotion
of Cooperation between Guangdong, Hong Kong & Macao since 2009,
a member of the China Overseas Friendship Association since 2019,
a member of Friends of Hong Kong Association 2019, a joint convenor
of Hong Kong Coalition since 2020 and the secretary general of the
China Hong Kong and Macao Boundary Crossing Bus Association since
2004. Previously, Mr. Chan was appointed as a member of the Board of
Review (Inland Revenue Ordinance) of the HKSAR from 2009 to 2011,

Mr. Chan graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic (currently known
as the Hong Kong Polytechnic University) in 1989 with a professional
diploma in Business Studies (Banking) and graduated from Monash
University in Australia with master degrees in Practising Accounting and
Business Law, in 2000 and 2006 respectively.

He is a member and fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants since 2002 and 2014, respectively; a member and
fellow of CPA Australia since 2001 and 2014. respectively, the certified
membership of the Institute of Certified Management Accountants
(Australia) since 2003, a fellow of The Chartered Governance Institute
since 2001 (and has subsequently received the designations of
“Chartered Secretary” and “Chartered Governance Professional” in
2018), a fellow of The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries
since 2001, a fellow of The Hong Kong Institute of Directors since
2002, an ordinary member of the Hong Kong Securities and Investment
Institute since 2015, a member of Chartered Institute of Logistics and
Transport in Hong Kong since 2000. Mr. Chan is also a member of the
Chartered Bankers Institute, the United Kingdom since 2014. with a
designation of “Chartered Banker” and a “Certified Banker” of the Hong
Kong Institute of Bankers, since 2003 and 2018 respectively.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Chan does not hold directorship in any
other listed public companies in Hong Kong or overseas during the past
three years and he does not hold any other position with the Company
and other members of the Group.
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Mr. POON Kai Tik (“Mr. Poon”), aged 69, is an independent
non-executive Director, member of the Audit Committee, Chairman
of the Remuneration Committee and Chairman of the Nomination
Committee of the Company. Mr. Poon graduated from the University
of Hong Kong with a Bachelor Degree in Arts and a Master's Degree
in Business Administration from the Chinese University of Hong Kong.
Having more than 40 years of working experience, Mr. Poon is well
respected across industries, ranging from advertising, marketing
to public relations. He previously served as Head of Corporate
Communications of the Hospital Authority, assistant director of
Corporate and Community Relations of the Housing Authority and
director of Government and Community Engagement of the Link Real
Estate Investment Trust (Stock code: 0823). Save as disclosed above,
Mr. Poon does not hold directorship in any listed public companies in
Hong Kong or overseas during the past three years and he does not
hold any other position with the Company and other members of the
Group.

Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan (“Mr. Hui"), aged 43, is an independent
non-executive Director, member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Hui
holds Master degree in Practising Accounting, Master degree in
Applied Finance and a Bachelor degree in Business (Banking &
Finance) from Monash University, Australia. He is also a member of
CPA Australia. Mr. Hui has over 16 years of working experience in
auditing, accounting, financial management and corporate finance.
He is currently an independent non-executive director of Zhejiang
United Investment Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8366) since 21
October 2021 and Elegance Optical International Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 907). He was also an independent non-executive director
of Prime Intelligence Solutions Group Limited (Stock Code: 8379)
during the period from 18 January 2018 to 15 December 2021. Save
as disclosed above, Mr. Hui does not hold directorship in any listed
public companies in Hong Kong or overseas during the past three years
and he does not hold any other position with the Company and other
members of the Group.

Company Secretary

Ms. CHENG Lai Kei, aged 54, is the company secretary and the
authorised representative of the Company. Ms. Cheng Lai Kei holds a
Master of Corporate Governance degree from Hong Kong Metropolitan
University. She is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Chartered Secretaries. Ms. Cheng Lai Kei has years of experience in
accounting and company secretarial practice.
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The Board is pleased to present its report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in securities broking, futures
broking, securities margin financing, money lending, corporate finance
advisory, assets management, precious metal trading and properties
investment.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business and the prospect of the Company and a
discussion and analysis of the Group’s performance during the year
and the material factors underlying its results and financial position
are provided in the section “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” from pages 5 to 9 and pages 10 to 13 of this
annual report respectively. These discussion form part of this director’s
report. Description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Company can be found throughout this annual report particularly in note
28 and note 29 to the consolidated financial statements. Environmental
policies and performance are discussed in the “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” from pages 48 to 77 of this annual report.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Details of segment information by principal businesses and
geographical locations are set out in note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATE

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries and associate at 31 March
2022 are set out in note 34 and note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

RESULTS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 are set out
in the consolidated income statement on page 86.

DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a final dividend
of HK2.0 cents per ordinary share in respect of the year to the
shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of the
Company on 9 September 2022.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital of the Company are set out in

note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out below. This summary does not

form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
E 2288 &

IR AR

EBERRARAZ BEBFIEHARRE W HREM
27 -

BEHE
UTAREERBEREAGTRERE 2 2ENEE
HEBEZHE - BV IECEZGATBRE
25 o

During the year ended 31 March,
BEZA=1T-HLFE

(In HK$'000) (U FHETAEN) 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
ZEIZf - ZEZTF ZFE-NF ZT-)NF
Revenue & 127,011 119,221 174,831 191,589 124,642
Profit before taxation %5 5% A 97,450 57,349 62,273 290,588 165,504
Income tax expenses FreHiHx (10,457) (11,161) (15,872) (28,039) (1,921)
Profit for the year attributable N/NSE RNl
to owners of the Company F Wg Al 87,036 46,227 47,738 254,624 163,603
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEHEE
As at 31 March,
R=ZB=+—8H
(In HK$'000) (U FHETHBEN) 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—EBf T ZTZTF ZFT-NF ZT-NF
Total assets BEERAE 3,292,975 3,468,281 3,238,239 2,903,628 2,713,372
Total liabilities BEBE (574,474)  (812,488)  (605,148)  (260,762)  (222,205)
Net assets EEFAE 2,718,501 2,655,793 2,633,091 2,642,866 2,491,167
RESERVES =25

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the
year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity and

note 32 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company’s reserves available for distribution represent the share
premium, contributed surplus, retained profits and proposed dividend
under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The share premium
of the Company is available for paying dividend to shareholders subject
to the provisions of its Memorandum and Articles of Association and
provided that immediately following the distribution of dividend the
Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course
of business. In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association,
dividends can be distributed out of the share premium, contributed
surplus, retained profits and proposed dividend of the Company which
in aggregate amounted to approximately HK$370.0 million as at 31
March 2022 (2021: HK$343.6 million).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INVESTMENT
PROPERTIES

The Group’s investment properties were revalued at 31 March 2022,
resulting an increase in net fair value amounting to approximately
HK$21.0 million (2021: net decrease in fair value approximately
HK$40.9 million) which has been recognised in the consolidated income
statement.

Details of these and other movements during the year in the property,
plant and equipment and investment properties are set out in notes 14
and 15 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

BORROWINGS

Borrowings repayable within one year or on demand are classified as
current liabilities. A repayment analysis of borrowings is set out in note
23 to the consolidated financial statements. No interest was capitalised
by the Group during the year.

MAJOR CLIENTS AND SUPPLIERS
For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group’s five largest clients
accounted for in aggregate approximately 38% (2021: 32%) of the
Group’s revenue, of which one customer has contributed over 10% of
the total revenue of the Group (2021: one customer has contributed over
10% of the total revenue of the Group).

The Group had no major suppliers due to the nature of the principal
activities of the Group.

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any shareholder of
the Company which to the knowledge of the Directors of the Company
owned more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital have an
interest in the Group’s five largest clients.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (X &£ E 4 WA A)
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DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report were:

Non-executive directors
Mr. IP Man Tin, David (Chairman)
Dr. SZE Ping Fat

Executive directors
Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie
Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew
Mr. MOK Kwai Hang

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan

Mr. POON Kai Tik

Mr. HUI Man Ho, lvan

Brief biographical details in respect of the directors are set out in the
“Biography of directors and senior management” from pages 14 to 17 of
this annual report.

In accordance with Articles 116 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Dr. SZE Ping Fat, Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie and
Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan shall retire by rotation from office at
the AGM. Two of the above retiring directors, Dr. SZE Ping Fat and
Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie being eligible, offers themselves for
re-election at the AGM. The other retiring director, Mr. CHAN Chung
Yee, Alan, will not seek for re-election at the AGM and will retire as an
Independent non-executive Director after the conclusion of the AGM.

The term of office of each of the independent non-executive Directors
lasts until his retirement by rotation as required by the Company’s
Articles of Association.

The Company received confirmation of independence in respect of the
year ended 31 March 2022 from each of the independent non-executive
Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Revised Listing Rules. Up to
and as at the date of this report, the Company still considers the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
No equity-linked agreements were entered into during the year or
subsisted at the end of the year.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out in Hong Kong and
accordingly shall comply with material relevant laws and regulations
in Hong Kong. During the year and up to the date of this report,
the Company has complied with all the material relevant laws and
regulations in Hong Kong.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Article 179 of Articles of Association of the Company provides that
every Director shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of
the Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by
him/her as a Director or other officer of the Company in defending
any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is given
in his/her favour, or in which he is acquitted. Subject to the Cayman
companies law, if any Director or other person shall become personally
liable for the payment of any sum primarily due from the Company, the
Board may execute or cause to be executed any mortgage, charge,
or security over or affecting the whole or any part of the assets of the
Company by way of indemnity to secure the Director or person so
becoming liable as aforesaid from any loss in respect of such liability.

In addition, the Company has taken out and maintained directors’
and officers’ liability insurance throughout the year, which provides
appropriate cover the certain legal actions brought against its directors
and officers.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is committed to building an eco-friendly corporation that
tries to reduce the impacts of its operation on the environment, and to
ensure our compliance of prevailing environmental protection laws and
regulations. For details, please refer to the “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” contained in this annual report.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The Group continues to ride on 6 key pillars on the six business
streams, being (i) Brokerage (securities and futures), (ii) Financing, (iii)
Corporate Financial Advisory, (iv) Assets Management, (v) Properties
Investment and (vi) Precious Metal Trading.

Yet there is no major customers or suppliers involved in the operation
of business, we maintain good working relationship with them to create
value for the Group. The Group also values the knowledge and skills of
its employees, and continues to provide favourable career development
opportunities for its employees.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM has a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
which is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save for the contracts described under the section headed “Connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions” below, no
contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which any
Director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the

year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED
CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2022, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which are required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO) or which are required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to
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be entered in the register referred to therein, or which are required, BZERE T ARESETEST HHIZESTH|
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of 7 REME RN N A KB AT -
Listed Issuers to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
were as follows:
Number of shares
k¥R

Personal

interests Family

(held as interests Percentage

heneficial (interest Corporate Other of issued
Name of Director owner) of spouse) interests interests Total  share capital

AR E] 4o BE{]
3.2 (REREEA) (BREER) EEER EfpgR @t REEDL
Ordinary Shares of HK$0.01 each AL AEREE.01ETZ

in the Company LER

CHENG Wi Ling, Annig (Note 1) BER (W) - - 1,992,721,496 - 1992721496 74.29%
CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew (Note 1) BIfg (#é21) - - 1992,721,496 - 1,092,721,496 74.29%
MOK Kwai Hang (Note 2) RE@ W) 1,200,000 1394,190 - - 2,594,190 0.10%
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Note 1: As at 31 March 2022, CCAA Group Limited (“CCAA”), an associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) of the Company,
was directly interested in 1,992,721,496 shares in, representing
approximately 74.29% of, the issued share capital of the Company.
Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew, Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie and their
family members are the beneficiaries of the trust which assets include
interests in the entire issued share capital of CCAA and accordingly,
they are deemed to be interested in 1,992,721,496 shares and the entire
issued share capital of CCAA under the SFO.

Note 2: As at 31 March 2022, Mr. MOK Kwai Hang, an executive Director of the
Company with his spouse together have beneficial interest in 2,594,190
shares of the Company.

At no time during the year was the Company, its subsidiaries or its
associate a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors or
executives of the Company (including their spouse and children under
18 years of age) to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition in
shares or debentures of the Company or its associate.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, none of the Directors
or the chief executive of the Company had any interest or short position
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which are required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO) or which are required, pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO to be entered in the register referred to therein,
or which are required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
At no time during the year was the Company, its ultimate holding
company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable
the Directors or chief executives of the Company or their respective
spouse or children under the age of 18 to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debt securities (including debentures) of,
the Company or any other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER’S INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 March 2022, the following persons or corporations, interest in
5% or more in the shares and underlying shares of the Company have
been notified to the Company and recorded in the register of substantial
shareholders’ interests in shares and short positions required to be kept
under Section 336 of Part XV of the SFO:

Number of shareholder

Number of shares held

E 5 g 8 &

ITERRNRARA 2RO RABRD 2 EE
RxR

RZZEZZF=A=1+—H " TIATHEEH
EBHARRBIR AR 85%A £ 2 B
RKRMAMEARAR  WAREBESRBER
BIEXVERE336IEMEL BN EERRE LM :

Percentage of
total number of
shares in issued

BREE FEERERRE HERTROBED L
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each RAREBREEOIELZ

in the Company EBR
CCAA (Note) CCAA (f17%) 1,992,721,496 74.29%

Note: ldentical to those disclosed above as “Directors’ and chief executives’
interests and short positions in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any associated corporation”.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, the Directors are not
aware of any other persons who have interests or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares of equity derivatives or debentures of the
Company or any associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) which would be required to be disclosed to the Company
pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
The Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at general
meeting. Other emoluments are determined by the Board with reference
to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of
the Group. In addition, the Directors’ remuneration is reviewed by the
Remuneration Committee annually.

REPURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

Other than as an agent for clients of the Company or its subsidiaries,
neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries repurchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company'’s listed securities during the year ended
31 March 2022.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the connected transactions and continuing connected
transactions undertaken by the Group are included in the transactions
set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements, certain
details of which are disclosed in compliance with the requirements of
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions in note 30 to
the consolidated financial statements and have confirmed that the
connected transactions and continuing connected transactions have
been entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business
of the Group; (ii) on normal commercial terms or on terms no less
favourable to the Group than terms available to or from (as appropriate)
independent third parties; and (iii) in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and
in the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The auditors of the Company have reviewed the continuing connected
transactions during the year as set out in note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements and confirmed that these transactions:

(i) were approved by the Board of Directors of the Company;

(i) where applicable, were in accordance with the pricing policies of
the Company;

(iii) had been entered into in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing the transactions; and

(iv) have not exceeded the caps stated in the relevant announcement.

As disclosed in the joint announcement of the Company and UBA
Investments Limited (“UBA”, together with its subsidiaries as the “UBA
Group”) dated 26 January 2022, various members of the Group entered
into certain conditional agreements with the UBA Group, which would
constitute continuing connected transactions (the “CCT") on the part of
the Group for the years ending 31 March 2023, 2024 and 2025.
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CONFIRMATION FOR CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

A letter pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules has been issued
to the Board by the auditors of the Company confirming the matters
stated in Rule 14A.56 in respect of the above continuing connected
transactions for management agreement.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the year.

PENSION SCHEME

The Group has operated a pension scheme under the rules and
regulations of the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (the
“MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets
of the MPF Scheme are held separately in an independently managed
fund. The Group has followed the minimum statutory contribution
requirements of 5% of eligible employees’ relevant aggregate income.
The contributions, amounting HK$444,000 (2021: HK$453,000), are
charged to the consolidated income statement as incurred.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders under the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of
Association and the Companies Laws of the Cayman Islands.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an Audit Committee according to “A
Guide for the Formation of an Audit Committee” published by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The primary duties of
the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the financial reporting
process and internal control system of the Group.

As at 31 March 2022, the Audit Committee of the Group is comprised
of three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. CHAN Chung
Yee, Alan, Mr. POON Kai Tik and Mr. HUI Man Ho, lvan. Two of them
have appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise as prescribed by the Listing Rules. The
main duties of the Audit Committee include the review of the relationship
with external auditors of the Company, review of financial information of
the Group and oversight of the Group’s financial reporting system and
internal control procedures.

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Listing Rules have been amended by the Stock Exchange by
replacing the Code of Best Practice in Appendix 14 by a new Code
on Corporate Governance Practices (“CG Code”) and adding a new
Appendix 23 on the requirements for a Corporate Governance Report to
be included in annual reports of Listed Issuers.

Pursuant to code provisions A.4.1 in respect of the service term of
directors, none of the existing non-executive Directors (including
independent non-executive Directors) is appointed for a specific term.
This constitutes a deviation from code provision A.4.1 of the Code.
However, all the Directors are subject to the retirement provisions under
article 116 of the Articles of Association of the Company. As such,
the Company considers that sufficient measures have been taken to
ensure that the Company’s corporate governance practices are no less
exacting than those in the Code.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors by Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules. Upon enquiry by the Company, all Directors
have confirmed that they have complied with the required standards set
out in the Model Code throughout the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

As at 31 March 2022, none of the Directors and their associates had
any interests in an entity whose business competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Company’s business.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the percentage of the
Company’s shares which are in the hands of the public is not less than
25% of the Company'’s total number of issued shares.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance principles and practices are
set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 30 to 47 of this
Annual Report.

AUDITORS

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited has resigned with effect from 23
March 2022 as the auditor of the Company. Asian Alliance (HK) CPA
Limited has been appointed as the auditor of the Company with effect
from 23 March 2022 to fill the vacancy immediately arising from the
resignation of HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited and to hold office
until the conclusion of the forthcoming AGM of the Company. For
details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 23 March
2022.

Asian Alliance (H
reappointment as auditors of the Company will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

K) CPA Limited will retire and a resolution for their

On behalf of the Board

Mr. IP Man Tin, David
Chairman and Non-executive Director

Hong Kong, 24 June 2022
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The Board of Directors of the Upbest Group Limited (the “Company”)
(the “Board”) is committed to maintain high standard of corporate
governance practices, which are crucial to the smooth, effective
and transparent operation of the Company and its ability to attract
investment, protect rights of shareholders and stakeholders, and
enhance shareholder value.

Corporate Governance Practices

This report describes the Company’s corporate governance practices
and structures that were in place during the financial year ended 31
March 2022, with specific reference to the principles and guidelines
of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in
Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) issued by The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). In developing and
reviewing its corporate governance policies and practices, the
Company has sought to adopt a balanced approach.

Compliance with Corporate Governance Code

The Company complied with the code provisions as set out in the
Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules throughout year ended 31 March 2022, except for the following:

Code Provision A.4.1

Pursuant to code provisions A.4.1 in respect of the service term of
directors, none of the existing non-executive Directors (including
independent non-executive Directors) is appointed for a specific term.
This constitutes a deviation from code provision A.4.1 of the Code.
However, all the Directors are subject to the retirement provisions under
article 116 of the Articles of Association of the Company. As such,
the Company considers that sufficient measures have been taken to
ensure that the Company’s corporate governance practices are no less
exacting than those in the Code.

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules as the codes of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors. All Directors have confirmed, following
specific enquiry by the Company, that they fully complied with the
Model Code throughout the year.

The Company has also established written guidelines regarding
securities transaction on no less exacting terms of the Model Code for
senior management and specific individual who may have access to
price sensitive information in relation to the securities of the Company.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (X &£ E 4 WA A)

XEEEERAR (A2 EFS([EF8))
RN#ERRKIFZEEERTR HAREF
B BUNABHAEZZERRSIRE  RER
REESHAAZEGARRITIRREBE R

BRRER -

TEER

TREDRBARERZMBRAT ([HFT])
FHEmRAC ETHRRD) M8+ M 2 0
EERFA(TEERTA 2R RIE5I
FEARAR T _F=A=+—HLEVEF
ERETZEEERTHRREE - TR T s
TEERARRRERR KA CRERNTE
ZHE

BFhEERTH
REE-_Z-—FZA=Z1+—HILFEA BN
THERSN » AR RIS B LT B8+ AT
R EERTRE TR

FBIE T EALTE
RIEZTZ FRIEXEALUE  REERE
FHmE BABZENTES (REBIERT
EE)VESTAE  HIREBZTZTAEY
BALAE - AT 2EAGESBETARRE
BERMBIE1161E 2 BEB Bt - KA
RATHREMEN  WRRAATZ ALEA
ERATBRZTFEE -

ERETRSRG2BETEH

ARABCHRM ETRAME+AEZ LHETA
EFETESFRINEETA(HFETA))
EREFENTEFR G ZIETIES - ARRIER
FRESFHBTERNRER  ZRERFABE
HETRETAZHTE

ARANERBRERERTLEENEBEL
ABH 2 BERBERZBEA LT TARES
252 BEEG  HIEEBET AT
GE



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Corporate Governance Structure

With the assistance of the Compliance Department, the Board has
designed a proper corporate governance structure. Currently, there
are seven board committees, including Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee, Nomination Committee, Credit Committee, Executive
Committee, Compliance and Risk Steering Committee and Strategy
Management Committee. Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee
and Nomination Committee perform their distinct roles in accordance
with their respective terms of reference. Executive Committee assists
the Group to set up business strategy and planning, and Credit
Committee oversees the granting of credit facilities. Compliance
and Risk Steering Committee maintains and promotes the fairness,
efficiency, competitiveness transparency and orderliness of the
Group’s business. Strategy Management Committee aims to review and
formulate the Group’s operations and business activities development.

Board Composition, Function and Practices

As at 31 March 2022, the Board comprises of the chairman
(non-executive Director), one non-executive Director, three executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors. Mr. IP Man
Tin, David acts as chairman (“Chairman”) and non-executive Director of
the Board. Dr. SZE Ping Fat is a non-executive Director. Other executive
Directors are Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie, Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew
and Mr. MOK Kwai Hang. There are three independent non-executive
Directors, Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan, Mr. POON Kai Tik and Mr. HUI
Man Ho. Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan and Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan have
appropriate professional accounting experience and expertise. All
Directors are subject to election by shareholders at the first General
Meeting after their appointment and are subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years and eligible for re-election in
accordance with the Company’s Articles and Association.

All Directors have distinguished themselves in their field of expertise,
and have exhibited high standard of personal and professional ethics
and integrity. The biographical details of each Director and senior
management are disclosed in pages 14 to 17 of this Annual Report.

Each independent non-executive Director has pursuant to the rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules, confirmed that he is independent of the Company
and the Company also considers that they are independent.

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family or other
material relationship) among members of the Board except that
Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew is the brother of Ms. CHENG Wai Ling,
Annie.
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The Board, headed by the Chairman, is responsible for formulation
and approval of the Group’s development and business strategies and
policies, approval of annual budgets and business plans, overseeing
the Group’s compliance with statutory and regulatory obligations,
scrutinising the performance of the Group in achieving agreed
corporate goals and objectives, financial reporting and ensuring
proper internal control, risk management have been implemented,
recommendation of dividend, and supervision of management in
accordance with the rules governing the meeting of the Board, articles
of association and rules governing the meeting of shareholders.

The executive Directors are responsible for day-to-day management
of the Company’s operations. They conduct regular meetings with the
senior management of the Company and its subsidiaries and associate,
at which operational issues and financial performance are evaluated.

Regular Board meetings are held no less than four times a year. Apart
from the regular Board meetings, the Chairman shall hold meetings
with the non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors) without the presence of executive Directors at least once
every year.

In respect of regular Board meetings, an agenda and accompanying
board papers are sent in full to all Directors in a timely manner and
at least three days before the intended date of a Board or board
committee meeting. Adequate information related to the issues are
also supplied for the Board and its committee to make decisions which
is for the best interests of the Group. Notice of at least fourteen days
are given to all Directors and all Directors have an opportunity to
attend. The Directors who cannot attend in person might through other
electronic means of communications to participate. Senior management
executives may, from time to time, be invited to attend the Board
meeting for making presentation and/or answering any queries that may
be raised by the Board.

The non-executive Directors would seek guidance and direction from
the Chairman, Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ”) and executive Directors
on the future business direction and strategic plans in order to gain
a comprehensive understanding of the business of the Company to
facilitate their exercise of independent judgment. The non-executive
Directors also reviewed the financial information and operational
performance of the Group on a regular basis.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (X &£ E 4 WA A)
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Board Diversity Policy

the Board adopted the board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) with a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced
development of the Company. The Company views the increasing board
diversity as an essential element in supporting the attainment of its
strategic objectives and its sustainable development. In determining
the composition of the Board, a number of aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service are
taken into account in respect of the diversity of the Board. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy and candidates will be
selected based on objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits
of diversity of the Board. Final decisions to be made by the Board will
be based on each candidate’s attributes and contributions to be made
to the Board.

The Nomination Committee has responsibilities to identify individuals
suitably qualified to become Board members and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated
for directorships and on relevant matters relating to the appointment
or re-appointment of directors and succession planning for directors,
in particular the chairman and the chief executive officer, taking
into account the Company’s corporate strategy and the skills mix,
knowledge, experience and diversity needed in the future.

The Nomination Committee will also review the Board diversity policy,
as appropriate and review the measurable objectives that the Board has
set for implementing the Board diversity policy, and the progress on
achieving the objectives.

The following tables further illustrate the diversity of the Board members
as at 31 March 2022:
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Gender Age Group Professional Experience
i3] ERap EXER
Property
Investment
Business  Accounting Law and and
Male Female 40to 60 60 orabove Management and Finance Litigation Development
BHERER
Name of Directors E2fg B gt AEZ60E  e0mElE  EREE eMRME  REEmR ¥R
Mr. IP Man Tin, David (Chairman) EeXik(1E) / / /
Dr. SZE Ping Fat ERERT / / / /
Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie BER)E / / / / /
Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew JEREE / / v /
Mr. MOK Kwai Hang BRfRE / / / /
Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan RRELE / / / /
Mr. POON Ka Tik BRHELE / / /
Mr. HUI Man Ho, lvan HEE / / /
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Dividend Policy

The Company may declare and distribute dividend to the shareholders,
provided that the Group records a profit after tax and that the
declaration and distribution of dividend does not affect the normal
operations of the Group.

In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the
dividend amount the Board shall take into account, inter alia:

the general financial condition of the Group:

- capital and debt level of the Group;

- future cash requirements and availability for business operations,
business strategies and future development needs;

- the general market conditions;

- any restrictions on payment of dividend that may be imposed by
the Group’s lenders; and

- any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.
The payment of the dividend by the Company is also subject to any

restrictions under the Company Law of the Cayman Islands and Articles
of Association of the Company.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (X &£ E 4 WA A)
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Proceedings of the Board and Respective Board Committees
Meetings

The Company Secretary will assist the chairman of the Board and the
respective board committees in setting agenda for meetings, and each
Director is given an opportunity to include any matters to be transacted
in the agenda. Where any Director is considered to be having a conflict
of interest in any transactions, the Director concerned will not be
counted in the quorum of the relevant meeting.

Minutes of meetings of the Board and the respective board committees
are recorded in details. All draft minutes are circulated to all those
present at the meetings for comment before submission to the chairman
of the meetings for approval.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2022, the Board held 8 Board
meetings. Due notice and Board papers were given to all Directors
prior to the meeting in accordance with the Company’s articles of
association and the CG Code. Each individual member of the Board
and the respective Board committee at the Board and the respective
board committee meeting(s) held during the year and attendance of the
individual Directors are as follows:
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Attendance/Number of Meetings held

LERR/ BEEEAY
Audit Remuneration Nomination Annual

Board Committee Committee Committee General
Name of Directors Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting

B58 %&éaﬁ GHMzEE R2ZEE RE
EEpg ] ] ] ] BEXE
Total number of meetings By 8 3 1 1 1
Non-executive Directors ¥HITES
Mr. IP Man Tin, David (Chairman) ERREE(ZE) 8 NA T ER N/A MR N/A M 1
Dr. SZE Ping Fat EmEET 8 NA TiER N/A M N/A M 1
Executive Directors YiTES
Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie gEn /M 8 NA TiER 1 1 1
Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew ey ok 8 NA TiER NA TiER N/A 1
Mr. MOK Kwai Hang BRERL 8 N/A NER N/A NER N/A NER 1
Independent Non-executive Directors ~ BUFHTES
Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan RR&LE 8 3 1 1 1
Mr. POON Kai Tik ARBLE 8 3 1 1 1
Mr. HUI Man Ho, lvan FERE 8 3 1 1 1
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Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

To ensure Directors’ contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant, the Company encourages Directors to participate in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills and understanding of the business and markets
in which the Group operates. Directors are also provided with monthly
performance and position updates of the Group, and information such
as performance and key operational highlights to enable the Board
as a whole as well as each Director to discharge their duties. For the
financial year ended 31 March 2022, all Directors have participated
in appropriate continuous professional development and provided the
Company with their records of training. A summary of training records
provided by the current Directors is as follows:

Reading articles, newspapers,
journal and/or updates

EEOREBEEXRR
RERESEABEZAEARIAMEZENR
THERRELER  FARAARBEE2EHE
EXRRE UBRIEHRI2ME - Ry
AEBEEEZEBRMGER  WAEFRM
AEEBAZEERMBRARZENRER - K
MEEREESHETEN FEFREBREE
EORBRIREZBE - NBE-_Z-"%=A
ST-RUSE MAEFHE2EAEZRHE
BEXHRE WERARRRERSFEIEIZL
B o BERREHE BN DM ELT -

Attending trainings
and/or seminars
MEXE ®E -

Name of Directors EEHR WK,/ SRBHEN LEESIRHHEAS
Non-executive Directors FHITES

Mr. IP Man Tin, David (Chairman) ERgRhE(TE) v 4
Dr. SZE Ping Fat WA E T v v/
Executive Directors HITES

Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie BE¥% /A v v
Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew EEfMmLE v 4
Mr. MOK Kwai Hang SEEiE v 4
Independent non-executive Directors B FEHITES

Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan PR R ST A v v/
Mr. POON Kai Tik B B S A 4 4
Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan B @ v v

Company secretary

Company secretary is to ensure there is good information flow within
the Board and between the Board and senior management, provides
advice to the Board in relation to directors’ obligations under the Listing
Rules and applicable laws and regulations and assists the Board in
implementing the corporate governance practices. Company secretary
has provided his training records to the Company indicating his
compliance with the training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules.

Independent Professional Advice

The Company has set up a procedure agreed by the Board for its
Directors to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, and at the Company’s expense to discharge their duties
to the Company.
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Chairman and Management

The roles of the Chairman is separated from that of the CEO and their
responsibilities are clearly established. The Chairman and CEO of the
Company are Mr. IP Man Tin, David and Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie
respectively. The Chairman is responsible for providing leadership to
the Board to ensure the Board will act in the best interests of the Group.

The CEO will work with executive committee (including head of each
department) and other executive Directors to manage the businesses
of the Group. The CEO is responsible for the day-to-day management
of the business of the Group, attends to formulation and successful
implementation of policies, and assumes full accountability to the Board
for all operations of the Group.

Two of the independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. CHAN
Chung Yee, Alan and Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan have the appropriate
professional accounting experiences and expertise. The Board
membership is covered by professionally qualified and widely
experienced personnel so as to bringing in valuable contribution and
different professional advices and consultancy for the development of
the Company. Over one-half of the Board members have recognised
legal, professional securities and/or accounting qualifications.

In the course of discharging their duties, the Directors act in good faith,
with due diligence and care, and in the best interests of the Company
and its shareholders. Their responsibilities include:

- regular Board meetings focusing on business strategy, operational
issues and financial performance;

- active participation on the boards of subsidiaries and associate;
- approval of annual budgets for each operating company covering
strategy, financial and business performance, key risks and

opportunities;

- monitoring the quality, timeliness, relevance and reliability of
internal and external reporting;

- reviewing of the compliance with the CG Code;
- monitoring and managing potential conflicts of interest of

management, Board members and shareholders, including misuse
of corporate assets and abuse in related party transaction;

&t % B A ® &
IRREEE
IRETBREZACEARS  REZBED

BHEATE AARZEFERITRAR DRI REER
AREERBEEL/ VA - TFEAEREEES - i
REFEUAREZHRENGTS -

THREGENTZES (BRSHMEE) X
HWHTEZAEEEAREZER - (TREH
BEAREEBZARERE BERKZHER
RNETT URARE—JEEHESTERESE
%BFEE]EEE\EHE °

MABLIFRITEERRERERFOELED
ABEECEXSTEBRREXNB -EFEK
EERARERERNEERR AL  EUR
ARBEREEZER  URBARRZ HRE
HEREXFARER B FEFGNEHA
ER RUEEESRRGHER -

ERTRECBET EFEWAM  BEME
EH - RUARARERRNEENGETE - H
EEBHE:

- THEAHESESZ FIREHRE-
EEEERMBRRE

- BH2HNBARRBENRZESS
- ABREELTENAFEE  RERRE -

FHREBRE TERRLES

- EBEEABRIINSHRECRE -ERE-M
BEME R Rl SE N

- ERLEREEE EFeNEERRZ
MAgHRZAaER  ARERALKE
E&%%%%Ex%’

Annual Report 2022 AEH

37



338

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

it ¥ & B ® &

- ensuring processes are in place to maintain the overall integrity
of the Company, including financial statements, relationships with
suppliers, customers and other stakeholders, and compliance with
all laws and ethics; and

- reviewing of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Company through the Audit Committee.

To enable the Company’s Directors to meet their obligations, an
appropriate organizational structure is in place with clearly defined
responsibilities and limits of authority.

Board Committees

A number of Board Committees, including Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee, Credit Committee,
Executive Committee, Compliance and Risk Steering Committee
and Strategy Management Committee have been established by the
Board to strengthen its functions and to enhance its expertise. These
committees have been formed with specific written terms of reference
which deal clearly with the committees authority and duties.

Audit Committee

The Company has established an Audit Committee according to “A
Guide for the Formation of an Audit Committee” published by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. In accordance
with the requirements of the CG Code, the terms of reference of the
Audit Committee was revised and approved on 18 July 2005 and 16
March 2012 to comply with the provisions set out in the CG Code. The
primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the
financial reporting system and internal control procedures, review of
the relationship with the auditors and financial information of the Group.
The revised terms of reference, explaining its role and the authority
delegated to it by the Board are available for inspection on request at
the Company'’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.

As at 31 March 2022, the Audit Committee of the Company is comprised
of three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. CHAN Chung
Yee, Alan, Mr. POON Kai Tik and Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan. It is chaired by
Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan. It reports directly to the Board and reviews
matters within the scope of audit, such as financial statements and
internal controls, to protect the interests of the Company’s shareholders.

The Audit Committee meets regularly with the Company’s external
auditors to discuss audit process and accounting issues, and reviews
effectiveness of internal controls and risk evaluation. Written terms
of reference, which describes the authority and duties of the Audit
Committee are regularly reviewed and updated by the Board.
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Set out below is the summary of work done in financial year 2022:

to review the interim financial report and annual financial
statements;

- to review effectiveness of the internal control system, financial
controls and risk management system;

- toreview auditors’ statutory audit plan and letters of representation;

- to consider and approve audit fees and audit work;

- ensure that the internal audit function is adequately resourced and
has appropriate standing within the Company;

- toreview of continuing connected transactions and annual cap;

- review of the internal audit review reports prepared by the internal
audit function and discuss the risk management and internal
control issues of the Group;

- review of the 2022 internal audit plan; and

- review of the updated reports on substantiation of the resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions and their training
programmes and budget, with a recommendation to the Board for
approval.

The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board that Asian Alliance
(HK) CPA, be nominated for re-appointment as external auditors of the
Company at the forthcoming AGM of the Company.

The Audit Committee held 3 meetings during the year. Details of
individual attendance of its members are set out in the table above.

Remuneration Committee

As at 31 March 2022, the Remuneration Committee is comprised of
independent non-executive Directors Mr. POON Kai Tik, Mr. CHAN
Chung Yee, Alan and Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan and an executive Director,
Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie. Mr. POON Kai Tik is appointed as
chairman of the Remuneration Committee. The Committee shall meet not
less than once every year. The terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee have been reviewed with reference to the CG Code.
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The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are to
review and consider the Company’s policy for remuneration of Directors
and senior management, to determine remuneration packages of
executive Directors and senior management including benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments, and to recommend to
the Board remuneration of non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors. Set out below is the summary of work of the
Remuneration Committee done in financial year 2022:

to review the remuneration policy for the financial year 2022;

to review the terms of reference of remuneration of committee;

to review the policy for the remuneration of the Directors; and

to review the annual share option policy (if any).

The Remuneration Committee held 1 meeting during the financial year
ended 31 March 2022. Details of individual attendance of its members
are set out in the table above.

Nomination Committee

The Board has established a Nomination Committee on 21 March
2012 comprising one executive Director, Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie
and three independent non-executive Directors, Mr. POON Kai Tik,
Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan and Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan. It is chaired by
Mr. POON Kai Tik. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee,
which is available on the Company’'s website, set out details of the
Committee’s duties, powers and functions, nomination procedures and
the process and criteria adopted for selection and recommendation of
candidates for directorship of the Company, summary of which in the
financial year 2022 is set out below:

- to determine the policy for the nomination of Directors;

- to review and recommend the implementation of the Board
Diversity Policy;

- toreview the size and composition (including the skills, knowledge
and experience and length of service) of the Board annually; and
making recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed
changes to implement the Company’s corporate strategy;
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- toidentify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members
and select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection
of individuals nominated for directorships;

- to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors; and

- to make recommendations to the Board on the relevant matters
relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors.

The Nomination Committee held 1 meeting during the financial year
ended 31 March 2022. Details of individual attendance of its members
are set out in the table above.

Nomination Policy

The Nomination Committee shall nominate suitable candidates to the
Board for it to consider to appoint as director to fill casual vacancies
and consider of directors to be re-appointed at an annual general
meeting.

The factors listed below would be used as reference by the Nomination
Committee in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate:

-  Reputation for integrity;

- Accomplishment and experience in the relevant industries in
which the Company’s business is involved and other professional
qualifications;

- Commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest; and

- Diversity in all aspects including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, experience (professional or
otherwise), skills, knowledge and length of service.

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be exhaustive
and decisive. The Nomination Committee has the discretion to nominate
any person, as it considers appropriate.

Proposed candidates will be asked to submit the necessary personal
information in a prescribed form, together with their written consent to
be appointed as a director and to the public disclosure of their personal
data on any documents or the relevant websites for the purpose of or in
relation to their standing for election as a director.
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Credit Committee

A Credit Committee comprises two executive Directors and
other members responsible for overseeing the granting of credit
facilities. Daily operation of money lending will be guided by the
stringent procedures as prescribed by the internal control manual. The
Committee meets weekly and ad-hoc meetings will be held when market
and economic conditions changes significantly.

Executive Committee

The Committee comprises the CEO and the heads of each departments
of the Group. The Committee manages the day-to-day business of the
Group and meets regularly to resolve problems, makes decisions on
business matters to achieve corporate goals and objectives.

Compliance and Risk Steering Committee

The Group has established a Compliance and Risk Steering Committee
headed by the Compliance Officer. The objectives of the Compliance
and Risk Steering Committee are to:

- maintain and promote the fairness, efficiency, competitiveness
transparency and orderliness of the Group’s business;

- promote understanding by the staff members of the operation and
functioning of the Group’s business;

- provide appropriate protection for the Group’s clients; and
- prevent crime and misconduct in the Group’s business.

The Compliance and Risk Steering Committee meets regularly to
discuss any current compliance issue and enhance the Group’s
practice and relevant compliance issue if necessary. It is believed that
better and balanced corporate governance environment will help to
enhance the Group’s expanding process which in turn translates into
shareholder value in the future.

Strategy Management Committee

The Group has established a Strategy Management Committee headed
by an executive Director. The Strategy Management Committee meeting
is held on a regular basis. The objectives of the Strategy Management
Committee include:

- formulation of medium and long-term strategies of the Group;

- review of operations and business activities of the Group; and

- making recommendations to improve operational efficiencies.
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Corporate Governance Functions
The Board as a whole is responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties including:

(a) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices in
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors;
and

(e) to review the Company’'s compliance with the CG code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

Internal Control and Risk Management

The internal controls of the Group are designed to provide reasonable
assurance that the Group’s assets and shareholders’ investment are
safeguarded against unauthorised use or disposition, transactions are
executed in accordance with the management’s authorisation, internal
audit, proper accounting records are maintained, and the relevant
legislation and regulations are being complied with.

Internal control procedures and risk management systems are in place
in each of the principal operating units of the Group. The Compliance
Department undertakes the role of reviewing and assessing the Group's
internal control system implemented in the principal operations for their
respective effectiveness and efficiency on a continuous basis.

The key tasks basically include:

- reviewing the Group’s principal activities and risk management
effectiveness;

- conducting comprehensive examination of the practices and
procedures as to the recognition of income and expenditure; and
internal control systems of the business units of the Group on a
regular basis;
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- undertaking special reviews and investigations of areas for

improvement identified by management; and

- the Audit Committee of the Group reviews internal control issues

identified by external auditors, regulatory authorities and the
management, and evaluates the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems.

The Compliance Department has conducted a thorough review and
assessment of the Group’s existing internal control systems. The
review covers all material activities, including finance, operational and
compliance controls and risk management.

Internal Audit

Internal audit is an independent function reporting to the Board.
It provides an independent and objective assurance to safeguard
the Group’s operations. It effectuates a systematic and disciplined
approach to evaluate and improve the Group’'s process on risk
management, internal control and governance. The audit plans are risk
based to ensure that a methodical coverage of the Group’s operations
and resources are focused on high risk areas. Ad hoc reviews are
conducted on areas of concern where necessary.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, reviews the adequacy
of resources, training programmes, budget, qualifications and
experience of the accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
staff in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules. The
Audit Committee and the Board review the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group and fulfill the
requirement of the CG Code regarding risk management and internal
control systems in general.

Dissemination of Inside Information

The Board ensures the inside information is kept strictly confidential
until the relevant announcement is made. The Directors are not aware
of any significant areas which need to be brought to the attention of the
Shareholders.

Finance

The Company’s assets were used in an appropriate manner, the
expenditures in each of the operating units of the Group were under
strict control. Expenditures exceeding certain predetermined amounts
needed management’s authorisation. Accounting records were properly
maintained.
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Operation

A hierarchical system with proper work flow and reporting procedures
was duly established in each of the operating units. Every employee
was assigned with a specific area of duty and responsibility

Regular meetings with the attendance of senior management and
representatives from each of the operating units were held during the
year in order to improve communication and identify potential issues
within the Group.

Listing Rules Compliance

Throughout the year, the Group has fully complied with the Listing Rules
requirements. Financial reports, announcements and circulars have
been prepared and published in accordance with the requirements of
the Listing Rules.

Summary Remarks

The Board is satisfied that adequate measures have been put in place
to strengthen and continue to improve the internal control systems. The
Listing Rules Task Force has been formed and continued to monitor
the operations of the Group. The prevailing internal control system are
complied satisfactorily with all the requirements of the Listing Rules.

External Auditors

During the year ended 31 March 2022, Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited
was appointed as auditor of the Company on 23 March 2022 after the
resignation of HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited. An analysis of the
remuneration paid to HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited and Asian
Alliance (HK) CPA Limited in respect of audit related services and
non-audit related services for the year ended 31 March 2022 is set out
below:

Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited
Service rendered for the Group
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HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Service rendered for the Group

(In HK$'000)
EEestmEBMAERLDA

AAEEREZRE 2021
(U FETAEN) —E-—F
Audit services EZR 752
Non-audit and taxation services B LTSRS 30

782

Going Concern

The Board, having made appropriate enquiries, considers that the
Company has adequate resources to continue in operational existence
for the foreseeable future and that for this reason, it is appropriate to
adopt the going concern basis in preparing the consolidated financial
statements.

Directors’ Responsibility in Preparing the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibilities in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. The Statements of the Auditors
about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 78
to 85.
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Communication with Shareholders

Communications between the Company and its shareholders can be
through several means. The shareholders can visit the Company’s
website at www.upbest.com to learn the general background of the
Company and its activities, which enable the general public to have
a better understanding of the Group. Extensive and detail information
related to the Group’s activities and financial data can be retrieved
from the annual report and interim report issued. In addition, the annual
general meeting provides an opportunity for direct communication
between the Board and the Company’s shareholders.

An AGM held on Friday, 27 August 2021, the Chairman of the Board
and the representative of external auditors were available to answer
questions at the AGM. The chairman of the meeting had explained the
procedures of conducting a poll during the meeting. All resolutions were
proposed by the Chairman at the AGM and voted separately by way of
poll. All the votes cast at the said meeting were properly counted and
recorded.

Shareholder’s Right and Investor Relations

The Way for Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to Article 72 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
general meetings shall also be convened on the written requisition of
any two or more members of the Company deposited at the principal
office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company
ceases to have such a principal office, the registered office specifying
the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided
that such requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which
carries the rights of voting at general meetings of the Company. General
meetings may also be convened on the written requisition of any one
member of the Company which is a recognised clearing house (or its
nominee) deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong
Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such a principal
office, the registered office specifying the objects of the meeting and
signed by the requisitionist, provided that such requisitionist held as at
the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company which carries the rights of voting at general
meetings of the Company.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

Upbest Group Limited (the “Company”), together with its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”), is pleased to present this Environmental,
Social and Governance (the “ESG”) Report (the “Report”) to provide an
overview of the Group’s management of significant issues affecting its
operation, including environmental, social and governance issues.

The objective of this Report is to highlight the Group’s ESG performance
for the purpose of assisting all stakeholders in understanding the
Group’s ESG concepts and practices in achieving sustainable
development for the future.

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of a wide range
of financial services including securities broking, futures broking,
securities margin financing, money lending, corporate finance advisory,
assets management, properties investment and precious metal trading.
The Board of Directors (the “Board”) acknowledged the responsibility
for monitoring and managing ESG-related risks and the effectiveness
of the ESG management system. The Board reviews and discusses the
goals and targets under the ESG initiatives to optimise efficient use of
resources and to minimise the impact on the environment and natural
resources from the Group’s operation annually.

Sustainable development is an integral part of the Group’s business
strategy in order to achieve business excellence and enhance
capabilities for long-term competitiveness. The Group is committed to
operating in a manner that is economically, socially and environmentally
sustainable while balancing the interests of various stakeholders and
fostering a positive impact on society. The Group’s sustainability
strategy is based on compliance with the applicable legal requirements,
sustainability principle and stakeholders’ opinions. The Group has
established and implemented various policies to manage and monitor
the risks related to the environment, employment, operating practices
and community.
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The Board believes that a sound environmental, social and governance
structure is vital for the continued sustainability and development of the
Group’s activities. The Group is willing to take more responsibilities for
the society but with a view to balancing the Shareholders’ interests and
the society’s benefits. The Group will continue to strengthen the efforts
in information collection for better performance in the ESG areas and
broader disclosure of related information in sustainable development.

REPORTING STANDARDS AND PRINCIPLES

This Report is prepared in accordance with Appendix 27 of the Main
Board Listing Rules — “Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide” and has complied with the “comply or explain” provision in the
Listing Rules.

The Group has prepared this Report in accordance with the following
reporting principles:

e Materiality:  Important and relevant information to stakeholders
on different ESG aspects is covered in the Report. A
materiality assessment was conducted to determine
material ESG issues with results approved by the
Board.

e Quantitative: The relevant standards, methodologies and
assumptions used to prepare the quantitative
information are disclosed, as appropriate.
Quantitative information is provided with narrative and
comparative figures, where possible.

e Consistency: Consistent methodologies are used to prepare and
present ESG data in the Report, unless otherwise
specified, to allow for meaningful comparisons.

e Balance: The information is presented without the

inappropriate use of selections, omissions or other

forms of manipulation that would influence a decision
or judgment by the reader.
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REPORTING PERIOD AND BOUNDARY

This Report demonstrates the Group’s sustainability initiatives
during the reporting period from 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022 (the
“Reporting Period”). There was no material change to the methods or
key performance indicators ("KPIs") used by the Group in the years
ended 31 March 2022 and 2021. The Group did not have any reporting
boundaries for this Report.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY
ASSESSMENT

The Group understands the success of the Group’s business depends
on the support from its key stakeholders, who (a) have invested or
will invest in the Group; (b) have the ability to influence the outcomes
within the Group; and (c) are interested in or affected by or have
the potential to be affected by the impact of the Group’s activities,
products, services and relationships. It allows the Group to understand
risks and opportunities. The Group will continue to ensure effective
communication and maintain a good relationship with each of its key
stakeholders.

Stakeholders are prioritised from time to time in view of the Group’s
roles and duties, strategic plan and business initiatives. The Group
engages with its stakeholders to develop mutually beneficial
relationships and to seek their views on its business proposals and
initiatives as well as to promote sustainability in the marketplace,
workplace, community and environment.

The Group acknowledges the importance of intelligence gained from the
stakeholders’ insights, inquiries and continuous interest in the Group’s
business activities. The Group has identified key stakeholders that are
important to the Group’s business and established various channels for
communication. The following table provides an overview of the Group's
key stakeholders, and various platforms and methods of communication
used to reach, listen and respond.
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Main concerns Channels for communication/feedback
TEBETEE BB/ RERE

Key stakeholders
TEERA

Regulatory bodies

Legal compliance
Anti-corruption and anti-money
laundering

Policies and regulations updates
On-site investigations

Formal correspondence
Tele-communication

BEHE AREE BARAAEH
RARRRS RRE
EA
E7Bk

Shareholders and Investors

Operation performance
Risk management

Company website

Annual general meeting
Announcements and disclosures
Public reports

BRERRIREE REXR NGIEEN

Rk E R BREBFRE
NEREE
NGE

Customers Customer relationship Telephone/E-mails
Responsible investment Surveys
Risk management Conferences

®F EFR%F BE/EFHMH
BEFKRE B5
[k E B L

Employees Long-term career development Regular management & staff meetings
Health and safety Internal policy circulation
Remuneration and benefits Performance evaluation
Staff training

8T REFEER FREENEI®R
EEELE NERBR B =
B b= A KRB FHE
8 T3

Community Community service Telephone/E-mails

M N e B/ ETHMY

Through general communication with stakeholders,
understands the expectations and concerns of stakeholders. The
feedbacks obtained allow the Group to make more informed decisions,

and to better assess and manage the resulting impact.

the Group ZFREEFAEIT—RER AEETHE
ANHIERET - FIESHRERNSERNE

HERRENRR - BRI G R ERAUE

HEH S

|2
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The Group have adopted the principle of materiality in the ESG

reporting by understanding the key ESG issues that are important to the

business

of the Group. All the key ESG issues and KPIs are reported

in the Report according to the recommendations of the ESG Reporting
Guide (Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules).

The Group has evaluated the materiality and importance of ESG aspects

through the following steps:

Step 1:

Step 2:

Step 3:

Identification — Industry Benchmarking

Relevant ESG areas were identified through the review of
relevant ESG reports of the local and international industry
peers.

The materiality of each ESG area was determined based on
the importance of each ESG area to the Group through internal
discussion of the management and the recommendation of the
ESG Reporting Guide (Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules).

Prioritisation — Stakeholder Engagement

The Group discussed with key stakeholders about key ESG
areas identified above to ensure that all the key aspects were
covered.

Validation — Determining Material Issues

Based on the discussion with key stakeholders and internal
discussion among the management, the Group’s management
ensured that all the key and material ESG areas, which were
important to the business development, were reported and in
compliance with ESG Reporting Guide.

STAKEHOLDER FEEDBACK
The Group welcomes stakeholders’ feedback on this Report for

the Group’s sustainability initiatives. Please contact us by email at

info@upbest.com.
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ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS

The Group is mainly involved in office operations and its
business activities do not have a significant impact on the
environment or natural resources. In spite of this, the Group
are committed to continuously improving the environmental
sustainability of the Group’s business and ensuring that
environmental consideration remains one of the key focuses in
fulfilling the obligations to both the environment and community.
To demonstrate the commitment to sustainable development,
the Group have established relevant emission reduction and
energy-saving initiatives to manage the emission and maintain
green operations.

Throughout the year, the Group fully complied with all of
the relevant environmental laws and regulations in Hong
Kong, such as the Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter
311), the Sewage Services Ordinance (Chapter 463) and the
Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354). Besides, during
the Reporting Period, the Group were not aware of any
non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations that had a
significant impact on the Group related to air and greenhouse
gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation
of hazardous and non-hazardous waste. The Group also
regularly update with the latest development of the applicable
laws and regulations on environmental protection.
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A1. EMISSIONS Al HERWD

Air Pollutant Emissions ERIS R
Air emission control is essential to mitigate environmental EERBEBIEH S RERETENRERE
impacts and protect employees’ health. As the Group is mainly EREZHEZ AREAEEIZNRE
involved in general office activities, the amount of air pollutant —RBRPRREER  MERSEMERE
emissions is insignificant. The air pollutant emissions are mainly MFE - ZRITAMEREZRRER
generated from the executive passenger vehicles used for senior ABREIRAMETZ AR LSHE -
executive staff's local travel. The emission from motor vehicles BENEHENUEERETRITLNY
imposed an immaterial impact on the overall air pollution in Hong BAK - PREH - REBNTERSEY
Kong. The detail of air pollutant emissions of the Group during PGB
the Reporting Period was as follows:

Unit 2022 2021
Type of air pollutants RIS RMER By —E-C —E-—F
Nitrogen oxides (NO,) [EILMNO,) kg AT 1.90 2.63
Sulphur dioxide (SO,) fRE b ¥(S0,) kg Af 0.04 0.04
Particulate matter (PM) FBIZFERL(PM) kg AT 0.14 0.19

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (&t £ #f W A +)
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Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emissions

Climate change is gradually concerned by the community.
The Group recognises that climate change poses a risk to its
business and it is committed to mitigating the effects of climate
change. Regarding GHG emissions of the Group, scope 1
direct emissions and scope 2 and 3 indirect emissions have
mainly resulted from the combustion of fuels in motor vehicles,
purchased electricity and paper waste. Giving the majority of the
GHG emissions of the Group come from energy consumption,
the Group place great emphasis on improving energy efficiency
and reducing energy consumption. The Group have adopted
energy-saving initiatives mentioned in the section “Use of
Resources” of this Report. The Group aims to reduce or maintain
the current GHG emissions at a stable level in the next 3 years
in the future compared to this Reporting Period. The GHG
emissions of the Group during the Reporting Period were as

*t 8 R § A B &

BERE (DRERE ] M

RIRBCEZMZEH RO - KEE
AARERECHEZHRERER - L
NRFEREELNTE -FAKER
ERRUMME  BENERSHREE
2RIEEFNEERAMERE EHA
Bt BABARRERR - ERAEKHE
REDRERBHEBAKBRERER &
AREREERRESEALBDER -
ASBERRBRARSE [ERMA] &M
MEVERREHEIE - BAREHAL - KK
B R RRIFH B ATHOR = 88 BEK
ARBHWREREBHHRAOT

follows:
Unit 2022 2021

Type of air pollutants ERITEMER By —E-C T —F

Scope 1' #EN tonnes of CO,-e 7.8 7.1
RBE_ERES

Scope 22 & [E2? tonnes of CO,-e 104.1 106.2
RBE_ERES

Scope 3° EERE tonnes of CO,-e 8.5 6.5
RBE_ERES

Total GHG Emission BERBAYKE tonnes of CO,-e 120.4 119.8
RBE_ERES

GHG Intensity RERBTE tonnes of CO,-e/employee 3.01 2.99

DB _ALIREE

! Scope 1: Direct emission from sources that are owned or
controlled by the Group.

2 Scope 2: Indirect emissions from the generation of purchased
electricity consumed by the Group.

8 Scope 3: Includes all other indirect emissions that occur in the
Group's value chain.
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Sewage Discharge

The Group does not consume a significant volume of water
in its daily operation due to its office-based nature, therefore
its business activities did not generate a material portion of
discharge into water. Since the sewage discharged by the
Group is discharged into the municipal sewage pipe network
to the regional water purification plant, water consumed by the
Group is considered sewage discharged.

Hazardous and Non-hazardous Wastes

The Group recognises the importance of waste reduction. Waste
management measures have been introduced to minimise
the amount of waste generated and reduce the impact of the
Group’s operation on the environment. Due to the Group’s
business operation nature, no hazardous waste was generated
during the Reporting Period.

Due to the nature of office operation, non-hazardous waste can
be classified into two categories, including domestic waste
generated from the daily operation and recyclable waste. The
Group strives to reduce the amount of non-hazardous waste
generated and strengthen the environmental awareness of
employees by introducing various waste reduction measures
and education as mentioned in the section “Use of Resources”
of this Report. The Group aims to reduce or maintain the current
non-hazardous consumption at a stable level in the next 3 years
in the future compared to this Reporting Period.
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Non-hazardous waste generated is mainly recycled wastes
such as papers from the office operation during the year. The
non-hazardous waste generated by the Group during the
Reporting Period was as follows:

* g8 kR E A

&

EENEZEENIZRAFERRE
ZERRMREY (MAR) - NwEH
ASEEAMEZERYOT

Unit 2022 2021
Type of waste BRI By —EB-C —E—F
Non-hazardous waste EEEEY) tonnes 1.75 1.30
N
Non-hazardous waste intensity BEEREENER tonnes/employee 0.04 0.03
N/ EE

USE OF RESOURCES

The Group considers environmental protection as an essential
component of a sustainable and responsible business. The
Group has an in-depth understanding of the importance of
safeguarding sustainable development of the environment
and attaches importance to efficient utilization of resources by
introducing various measures in daily business operations. The
Group understand that staff participation is the key to achieving
such goals. The Group have adopted energy and water
efficiency initiatives policies to motivate the employees to
participate in resource conservation activities.

Energy consumption

The Group considers environmental protection as an essential
component of a sustainable and responsible business. With aims
of resource-saving and implementing energy-saving measures,
the Group actively promote the concept of energy-saving and
emission reduction into its business development and operation.
The Group have advocated various energy conservation
strategies as follows:

- Promote the green office concept in the workplace to
save electricity consumption.

- Set up the temperature of air-conditioner according to
seasonal changes.
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- Switch off lights and equipment after work, during lunch
break or during the time working outside the office and
wherever possible.

- Energy-efficient office equipment is always preferred in
making purchase decisions.

Water consumption

Water is an important natural resource. The business of the
Group is operated in leased office premises where the water
supply is solely controlled and centrally managed by the
building management company. In this case, it is not feasible for
us to provide water consumption data as there is no separate
meter for each individual office unit to record water usage data.
In spite of this, the Group still actively seek ways to reduce water
consumption in daily operation by encouraging employees to
turn taps off tightly to prevent the dripping of water and giving
priority to effective water-saving products. The Group does not
have difficulty in sourcing water in the Reporting Period.

Paper consumption

Paper is one of the major natural resources consumed by the
Group. Paper consumption mainly comes from the operations of
the offices. To reduce the consumption of paper, the Group has
adopted the following practices:

- Encourage to use duplex printing for internal documents
in order to maximise the usage of waste paper

- Facilities and procedures are in place for paper waste
recycling

Use of packaging material

Due to the business nature, the Group does not consume a
significant amount of product packaging materials as the Group
does not have any industrial productions nor any manufacturing
facilities.
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Total resource consumption of the Group by category during the RBEHE AEENEREBERERE
Reporting Period was as follows: AE ST
2022 2021
Type of energy 205 58 Al —E-C —ET-—F
Energy consumption gEIRAE A
Purchased electricity BAES 146,543 150,848 kWh
TR
Petrol ;i 28,545 26,497 kWh
TR
Total energy consumption HRREEREE 175,088 177,346 kWh
TR
Energy intensity RREE 4,377 4,433 kWh/
employee
TRE /&R
Water consumption 3Kk
Water 7K 375 484 m?
K
Water intensity BXx=E 9.3 12.1 m¥employee
NAKR/EE
Paper consumption b
Paper R 1.75 1.30 tonnes
NI}
Paper intensity BRTE 0.04 0.03 tonnes/
employee
AW/ EE
In addition to the resource conservative measures as stated BEAN o BT B ET ) ERE SN - AEE
above, the Group also actively participates in recycling MEmZ L UGTE] - REWER - FTED
schemes. Equipment such as computers, printers and toner BEBRNESRXEHERBETEYR - K
cartridges are returned to suppliers. An electronic platform is SEeNETIRETANTRER
used within the Group for internal administration and effective MEPESTNHAZTETEWER

communication with all staff at the office.
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The Group is committed to upholding resource conservation and
environmental protection in the Group’s business operation. In
the future, the Group continue its commitment to environmental
protection and strive to build a greener and sustainable
environment.

The Group aims to reduce or maintain the current resource
consumption at a stable level in the next 3 years in the future
compared to this Reporting Period.

THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES

The Group understands that implementing environmental
protection can reduce operational risk and increase business
opportunities. Regarding the business nature of the Group, the
Group do not aware of any significant impact of the business
activities on the environment and natural resources. Despite
this, the Group endeavour to consistently improve environmental
performance by implementing the aforementioned waste
reduction measures and resource-saving initiatives. The Group
will continue to seek opportunities to further reduce emissions
and resources consumption with the aim to reduce the impacts
on the environment and natural resources to minimal.

CLIMATE CHANGE

The Group’s principal businesses have no direct effect on facing
climate change. However, climate change risk is increasing,
and extreme weather is affecting the Global in recent years. The
Group believes that no one can escape from climate change,
and everyone should put effort into tackling the issue.

Acute risks

Extreme weather such as rainstorms and typhoons may cause
damage to building foundations, damage to utility cables, risk of
rain penetration due to heavy rain and storm surges. There is a
risk of failure in the operation of the Group.

Storm surges and heavy rain would cause tree failure and
immediate dangers to the safety of the employees.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (X &£ E 4 WA A)
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The extreme weather may cause damage to the direct and
indirect risk to telecommunications and computer failure. The
unstable network would cause risk to the principal business
activities which are securities trading and other operations of the
Group.

The Group has developed mitigation measures to reduce the
effect raised by typhoons on employees and office. For instance,
before the Black Rainstorm Warning Signals and No. 8 or above
Tropical Cyclone Warning Signals are incurred, the Group will
release employees from work and ensure there is sufficient time
for their journeys between living place and the office.

Chronic risk

In long-term, climate change would change chronic health
conditions. For example, the higher temperature would result
in changes in transmission patterns of infectious diseases or a
higher risk of thermal stress.

The Group would regularly raise the awareness of the employees
about the risk of health issues caused by fluctuation of
temperature as well as the risk of infectious diseases. At the
current stage, the chronic risk to the Company is not significant.

Compliance risk

The law and regulations are expected to be changed for the
higher requirement of ESG-related disclosure. For example, the
Group is expected to incur higher compliance costs to comply
with the ESG-related disclosure requirement of the Group’s
businesses. Failure of disclosure or incorrect disclosure may
impose a higher compliance risk on the Group.

The compliance risk would be addressed by the regular
collection of relevant ESG-related data and the local laws and
regulations regarding the ESG-related aspect.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has not been seriously
affected by the extreme weather conditions.
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B.  SOCIAL ASPECTS B. HEEE

EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES BEREIER

B1. EMPLOYMENT Bl. {EfE
Employees are the most important asset that can drive the BERGEZEE mASEEHEH
long-term development and sustainability of the Group. The BREKIFELEENS N -AEEAE
Group provide benefits to employees including salaries, SRMrEMNEEES BB =T8S
incentives, directors’ fees and contribution to a defined R EBRIRAT B - HEHBEMEZ
contribution retirement scheme. Remuneration and benefits LREEMBA - Ha I NKRBAET
packages are determined with reference to the position, B o NEBMANEREFHBEETIA
skills, capability and performance of employees. The human THEAREENEREEMER

resources department is responsible to comply with the following
applicable employment-related laws and regulations in Hong

Kong:

. Employment Ordinance . & & & 0

. Minimum Wage Ordinance . I T & 150

. Employees’ Compensation Ordinance . EEHE KD

. Sex Discrimination Ordinance . 1 Rl 52 48 R 51

. Disability Discrimination Ordinance . 5 % U5 A% 1R 451

. Family Status Discrimination Ordinance . 5 BE 5 (L SR 16 151

. Race Discrimination Ordinance . & IR I A8 f6: 51

. Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance . 58 5l 1 A TE 2 5 EE

. Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance . BELERERKED

. Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance . BAER (L) 15H

. Prevention of Bribery Ordinance . B 1t B A% 15 31

During the Reporting Period, the Group has no known RBEH AEBVEMNEER LA
non-compliance with the above relevant regulations. The BRG - AEBB N RETENEERN
Group endeavour to provide a well-structured and caring IR URABIHAEENGR
working environment to raise their sense of belonging and work R TR o

efficiency in the Group.
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As of 31 March 2022, the employee compositions (in numbers of
employees, excluding independent non-executive directors) by
gender, employee category, age group and geographical region

were as follows:

*t g8 kR B

&

E-__F=ZA=+—H ®HMHEH -

BAK(AEE (TREBUFNTE

Rz

EEER - FRAER MR R KB 5K
EEH

=

JEERH T

2022 2021
Employee Structure BEEE —B-C —E—F
Total number of employees EERY 40 40
By gender R R
Male S 21 22
Female i 19 18
By age EE R
Aged below 30 305 A T - -
Aged 30-60 302605 29 30
Aged 61 or above 61mR sk A £ 11 10
By Employment Type REBSER
Full time 2 40 40
Part-time B - .
By Geographical Region BB RS
Hong Kong &5 39 39
Macau R 1 1
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The employee turnover rates by gender and age group during
the Reporting Period were as follows:

2022 2021
Employment & —E-C —T—F
By gender &R
- Male - B 19 5 %
- Female — - 22 %
By age RER
- Aged below 30 =30 AT - - %
- Aged 30-60 —30£6075% 14 17 %
- Aged 61 or above —B1BR A £ - - %
Overall &t 4 5
HEALTH AND SAFETY B2. RERZZE

The Group strictly adhere to the laws and regulations regarding
occupational health and safety, for example, the Occupational
Safety and Health Ordinance. The Group seek to provide a safe,
healthy and comfortable working environment for employees to
minimise any adverse health and safety impacts arising from the
Group’s operation.

Due to the impact of COVID-19, the Company holds a cautious
attitude on a series of prevention measures to ensure employees
with a safe and comfortable working environment during the
review period. The Group has purchased additional cleaning
and epidemic prevention equipment and consumables such as
surgical face masks, sanitiser etc. The Group has implemented
precautionary measures to prevent and control the spread of
COVID-19 in the working place, including compulsory body
temperature checks, the mandatory wearing of a surgical face
mask, limit the visitor to access the office.
With the above measures implemented, there was no
work-related fatal or injury for the past three years. The Group
was not aware of any non-compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that had a significant impact on the Group in
providing a safe and healthy working environment during the
Reporting Period.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (X &£ E 4 WA A)
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DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

The Group is aware of the importance of continuous
development and updates of relevant laws and
regulations. Employees, especially those who are involved
in regulated businesses and activities, have to receive
continuous professional training including on-the-job training,
in-house regular meetings and training programs organised
by professional bodies to keep abreast of the latest market
practices and matters relating to the daily job duties. In-house
regular meetings and training are tailor-made by directors and
senior management which covered the key aspects as follows:

o Compliance and regulatory - general compliance,
market and regulatory updates, prevention of bribery,
bankruptcy laws, data privacy, and the Money Lender’s
Ordinance;

o Management skills and personal development -
leadership skills, supervisory skills, KPI setting,
communication and interpersonal skills, creative thinking
and problem-solving skills, self-development skills; and

o General training - language skills, computer skills, debt
collection skills and customer service skills.

Employees are encouraged to attend seminars and read
prescribed periodicals to update the industry and regulatory
latest developments for their continuing competence and
professional employees are required to comply with continuous
professional training and examination requirements as stipulated
in relevant regulations.

5
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The training details during the Reporting Period were as follows:

The percentage of employees trained by gender

BRI D 2

A

RREHNOFIFEOT

S HL

o

\

Male S 90%
Female g 53%
The percentage of employees trained by REBENEI»NZIEERD L

employment category
General LRES 56%
Middle management PRERE 100%
Senior management BREEE 100%

Average training hours for employees by gender

Male

Female

Average training hours for employees by
employment category

General

Middle management

Senior management

BRI 0 KR 8 1353 i B

Bt

gk

RERERE D NES VBN

LaER

RARERRE

RREEE

4.62 hours /N

2.74 hours /N

2.80 hours /J\B¥

5.20 hours )\

5.40 hours /|\Ef

LABOUR STANDARDS

Child or forced labour is prohibited in the Group’s operation
which was in compliance with the Employment of Children
Regulations, made under the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57).
To avoid such practices happening in the Group, the human
resources department is responsible to check the resume,
original identification cards and other certificates of new jointers
and potential candidates in order to eliminate the possibility
of child and forced labour in the employment. The human
resources department also communicates with the candidates’
preceded employment for verification purposes.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations related to the
recruitment of child labour or forced labour practices.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (X &£ E 4 WA A)
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OPERATING PRACTICES

B5.

B6.

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

Due to the Group’s business nature, the Group maintains
business relationships with suppliers including various computer
system and software vendors, providers of market information,
legal advisers and other business services professionals. The
procurement decision is based on criteria such as price,
reputation, track record of high corporate standards, expertise,
capacity, creditability, business stability and product/service
quality which the Group consider would not pose significant
social risks for the business. During the Reporting Period, the
Group had a total of 25 suppliers in Hong Kong and 1 supplier in
another area.

In order to minimise possible disruptions to the supply chain,
the management from different departments maintained a
close dialogue with the suppliers. The Group also expect
that suppliers of the Group are of high quality and operate in
compliance with applicable local environmental laws, ordinances
and regulations.

SERVICES RESPONSIBILITY

The business activities of the Group are required to comply
with the rules and regulations of various regulators in Hong
Kong such as Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and
Hong Kong Securities and Futures Commission. The Group is
responsible to comply with the requirements of the rules and
regulations in Hong Kong relating to the services responsibility

as below:

o Code of Conducts for Persons Licensed by or Registered
with the Securities and Future Commission

o Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)

o Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) Rules

o Securities and Futures (Client Money) Rules

o Securities and Futures (Client Securities) rules

o Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing
(Financial Institutions) Ordinance

o Drug Trafficking (Recovery of Proceeds) Ordinance

o Organised and Serious Crimes Ordinance

o United Nations (Anti-Terrorism Measures) Ordinance

5

T

B6.

E

* 8 X § A

&

i

g e

ARAEEEBHOEE - KAEEERER
REEHHEE BRERERARNK
L ER - MHERRER  AZERMN
HBERBERAL -KBERE DA
RER  BE  SOEREMNCE X
M Beh BB EBREMNESRS
RBEEESRE AEERR/ZTEDR
SHEBBREAM AR - NIREH
AEBEERBHBHEMER MAER
i A E R -

RTIBERIHEBAE LR
ALERERFANEEE g RARER
TEUBE  AEETEREHERR
HEEERE TETERNERRE
R RBIMDER -

RBEE
ARENXBRADBETEER S RE
ERERDAREEEF NMEEHE
REZEQEAEREERBORARR
fl- "EEEEXEETEEERREE
ENRARBPIORERT

. ERLMEERERZEERE
/\&ﬁﬂﬂ)\%ﬁ?/ﬁﬂ”

. B LHMERI(TEFRME K
fﬁlJJ)

. BELEE (MEER) AR

. Fr ke (FPFE) KA

. BB (FPER)RA

. ﬂ ERBERRONTEREE (&
RHE) B

. BECEFR) KD

. “ﬁiﬂiﬁk&ﬁ”é ETT IR

. & B (R E R M) 5B

Annual Report 2022 AEH

67



63

The Group provides loan and margin financing to individuals and
corporates in Hong Kong. Corporate structured loans, mortgage
loans, consumer finance and small business loans are provided
through a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group operates
under the Money Lenders’ Ordinance (“MLO”), being licensed
money lenders. The Group also provides margin financing to
clients through another wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group
operating under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQ”),
being licensed margin financier. During the year, the Group
had no known cases of non-compliance with the above laws or
regulations.

In Hong Kong, both the MLO and SFO focus on borrowers’ rights
as well as lenders’ practices. The Compliance and Risk Steering
Committee of the Group regularly reviews the update of the code
of practice and relevant regulations to make sure compliance
in various business aspects such as customer relationship,
know-your-client, anti-money laundering, credit valuation,
collection and recovery and data privacy.

The Group emphasises the importance of providing quality
services to clients. All operational departments are responsible
for the implementation of the established policies and
procedures based on the internal control manuals set out by
the Group. The internal control manuals of the Group contain
guidelines and implementation plans to ensure:

° conduct business in an orderly and efficient manner;

o protect the security of the assets for the Group and
clients;

o maintain proper records and ensure the reliability of
financial information and other information used by the
Group;

J prevent and detect potential fraud; and

o comply with all applicable laws and regulatory

requirements.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (X &£ E 4 WA A)
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The directors and compliance officer are responsible for
overseeing the day-to-day operations of departments and
ensuring that the internal control procedures are followed. In
case of any complaint received from clients either verbally or in
writing, the compliance department will review such complaints
to ensure that they are handled in a prompt and appropriate
manner. A customer services hotline is set up to handle
complaints from clients. All valid complaints will be recorded
monthly by the compliance department. During the Reporting
Period, the Group have not received any complaints from clients.

The Group emphasises the importance of protecting the privacy
of clients in the collection, processing and use of their personal
data and is committed to compliance with the Personal Data
(Privacy) Ordinance and other relevant codes of practice issued
by the Privacy Commissioner for Personal Data.

The Group have a contractual obligation to protect the information
of clients as stated in the account opening agreements and treat
their transactions record and personal information as private and
confidential, subject to the disclosure requirements under the
relevant laws, rules and regulations.

During the Reporting Period, The Group have not received any
complaints from clients relating to the violation of the Personal
Data (Privacy) Ordinance.

ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Group strictly complies with the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance (Chapter 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong) enforced
by the Independent Commission Against Corruption to prevent
unethical pursuit. The Group place great importance on
maintaining the highest standards of integrity and honesty and
has no tolerance for any misconduct case. Once a misconduct
case is discovered and confirmed, the employee will be
subject to disciplinary action and the case will be reported to
relate governing body when necessary. The Group also fully
cooperate with the international drive against services crime,
drug trafficking and terrorism and is committed to assisting the
authorities in identifying money laundering and terrorist financing
transactions. The Group strict adhere to the applicable laws and
rules in anti-money laundering and terrorist financing, including
but not limited to the Drug Trafficking (Recovery of Proceeds)
Ordinance, Organised and Serious Crimes Ordinance, Guideline
on Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing, and
United Nation (Anti-Terrorism Measure) Ordinance.
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The Group has implemented an effective whistle-blower policy
for reporting fraud and corruption. Employees are encouraged
to report on suspected business irregularities and provide clear
channels specifically for this purpose.

The Group is committed to strengthening compliance
training. Reading materials in relation to business ethics and
anti-corruption conducted by the Independent Commission
Against Corruption (“ICAC”) were circulated to the Directors and
staff of the Group, so as to enhance employees’ understanding
of anti-bribery and anti-corruption.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that had
a significant impact on the Group relating to bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering.

COMMUNITY

B8.

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

As a socially responsible company, the Group is committed
to understanding the needs of the communities in which the
Group operate. The Group encourage our employees to pursue
their personal passions and dedicate their time and skills to
supporting local communities. The Group strive to develop
long-term relationships with the stakeholders and bring a
positive impact on community development.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (&t £ #f W A +)
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORTING RE HERERREZS
INDEX
Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) Section Pages
THEESE - BH  —REERBERERIERKPIS) =40 BX
A. Environmental 35
A1: Emissions HEH Y]
General Disclosure — i}/ & “Emissions” [ HE 4 | 54
KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data ~ “Emissions — Air Pollutant 54
Emissions”
BREBIRZALL BRI KRB HE R [BEm — 2R3 R~
KPI'A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total and, where “Emissions — Greenhouse Gas 55
appropriate, intensity Emissions”
MREBERAL2 AERBAFNER (WER)EE (B — R ER BN
KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced and, where not applicable - The Group 56

BISRAE IR IRA13

appropriate, intensity

FMELREREMEER (MEMR)EE

generates no hazardous waste.
TER-ASEYEELBEERY) -

KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and, where “Emissions — Hazardous and 56-57
appropriate, intensity Non-hazardous Wastes”

BREVEFAIL MELEZEZEVEER(HER)BE (B —BEREEEEY ]

KPI' A1.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions and “Emissions — Greenhouse Gas 55
results achieved Emissions”

BRERIERA1S RS EHE R E 1 b R TR [BERY) — R = R B B i

KPI' A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous “Emissions - Hazardous and 56

B IE WIR1RA1.6

wastes are handled, reduction initiatives and results
achieved

HWillREE A E NEZTBEEY L BRI

Non-hazardous Wastes”

(R -BAEREBEEERY)
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) Section Pages

THHEE -BE  —REERBEENIERKPIS) =40 BX

A2: Use of Resources &R {F A

General Disclosure — %I} & “Use of Resources” [ &R A | 57

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in “Use of Resources” 59
total and intensity

MREMEEA21 REREASHERR JHEEREEEREE [BIREEA

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity “Use of Resources” 59

BRBENIEIZA22 BEKERTE [ERER]

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and “Use of Resources - Energy 57-58
results achieved Consumption”

BRETIEZA23 el RE AN RS R FTEM [BIREA —se R ]

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing “Use of Resources — Water 58
water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency Consumption”
initiatives and results achieved

BREBEFA24 HEKBERKRRESAEMEE  BKBRBEEAT [EREHR—FEK]
R

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products ‘Use of Resources - Use of 58
and, if applicable, with reference to per unit Packaging Material”
produced

MREBEFA25 HEDAALEYHNEER(HER)BLEELGEE [EREA-ERBENMH]

A3: The Environment and Natural Resources RE K X RE R

General Disclosure — R & “The Environment and Natural 60

Resources”[ RIER KA E R |
KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities No significant impact of activities N/A

BIH 4B B 1RAS.1

on the environment and natural resources and the
actions taken to manage them

HILRBEBHHRERRAEROERY B KRR
EREMTENTD

on the environment and natural

resources was noted.

TEBREZGADHRELRARE TER

BEEATE -
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) Section Pages
THESE - BH  —RKERBEREBIERKPIS) =40 AR
A4: Climate Change R {Z%&1t
General Disclosure —f% i & “Climate Change” [ ®{% &1t | 60-61
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues No significant impact on climate 61

which have impacted, and those which may impact,
the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them

MRERIERAL HABHRAREETABRKYENERRIREH
R - ANPrEREG IR % 5 R B T8

change was noted.

WTEERERRE(CAEATE -

B. Social &

Employment and Labour Practices EfE & % T &8

B1: Employment E{§

General Disclosure —f% i & “Employment” [{E{& | 62

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment category, age  “Employment” 63
group and geographical region

MREMREBI RIS BRES  FRANISEREESNES [MEfR ]
g

KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and ‘Employment” 64
geographical region

MREREEBL2 RIS FRAERFESHEEREEX [MEE]

B2: Health and safety i2ERZ %

General Disclosure — & “Health and Safety” [EERZ % | 64

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities No case of work-related fatality 64

was noted.
BRENIEEZEB21 BEITHHAHRLE WERZFHRATTHMER -
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury No case of lost days due to work 64

MBENIEEB22 RAIBRAIERH

injury was noted.
WA TSR TIER B EE -
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) Section Pages
THESE - BH  —RKERBREBIERKPIS) =40 AR
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety “Health and Safety” 64

measures adopted, how they are implemented and
monitored

BIEMIEIEB2.3 HUMMRBMBERERZ 28  BREMAEFESRA (RENZ 2]

B3: Development and Training /& & %3

General Disclosure — % & “Development and Training” 65
[ 8% K&
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employee trained by gender and ‘Development and Training” 66
employee category
MREMIEEB31  RURIRERRFIESNXIEER AL [ R Mgl
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee ‘Development and Training” 66

by gender and employee category
MREREEB2 RUFIKEEENIASNEREITAZINTHARE  [HEKEI]

B4: Labour Standards % T %8|

General Disclosure — &% & “Labour Standards” [ 2 T 28] | 66

KPI B4 .1 Description of measures to review employment “Labour Standards” 66
practices to avoid child and forced labour
MREBIEEB4 BT EREMNEEARCERAETI LRSS T [ TRl

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices No non-compliance with relevant 66
when discovered laws and regulations related
to recruitment of child labour
or forced labour practices was

noted.

BRENIEEB42 WA EREABARERZETAMRIHNSR PTEBREARETEBRERELT
FoRH B TITAMNBEERRE
HEBER -
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BB O H R EORARE
Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) Section Pages
TEEE  BEH - —RIKERBREENIEZ(KPIS) =40 AR
Operating Practices & ¥ 18
B5: Supply Chain Management i fE $ & 18
General Disclosure — f% i & “Supply Chain Management” 67
[ e EE |
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region “Supply Chain Management” 67
BMRENIEEBS1 EHMEBEEHISMHEERHA [ e E IR |
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging “Supply Chain Management” 67
suppliers, number of suppliers where the practices
are being implemented, how they are implemented
and monitored
MREMEIEBs2 HAZEEERNER BhRAEEHAOMERHE - [HEEERE]
KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental ~ “Supply Chain Management” 67
and social risks along the supply chain, and how
they are implemented and monitored
MREMIRIEBS.3 HAMAARSIREETRERMEERARNER  ULE [HEEERE]
SE YN
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote “Supply Chain Management” 67
environmentally preferable products and services
when selecting suppliers, and how they are
implemented and monitored.
MREMEIEB5.4 HARUARKEHERSRERRERMRBENESR - [HEEERE]
AR B M BE R 77 3\
B6: Product Responsibility &= @ S 1F
General Disclosure — % #{ & “Services Responsibility” 67-69
[RBEE]
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject No product sold or shipped 69
to recalls for safety and health reasons subject to recalls for safety and
healty reasons.
MRENEEBEY DHEXNEERLHTRZEIIERRAMARDKY FEEZHEXHEERRTERE

Bt

FEIRE AR -
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

B E - B R EOA

B /A

&

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) Section Pages

THESE - BH  —RKERBREBIERKPIS) =40 BX

KPI B6.2 Number of products and services related complaints No products and services related 69
received and how they are dealt with complaints received.

MREMEITB6.2 HEABERNLRBNRFTELEES N W ARE A BE m KRB IR -

KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and “Services Responsibility” 67-69
protecting intellectual property rights

MRERIEEB63 HMMETRRENSEENEAER (RBEE]

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall “Services Responsibility” 67-69
procedures

MREMIEEB6.4 B SWTEREREKIERF [AR7% & £

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy “Services Responsibility” 67-69
policies, how they are implemented and monitored

MRENIEEBES HMUMEEEEHRERABEE BRLEESA (RBEE]

B7: Anti-corruption R &8

General Disclosure —f} i & “Anti-corruption” [ R & | 69-70

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding No concluded legal case 70
corrupt practices brought against the issuer or its regarding corrupt practices
employees during the reporting period and the was noted.
outcomes of the case

MREMEFB7Y RBEPFARETASHERRENCARERERER TEERCARNERERRM -
8B kR

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and “Anti-corruption” 69-70
whistle-blowing procedures, how they are
implemented and monitored

MBEMIEEB7.2 HRENEERERET BERERAR RER]

KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to Anti-corruption 69-70

directors and staff

PEEMESRB73 HARMEERETRENRERET

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (&t £ #f W A +)



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R R »~ &£ 8 K B B & &
Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) Section Pages
TREEHE - BEH  —REERBRENIEE(KPIS) 4] BX
Community L&
B8: Community Investment #t B & &
General Disclosure — %% & “Community Investment” 70
HERE]
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, “Community Investment” 70
environmental concerns, labour needs, health,
culture, sport)
MREMIRIEBS HIGRER(NHE RRFE BIFK EE- [MtRRE]
Xt - 888)
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the - N/A
focus area
BMREWIEEBS2 HEIGEMPHANER (NS EHRERE) - TE R
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS" REPORT
B MY % B M O® S

/ EHE(EE)SHMEEMERATE
Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF UPBEST GROUP LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Upbest Group
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) set out on pages 86 to 192, which comprise the
consolidated statements of financial position as at 31 March 2022,
and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA'’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (&t 4 W 4 B A )
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS - CONTINUED

Key audit matter

BRELER

B MY % B OB O®RF

HRENER-&

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

EFMARERTEERRERSE

Impairment assessment of interest-bearing receivables from loans and margin financing

REEXRNARBME N B RREERRER G

As disclosed in Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements,
as at 31 March 2022, the Group’s gross amounts of interest-bearing
receivables from loans and margin financing amounted to approximately
HK$967,076,000 and HK$140,194,000 respectively, and an allowance
for credit losses of interest-bearing receivables from loans and
margin financing amounted to approximately HK$144,805,000 and
HK$77,211,000 respectively were included in the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position.

HMEEMBRRMFISIERE  R_Z__F=A=+—H  E5HE
REERLFRERE SR FIEN 25D 514 /8967,076,0007 7T &
140,194,000 T * MK B ER LT RBME NS RKFIANEEEREE
7 F47144,805,000% 7T % 77,211,000 TE T A BB &S M EHKR
%o

The impairment loss, net of reversal, on interest-bearing receivables
from loans and margin financing included in the Group’s consolidated
income statement for the year ended 31 March 2022 amounted to
approximately HK$12,536,000 and HK$4,208,000 respectively.
BEREBE_T__F-A=t-HUEFENGaRERAKRBERKF
ERE B RKIE IR RE) MRERED 54 /R12,536,00078 7T &
4,208,000/ T °

The allowance for credit loss of interest-bearing receivables from loans
and margin financing represents the management’'s best estimates at
the end of the reporting period of expected credit losses under Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standard 9: Financial Instruments’ Expected
Credit Loss model.
REEREARBMENGFERKFENEEBRRBIEEEERETAM
BREENFES  ¢RTABRRCEEFREAUEREEFENBREHR
B R

Our audit procedures in relation to
management’s impairment assessment of
interest-bearing receivables from loans and
margin financing included:
BMAHERBEYRBEERRAFRBENTEE
WRERRERE cBERIEF B

o Understanding and evaluating the
credit control procedures performed
by management, including its
procedures on periodic review of
aged receivables and assessment on
expected credit losses allowance of
receivables;

. TRNRIEERERTNEEENRER -
BREEHEERERERFIENRE T
AEERGENTEREEERRE

o Testing on a sample basis, the
accuracy of ageing profile of the
receivables by checking to the
underlying agreements;

. BRRESRE R  AmEa O E
W IR BR e 2 ERE L

o Testing on a sample basis, the
subsequent settlement of the
receivables against bank receipts;

. DA 75 308 AR SR 17 U i3 B Bl e M k0B
REFERENEMER
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS" REPORT
B Y &% B B ® &

KEY AUDIT MATTERS - CONTINUED

Key audit matter

BRELEE
Impairment assessment of interest-bearing receivables from loans
and margin financing — continued

REERRfFERBEN ERBFENREN® - &

Receivables are assessed individually for provision for impairment
allowance. The expected credit loss rates are determined based on
historical credit losses experienced and are adjusted to reflect current
and forward-looking information affecting the ability of the customers to
settle the receivables.

TR BB ARERR BB ERAXDRBEMEENELEE
BRET  SABUARRYETFBERKFIAEELNNER RATREEH -

We consider impairment assessment on interest-bearing receivables
from loans and margin financing as a key audit matter because of its
significance to the consolidated financial statements and the significant
estimates and judgement involved in determining the expected credit
losses allowance on the interest-bearing receivables from loans and
margin financing.
RRREERRARBENERKFENRENGEEaHBERRME
BEZ BEEEBFRARBERRAFRAENERKFIENEREEHER
B REAE LA - RAEKREERRAFRRE O EEBFIRNR
EFERARREZEE -

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (&t 4 M 4 W A #)

BARESER-&

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

ERMARERTEERRERSE

o Evaluating the management’s
assessment of the internal credit rating
of the interest-bearing receivables
from loans and margin financing
by reference to past due status,
past collection history and financial
condition of the borrowers:

o AEEREEHREERRTRRE N
BREKFIENABEETR 2T T5
SEZRERRN - BERBEZERERA
Z B

o Understanding the management'’s basis
and judgement in determining credit
loss allowance on interest-bearing
receivables from loans and margin
financing at 31 March 2022, including
the identification of credit-impaired
receivables, estimated loss rates
applied to each customer, collaterals
pledged to the Group; and

. THREEENET _S-__F=A=1+—
AzRBERRAFRERME NS EYR
ENEEERRERRBOEERAT -
BESNEREERE KA &
ARBUEFZABREE -EHT
EEEZEAm: &

o Evaluating the disclosures regarding
the impairment assessment of
interest-bearing receivables from
loans and margin financing in the
consolidated financial statements.

o AEEAMBRRTEBREERKT
R RLE B 5t B R Wk IR B R E AT (4 2 48
B ER



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS - CONTINUED

Key audit matter

BRELER

Valuation of investment properties

REMFMGE

As disclosed in Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements, at
31 March 2022, investment properties, which were stated at fair value,
amounted to approximately HK$1,622,100,000.
HNGEERBREMFISAERE  RZEZ—F=A=1+—H RAKE
5| BR R & W) % 4 K1,622,100,0007% 7T ©

Net increase in fair value of investment properties of approximately
HK$21,000,000 was recognised in the Group’s consolidated income
statement for the year ended 31 March 2022.
REAMENRABEZFMEL21,0000008TEEAEEEE_T -4
ZRA=T-RBIFENGERERTER -

The management performed valuations on the fair value of investment
properties with the assistance from an independent professional valuer.

EREEBUERHREMNED THRENEOAAEET THE -

Details of the valuation techniques and key inputs used in the valuations
are disclosed in Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements. The
valuations are dependent on certain key inputs that require significant
management judgements and estimates, which involves certain
estimates of market conditions and assumptions made on the
investment properties including comparable market transactions with
adjustments to reflect different locations or conditions, and comparable
market rents and capitalisation rate.

AN EERTMEZEGAZEHBEHANGEMBRERMT15 o BEK
BETIFEGARE FTEEATEBAE RGN  PRETHSRIL
B MEREDENRR  EREATERTIERS I HEIA R R 2
SRR - A RATLE R M5 HE RERB X -

We identified the valuation of investment properties as a key audit
matter due to the significance of the balance to the consolidated
financial statements as a whole, combined with the judgements involved
in determining the inputs used in the valuation.
RMBAREVELERBREREE  SHRRENFEERRGAUE
BERPAENSREXN  BEEERASEHERAZHE Y &6 -

B MY % B OB O®RF

BEREREE- &

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

EFMARERTEERRERSE

Our procedures in relation to management’s
valuation of investment properties included:

ZAEREEEHRENIAEENEF B

o Evaluating the independent external
valuers’ competence, capabilities and
objectivity;

. AEBUNEREMO IR EIRE
B

° Assessing the appropriateness and

reasonableness of the methodologies
used and the key assumptions and
parameters based on our knowledge
of the property industry and using our
audit valuation experts; and

. BERMAHEMETENTRIERK
ﬁ%%#%@i*'ﬁﬁ%ﬁmﬁiu&
HAREXII2ENEELERSER R

o Checking, on sample basis, the
accuracy and relevance of the input
data used.

. MERERT R 2R 2 BRI KA -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS" REPORT
B Y &% B B ® &

OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2021 were audited by another auditor who expressed an
unmodified opinion on those statements on 25 June 2021.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises all the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED
WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ &t 4 45 R 2 #)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

J Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group'’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the Directors.

B MY % B OB O®RF

REMBGERBBRELZER

ZANBER —REGAUBRREBRESIFE
AREFRRRMEFNEAERRAREE
BRE YRRHEZRBGEXA BT (RE
BRIHABSRMAEANGEMBRE Ktz
SIARREFEEMBE - SEREFRHKFZ5F
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A A BRF SRR E - WA B R ERNER
ERAEYERANBRRERERBEETH
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BRIEEK -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS" REPORT
B Y &% B B ® &

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,

among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and

significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in

internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement

that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding

independence, and to communicate with them all relationships

and other matters, that may reasonably be thought to bear on our

independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats

or safeguards applied.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (&t 4 M 4 W A #)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants (Practising)

Lam Chik Tong
Practising Certificate Number: P05612

8/F, Catic Plaza

8 Causeway Road
Causeway Bay
Hong Kong

24 June 2022

B MY % B OB O®RF
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

= & W & X

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE _-F " "4 =H=+—HILEE

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—fF
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
L FBT FHT

Revenue & 5 127,011 119,221
Other revenue H bW s 542 2,407
Impairment losses under expected credit HHEEEEREAETZ

loss model, net of reversal SEEE » R B E 7 (16,744) (13,176)
Net increase (decrease) in fair value KREMELARELZ

of investment properties F3E R B 15 21,000 (40,900)
Administrative and other TBREMEEFRSE

operating expenses (26,409) (26,332)
Finance costs B & A 8 (3,695) (6,357)
Share of results of an associate EEE 2 N A 2 B (4,255) 22,486
Profit before taxation B 354 A1 2 A 97,450 57,349
Income tax expenses FrieRiFE X 12 (10,457) (11,161)
Profit for the year F W& 7 86,993 46,188
Profit for the year attributable to: UTATEIEFEART

Owners of the Company VN/NEIET =N 87,036 46,227

Non-controlling interests RS (43) (39)

86,993 46,188

Proposed final dividend BIKARE RS 13 53,646 26,823
Earnings per share BRER 11

Basic (HK cents) EAR(BIL) 3.2 1.7

Diluted (HK cents) 55 (B N/A &M N/A 73

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (&t 4 W 4 B A )




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

= & 2 H W

m

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE -F "4 =H=+—HIL4FHE

2022 2021
—E-= = ==z
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TAT
Profit for the year FREF 86,993 46,188
Other comprehensive income FREMEERE (FEFE) :
for the year, net of tax:
Item that may be reclassified BB En B
subsequently to profit or loss:
Share of other comprehensive income of an  E{GE & A A E b2 mE U =
associate, net of related income tax (HEEEHEEE) 2,538 3,337
Total comprehensive income FREHEKRLHE
for the year 89,531 49,625
Total comprehensive income LMTALTEEFRZERE (FAX)
(expenses) attributable to: I
Owners of the Company iYNETEZZ =N 89,574 49,564
Non-controlling interests 1R 2= (43) (39)
89,531 49,525
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
= 8 B B R R R

As at 31'March 2022 R - -4 =H=+—H

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—fF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FTHET FAT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y R NER 14 941 939
Investment properties BEME 15 1,622,100 1,601,100
Intangible assets BB E 16 2,040 2,040
Interests in an associate A RN A 17 58,135 59,852
Trade receivables 2 5 WA 18 89,251 72,669
Other assets HiBE 19 3,400 3,400
Deferred tax assets EEFITHE E 22 2,892 2,198
1,778,759 1,742,198
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Properties held for development B RYE 20 3,011 3,011
Trade and other receivables, B 5 & H o fE U FIE
deposits and prepayments Be RENFIE 18 941,657 904,503
Tax recoverable ] U [a] B 3% 1,162 2,377
Bank balances and cash IRITHEBRIRE 21 568,386 816,192
1,514,216 1,726,083
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade and other payables B 5 R EH M e ZUR 26 124,668 345,972
Borrowings B 23 234,625 263,353
Amounts due to related parties JE 1< BB A £ 3008 24 1,172 264
Amount due to the ultimate JEAf S 1R 4 R A ) FUE
holding company 25 213,384 200,362
Provision for taxation MR 625 2,537
574,474 812,488
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 939,742 913,595
NET ASSETS EEFE 2,718,501 2,655,793

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (&t 4 W 4 B A )



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

= & B B R

R

As at 31 March 2022 A —F_-_4#£=H=+—d

2022 2021
—E-= = ==z
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$'000
i3 FET FAT
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEARK#HE
Share capital R% 7N 27 26,824 26,824
Reserves & 2,692,932 2,630,181
Equity attributable to owners RARHE ANELES
of the Company 2,719,756 2,657,005
Non-controlling interests FEIE R i 2 (1,255) (1,212)
TOTAL EQUITY BEEEE 2,718,501 2,655,793

The consolidated financial statements on pages 86 to 192 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 24 June
2022 and are signed on its behalf by:

Cheng Wai Lun, Andrew
BER

Executive Director

HITEF

FEOR1NEHSANERAERETEEN -
T oFERNA AR ERRER L A TE

ERERRE

Cheng Wai Ling, Annie
BER
Executive Director

HITEF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ _F "~ " 4E=H =+—H IL4EE

Attributable to owners of the Company

AAAEEARLE
Non-
Share Share Contributed Translation ~ Retained  Proposed controlling Total
capital  premium surplus reserve profits  dividend Total interests equity
k& ROEE EHBRR  ERXRE  REEH  RERS @i FEREE  ERAE
HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000
Thn T TER ThR T TER TR ThER TER
At 1 April 2020 RZZ-FERA-A 26,824 304,284 8,515 (5599)  2,213417 26,823 2,634,264 (1173) 2,633,091
Profit (loss) for the year Ematl (1) = - = = 46,221 = 46,021 (39) 46,188
Other comprehensive income for the year AEE 2 E Nz - - - 3,337 - - 3337 - 3337
Total comprehensive income (expense)  ERZENE (Fx) 5
for the year - - - 3,337 46,227 - 49,564 (39) 49,525
Dividend payable EftRE - - - - - (%683)  (68%) - (268%)
Proposed final dividend BERSARS - - - - (26,823) 26,823 - - -
At 31 March 2021 R-E--%=A=1-H 26,824 304,284 8,515 (2262) 2,292,821 26,823 2,657,005 (1212) 2,655,793
Profit (loss) for the year FREH (B8) - - - - 87,036 - 87,036 (43 86,998
Other comprehensive income for the year AEE K12 FlE - - - 2538 - - 2538 - 2538
Total comprehensive income (expense)  FR2 Flis (F%) 28
for the year - - - 2,538 87,036 - 89,574 (43) 89,531
Dividend payable Efifks - - - - - (823 (2682) - (268%)
Proposed final dividend BEXHRE - - - - (53,646) 53,646 - - -
At 31 March 2022 R-BZZE=R=1-A 26,824 304,284 8,515 216 2,326,211 53,646 2,719,756 (1,255) 2,718,501

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ &t 4 45 R 2 #)



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE _-F " "4 =H=+—HIL4FK

2022 2021
—E=-= = = ==
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REER
Profit before taxation BR 2 A Al 97,450 57,349
Adjustments for: ERTIEIEELHAE
Finance costs & A AR 3,695 6,357
Depreciation on property, WE - HEREHE
plant and equipment 80 87
Impairment losses under expected credit EHEEEEEXETZ
loss model, net of reversal MERE - MEREE 16,744 13,176
Net (increase) decrease in fair value of WEYERREZFE
investment properties Rl & (21,000) 40,900
Share of results of an associate JEAG B & AR 2 48 4,255 (22,486)
Operating cash flows before working RETEEESE A
capital changes IEERERE 101,224 95,383
Decrease in inventories FE 2/ = 18
(Increase) decrease in trade and other B REMERIE R R
receivables, deposits and prepayments TER R IE 2 (38 0n) 5 (70,480) 78,583
Decrease (increase) in trust and segregated {ErEMoHAEREFO&FEE
accounts included in bank balances RIRITAEER 2R A (35 0) 220,839 (231,396)
(Decrease) increase in unsecured EEMEAMERZ
other borrowing (R4 # 0 (4,724) 2,273
Increase (decrease) in amounts due to FE <t RE B A £ FRIB 2 3 AN
related parties Cm ) 908 (433)
(Decrease) increase in trade and B 5 REMERNFKIEZ OfkD)
other payables =Pl (221,304) 226,855
Cash generated from operations REXKREECES 26,463 171,283
Interest paid for other borrowing B 15 E fth & 3R F & (121) (145)
Hong Kong profits tax paid ENEBFESH (11,848) (22,179)
Overseas tax paid B AT AN 5K - (250)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES K& EZHE4EX2HEFE 14,494 148,709

Annual Report 2022 AEH
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

= 8 B 2 R B *x

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE R " "4 =H=+—HIL4EE

2022 2021
—E-C —E-_—fF
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETHEAZRSEE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWME  HBEREE (82) (38)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEE
Dividend paid ERIRE (26,823) (26,823)
Increase in amount due to the ultimate RN &EERARIRIEZ
holding company 10 13,022 11,523
Interest paid for borrowings B &R E (3,574) (6,212)
Repayment of borrowings EEE T (24,004) (22,575)
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES METHERACREFE (41,379) (44,087)
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH BeRkRezEB8YN2F (RD)
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 20 (26,967) 104,584
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE FOzREeRRe2EEY
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 491,518 386,934
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRZEERAESZEEY
AT THE END OF THE YEAR 464,551 491,518

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (&t 4 W 4 B A )




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B & B B | & KM EFE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE -F "4 =H=+—HIL4FHE

GENERAL

Upbest Group Limited (the “Company”) is a public limited
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with its shares
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The address of its registered office is P.O. Box 309,
Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands. The
principal place of business is 2" Floor, Wah Kit Commercial
Centre, 300 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong.

As at the date of this report, CCAA Group Limited held a direct
interest in 1,992,721,496 (2021: 1,992,721,496) shares of the
Company, representing approximately 74.29% (2021: 74.29%) of
the issued share capital of the Company.

The Company is principally engaged in investment holding. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision of a wide
range of financial services including securities broking, futures
broking, securities margin financing, money lending, corporate
finance advisory, assets management, properties investment and
precious metal trading.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$"), which is the same as the functional currency of
the Company. All values are rounded to the nearest thousand
(“HK$'000"), except when otherwise indicated.

B

ZREEERAR(AXAAE]) DA
HEAMRUZEREELRAA &
BhRBEBHERSAERAR ([BR
Frl) £ o RA Rz s ik AP.O. Box
309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1104, Cayman Islands ° & ¥ B &
b BN B 7R 8 R 3005k E A E 0
28 -

RARREETE 2 B © CCAA Group Limited
BEREHE1992,721,4960% (ZZF = — 4 :
1,992,721,4960%) AR AIM D - 4G A A
AEBITRAZ7429% (T = —4F:
74.29%) o

ARANEIEXEBRREER - AWBA
ACEREBARREZEESRRY
BREFAL  PELL BHARBE -
EREE  CEREER AEEE Bt
ERENRESEBEE -

A eMBHEABT(DET]) 25 &
ARRZYEEEHER - BRABHE - A
BEEAMBAAZREON T (T8

JTl) e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ _F "~ " 4E=H =+—H IL4EE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the
current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time, which
are mandatorily effective for the annual periods beginning on or
after 1 April 2021 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions

beyond 30 June 2021

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKAS”) 39,
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and
HKFRS 16

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform - Phase 2

In addition, the Group applied the agenda decision of the IFRS
Interpretations Committee (the “Committee”) of the International
Accounting Standards Board issued in June 2021 which clarified
the costs an entity should include as “estimated costs necessary
to make the sale” when determining the net realisable value of
inventories.

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year
has had no material impact on the Group's consolidated financial
performance and positions for the current and prior years and/
or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ &t 4 45 R 2 #)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B & B B | & KM EFE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE -F "4 =H=+—HIL4FHE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) —

CONTINUED

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and

amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective:

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

Insurance Contracts and the
related Amendments'

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)'

Disclosure of Accounting Policies'

Definition of Accounting Estimates'

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction’

Property, Plant and Equipment —
Proceeds before Intended Use?

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract?

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-2020?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.

Y Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below,

the directors of the Company (the “Directors”) anticipate that the

application of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs will have

no material impact on the consolidated financial statements in the

foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ _F "~ " 4E=H =+—H IL4EE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) -
CONTINUED

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
- Continued

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

The amendments:

update a reference in HKFRS 3 Business Combinations
so that it refers to the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2018 issued in June 2018 (the “Conceptual
Framework”) instead of Framework for the Preparation
and Presentation of Financial Statements (replaced by the
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2010 issued in
October 2010);

add a requirement that, for transactions and other events
within the scope of HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities
and Contingent Assets or HK(IFRIC)-Int 271 Levies, an
acquirer applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 instead of
the Conceptual Framework to identify the liabilities it has
assumed in a business combination; and

add an explicit statement that an acquirer does not recognise
contingent assets acquired in a business combination.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the consolidated financial position and
performance of the Group.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ &t 4 45 R 2 #)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B & B B | & KM EFE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE -F "4 =H=+—HIL4FHE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) -
CONTINUED

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
- Continued

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)

The amendments provide clarification and additional guidance
on the assessment of right to defer settlement for at least twelve
months from reporting date for classification of liabilities as current
or non-current, which:

e specify that the classification of liabilities as current or
non-current should be based on rights that are in existence at
the end of the reporting period. Specifically, the amendments
clarify that:

(i) the classification should not be affected by management
intentions or expectations to settle the liability within 12
months; and

(ii)y if the right is conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the right exists if the conditions are met at
the end of the reporting period, even if the lender does
not test compliance until a later date; and

e clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option of
the counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer of
the entity’'s own equity instruments, these terms do not affect
its classification as current or non-current only if the entity
recognises the option separately as an equity instrument
applying HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation.

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised as a
consequence of the Amendments to HKAS 1 to align the
corresponding wordings with no change in conclusion.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31 March 2022,
the application of the amendments will not result in reclassification
of the Group’s liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ _F "~ " 4E=H =+—H IL4EE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) -
CONTINUED

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
- Continued

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

HKAS 1 is amended to replace all instances of the term “significant
accounting policies” with “material accounting policy information”.
Accounting policy information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions
that the primary users of general purpose financial statements
make on the basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information
may be material because of the nature of the related transactions,
other events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial.
However, not all accounting policy information relating to
material transactions, other events or conditions is itself material.
If an entity chooses to disclose immaterial accounting policy
information, such information must not obscure material accounting
policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements (the
“Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an entity
applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting policy
disclosures and to judge whether information about an accounting
policy is material to its financial statements. Guidance and
examples are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the consolidated financial position or
performance of the Group but may affect the disclosures of
the Group’s significant accounting policies. The impacts of
application, if any, will be disclosed in the Group’s future
consolidated financial statements.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (&t 4 M 4 W A #)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B & B B | & KM EFE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE -F "4 =H=+—HIL4FHE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) -
CONTINUED

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
- Continued

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

The amendments define accounting estimates as “monetary
amounts in financial statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty”. An accounting policy may require items in financial
statements to be measured in a way that involves measurement
uncertainty - that is, the accounting policy may require such items
to be measured at monetary amounts that cannot be observed
directly and must instead be estimated. In such a case, an entity
develops an accounting estimate to achieve the objective set
out by the accounting policy. Developing accounting estimates
involves the use of judgements or assumptions based on the latest
available, reliable information.

In addition, the concept of changes in accounting estimates in
HKAS 8 is retained with additional clarifications.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-2020

The annual improvements make amendments to the following
standards:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The amendment clarifies that for the purpose of assessing whether
modification of terms of original financial liability constitutes
substantial modification under the “10 per cent” test, a borrower
includes only fees paid or received between the borrower and the
lender, including fees paid or received by either the borrower or
the lender on the other’s behalf.

HKFRS 16 Leases

The amendment to lllustrative Example 13 accompanying HKFRS
16 removes from the example the illustration of reimbursement
relating to leasehold improvements by the lessor in order to
remove any potential confusion.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ _F "~ " 4E=H =+—H IL4EE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) -
CONTINUED

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
- Continued

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-2020 - Continued

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the consolidated financial position and
performance of the Group.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs, which collective term includes all
applicable HKFRSs, HKAS and Interpretations issued by the
HKICPA and accounting principles generally accepted in Hong
Kong. For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if such information
is reasonably expected to influence decisions made by primary
users. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosure required by the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and by
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain properties and financial
assets that are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting
period, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B & B B | & KM EFE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE -F "4 =H=+—HIL4FHE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED

Basis of preparation — Continued

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share based payment transactions that are within
the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based payment, leasing transactions
that are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases, and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not
fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or
value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling
it to another market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which
are transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that
unobservable inputs is to be used to measure fair value in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so that
at initial recognition the results of the valuation technique equals
the transaction price.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ _F "~ " 4E=H =+—H IL4EE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED

Basis of preparation — Continued

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

- Level 1: inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the
entity can access at the measurement date;

- Level 2: inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within level 1, that are observable for the asset and
liability, either directly or indirectly; and

- Level 3: inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset and
liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investee;

e s exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated income statement from the date the Group
gains control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B & B B | & KM EFE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE -F "4 =H=+—HIL4FHE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED

Basis of consolidation — Continued

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the
Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group's equity therein, which represent present
ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share
of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible
assets with finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and
amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted
for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful
lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future
economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains and
losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when
the asset is derecognised.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ _F "~ " 4E=H =+—H IL4EE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes. Property, plant and equipment are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
other than construction in progress less their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of
any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and
equipment is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised
in profit or loss.

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rental income
and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at fair value, adjusted to
exclude any prepaid or accrued operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment
properties are included in profit or loss for the period in which they
arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under
construction are recognised as part of the carrying amount of the
investment properties under construction.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no
future economic benefits are expected from its disposal. Any gain
or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in
which the property is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B & B B | & KM EFE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE -F "4 =H=+—HIL4FHE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
with finite useful lives to determine whether there is any indication
that these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if

any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets are estimated individually. When it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit when a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be established,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units
to which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the
carrying amount of the relevant cash generating unit or group of
cash-generating units.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ _F "~ " 4E=H =+—H IL4EE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets — Continued

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a
cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows
have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the carrying
amount of a group of cash-generating units, including the
carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with the
recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating units. In
allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and
then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit or the group of cash-generating
units. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable),
its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the
impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the
asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the
group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group of
cash-generating units) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
(or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B & B B | & KM EFE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE -F "4 =H=+—HIL4FHE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED

Investment in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

An investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements under the equity method, unless it is classified
as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is classified
as held for sale). Under the equity method, the investment is
initially recorded at cost, adjusted for any excess of the Group’s
share of the acquisition-date fair values of the investee's
identifiable net assets over the cost of the investment (if any).
Thereafter, the investment is adjusted for the post acquisition
change in the Group’s share of the investee’s net assets and any
impairment loss relating to the investment. Any acquisition-date
excess over cost, the Group’s share of the post-acquisition,
post-tax results of the investees and any impairment losses for
the year are recognised in the consolidated income statement,
whereas the Group’s share of the post-acquisition post-tax items
of the associates’ other comprehensive income is recognised in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. When the
Group's share of losses of an associate exceeds the Group's
interest in that associate (which includes any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Group's net investment in the
associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further
losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate.

On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any excess of
the cost of the investment over the Group's share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is
recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying
amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group's share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost
of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in
profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ _F "~ " 4E=H =+—H IL4EE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED

Investment in associates — Continued

The Group assesses whether there is objective evidence that the
interest in an associate may be impaired. When any objective
evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount
(higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its
carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated
to any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying
amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss
is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest
in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in
profit or loss. When the Group retains an interest in the former
associate and the retained interest is a financial asset within the
scope of HKFRS 9, the Group measures the retained interest at
fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair
value on initial recognition. The difference between the carrying
amount of the associate and the fair value of any retained interest
and any proceeds from disposing of the relevant interest in the
associate is included in the determination of the gain or loss on
disposal of the associate. In addition, the Group accounts for all
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to that associate on the same basis as would be required
if that associate had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income by that associate would be reclassified to
profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the
Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as
a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the
relevant associate.

The Group continues to use the equity method when an investment
in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or
an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an
associate. There is no remeasurement to fair value upon such
changes in ownership interests.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE -F "4 =H=+—HIL4FHE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED

Investment in associates — Continued

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate
but the Group continues to use the equity method, the Group
reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that
had previously been recognised in other comprehensive income
relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group,
profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the associate
are recognised in the consolidated financial statements only to
the extent of interests in the associate that are not related to the
Group.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value, except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets
or financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss (“FVTPL"))
are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial
assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately
in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ _F "~ " 4E=H =+—H IL4EE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED

Financial instruments — Continued

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees
and points paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary
course of business are presented as revenue.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVTOCI"):

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting
contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (&t 4 M 4 W A #)

EREMHRBE-#&

CRMIAE-&
ERFEEDNFEVBEESIMBAEN
B 95 PR T 7 AR R R 5 ) B SR
BERXHAE BERFEREMBEER
MaENEGFHIBREHE (ER)
W TR RR S B R T R (R IEEK
BB A KA E D AT BT R B B FT B
BRARET RZIXAREMEERTER)
ERUBRAZRANTERBNREEME R
B 2 o

REAEERREBRENMNERAZT
R

HBEEE
HBEEEZ D BREETE
TR TIMRIFR TS B ERRIZEHAA

e

s RAMBEENEBRAMESAE
DENRERE &

s ANKFINBERHELTZAXM
AERAREEASOFIENRER

FETIGRENMHEERREIAEBRN

Hpzmiai ik ((RosERNEMER

Yoz 5 1)

s RAVBEENEBEAMBEA/RA
FHERERANRER R

s ANKBFINBTRHELTZAXM
AERAEEASOFENRER



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE -F "4 =H=+—HIL4FHE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED

Financial instruments — Continued

Financial assets — Continued

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets —
Continued

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that at the date of initial recognition of a financial asset
the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes
in fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is neither held for trading nor
contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

e it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in
the near term; or

e on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

e it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI
as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly
reduces an accounting mismatch.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ _F "~ " 4E=H =+—H IL4EE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED

Financial instruments — Continued

Financial assets — Continued

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets —
Continued

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below).
For financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning of
the reporting period following the determination that the asset
is no longer credit impaired.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit
loss (“ECL") model on financial assets (including trade and other
receivables, deposit, other assets and bank balances) which are
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of
ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit
risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE -F "4 =H=+—HIL4FHE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED

Financial instruments — Continued

Financial assets — Continued

Impairment of financial assets — Continued

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables. For
all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal
to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both
guantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

e  significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

e  existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ _F "~ " 4E=H =+—H IL4EE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED

Financial instruments — Continued

Financial assets — Continued

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Impairment of financial assets — Continued

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk — Continued

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

e an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in
credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the
debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in
full (without taking into account any collaterals held by the
Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES-
CONTINUED

Financial instruments — Continued

Financial assets — Continued

Impairment of financial assets — Continued

(iif)

(iv)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
of default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ _F "~ " 4E=H =+—H IL4EE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES-

CONTINUED

Financial instruments — Continued
Financial assets — Continued

Impairment of financial assets — Continued
(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given default
is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required
to make payments only in the event of a default by the
debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument that
is guaranteed. Accordingly, the ECL is the present value of
the expected payments to reimburse the holder for a credit
loss that it incurs less any amounts that the Group expects to
receive from the holder, the debtor or any other party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which the
effective interest rate cannot be determined, the Group
will apply a discount rate that reflects the current market
assessment of the time value of money and the risks that are
specific to the cash flows but only if, and to the extent that,
the risks are taken into account by adjusting the discount rate
instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls being discounted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE -F "4 =H=+—HIL4FHE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES-
CONTINUED
Financial instruments — Continued

Financial assets — Continued

Impairment of financial assets — Continued

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL — Continued

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception for trade and other receivables
where the corresponding adjustment is recognised through a
loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest
in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may
have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset,
the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and
also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ _F "~ " 4E=H =+—H IL4EE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED

Financial instruments — Continued

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, borrowings,
amounts due to related parties and amount due to the ultimate
holding company are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer
to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when
due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Financial
guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at their fair
values. It is subsequently measured at the higher of:

° the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance
with HKFRS 9; and

e the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised over the guarantee
period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE -F "4 =H=+—HIL4FHE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED

Financial instruments — Continued

Financial liabilities and equity — Continued

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Properties held for development

Properties held for development are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Net realisable value is determined by
reference to sale proceeds received after the end of the reporting
period less selling expenses, or by management estimates based
on prevailing market conditions.

Costs of properties include acquisition costs, development
expenditure, interest and other direct costs attributable to such
properties. The carrying values of properties held by subsidiaries
are adjusted in the consolidated financial statements to reflect the
Group’s actual acquisition costs where appropriate.

Properties held for development included in the current assets are
expected to be realised, or is intended for sales in the Group’s
normal operation cycle.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit or loss before tax because
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit.

EXRERRBE-#&

ERMIR-&

HHBERER R - &

RIUBERYERE
EHEEAKENRBHRER  BUEHE
Hey - ARET R IRV BAE R
R BRBEZRAEECE N RENKE
ZEBRBDTER

BIERREYF
RERRNEGURAERER FEZR
EEFIR - ERFEDREBERFEHRER
HERMBHEER ZMEREMHER
FA{E 2 REBRF AR TR E ©

MERRBEBARS  ZFRITREMX
MEREGWEERER WEBLARKANE
ZEEEE AEGAMBRRAEER
BB NBRTAEEBAZEENRAK -

ERERDEENRKIFERYEENEE
AEENERLERPNSREBEIHIE
HE -

BiE
FIEHASRREAIENHRERELERE
KB o

AR 2 BB TR SRR -
R B A MR B R AT B 2 A
M%ER RBARMATTMBZER -
A4 e R B3 B2 A P AR T
1R - A EE R A BRI 2 B R
ERERMRL L AEERARE 2B
EEHE -

BEERBENRGRMBEHRRZEERAR

AR B M st BB AR B M P 6E A FE I &
mE R ZEMER

Annual Report 2022 AEH

119



120

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i

8 B % & & B =

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ _F "~ " 4E=H =+—H IL4EE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED

Taxation — Continued

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than
in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In
addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences
and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE -F "4 =H=+—HIL4FHE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED

Taxation — Continued

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be recovered
entirely through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted.
The presumption is rebutted when the investment property is
depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective
is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied
in the investment property over time, rather than through sale,
except for freehold land, which is always presumed to be
recovered entirely through sale.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied the same
taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.

Borrowing costs
All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i

8 B % & & B =

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ _F "~ " 4E=H =+—H IL4EE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is
probable that the Group will be required to settle that obligation,
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using
the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (where
the effect of the time value of money is material).

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to
the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct
goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of
the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria
is met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

e the Group’s performance creates and enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group performs; or

e the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE _-F " "4 =H=+—HIL4FK

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED

Revenue from contracts with customers — Continued

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services to a
customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its promise
is a performance obligation to provide the specified goods or
services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to arrange for those
goods or services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the Group
is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or service
before that good or service is transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange
for the provision of the specified good or service by another party.
In this case, the Group does not control the specified good or
service provided by another party before that good or service is
transferred to the customer. When the Group acts as an agent,
it recognises revenue in the amount of any fee or commission to
which it expects to be entitled in exchange for arranging for the
specified goods or services to be provided by the other party.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business
combinations on or after the date of initial application of HKFRS16,
the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease
based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification
date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
lease office that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain purchase option. Lease
payments on short-term leases are recognised as expense on a
straight-line basis or another systematic basis over the lease term.

Refundable rental deposits
Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments and initially measured at fair value.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ _F "~ " 4E=H =+—H IL4EE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED

Leases — Continued

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.

Rental income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary course
of business are presented as revenue.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments from lessees.

Lease modification

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a
new lease from the effective date of the modification, considering
any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the original
lease as part of the lease payments for the new lease.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs and termination benefits

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when
employees rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits
are recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or
permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after
deducting any amount already paid.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (&t 4 M 4 W A #)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE -F "4 =H=+—HIL4FHE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that
the Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire
non-current assets are recognised as deferred income in the
consolidated statement of financial position and transferred to
profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful
lives of the related assets.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable. Such grants are presented under
“other revenue”.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional currency
of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of
exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end
of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the
date when the fair value was determined. Nonmonetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise.

EREMURBE-&
ﬁﬁﬁ%

EAREREAEERETHRME Z
W%Mﬁﬁ%%ﬂ@%zh/~ﬁéﬁm
BT B -

BRIFHBR A S EREREBHBREHE
MBERA S HHRA R E s iR
AEME  TERE/ERLAEEEE -
REXATUEFRDEEZRFHER
FEMBEMRARTRIA/ETKA LR
HBEECAERFHABRRRAEN
BRERR -

o

EREELRAXNIBRZBEXARAAR
Bt AR RN ERERAYERK
HE B AR 2 M A R A TR AT A6 B A L R T U
BRI RS R - BB DI Efit
g e

oM

REAEENEEER ZMBEHRRE - A
ZERINEEHININ 2 G (OME) BT L
RHVERHGEAZEXRBE AR - R
BHR MINEFHEZERRB KRS
RZEREHBLE - LINEFERRIAE
MR HFERRARBEEAAEEAZE
REHMBE MUNEZELKAGEZ
FEBBEANTENARE

H

BEERHERENBREGEHEBERE
iZER%ﬁF?%%ﬁEE & AR

Annual Report 2022 AEH

125



126

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i

8 B % & & B =

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ _F "~ " 4E=H =+—H IL4EE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED

Foreign currencies — Continued

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e.
HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expenses items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during that period, in which case the exchange
rates at the date of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of “Translation reserve”
(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in Note 3, the Directors are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
The Directors have not come across any significant areas where
critical judgments are involved in applying the Group’s accounting
policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE -F "4 =H=+—HIL4FHE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY — CONTINUED
Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,

and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of

the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing

a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and

liabilities within the next financial year.

(a)

Income tax and deferred tax

The Group is subject to income tax in Macau. Judgement
is required in determining the amount of the provision
for taxation and the timing of payment of the related
taxations. There are many transactions and calculations for
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. Where the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the income
tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary differences
and tax losses are recognised when management considers
to be probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences or tax losses can
be utilised. The outcome of their actual utilisation may be
different.

The realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly depends
on whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary
differences will be available in the future, which is a key
source of estimation uncertainty especially in the current
year given the significant uncertainty on how the Covid-19
pandemic may progress and evolve. In cases where the
actual future taxable profits generated are less or more than
expected, or change in facts and circumstances which result
in revision of future taxable profits estimation, a material
reversal or further recognition of deferred tax assets may
arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss for the
period in which such a reversal or further recognition takes
place.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ _F "~ " 4E=H =+—H IL4EE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES

OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY — CONTINUED

Key sources of estimation uncertainty — Continued

(b) Estimation of fair value of investment properties
Investment properties are stated at fair value based on the
valuation performed by independent professional valuers. The
determination of the fair value involves certain assumptions of
market conditions which are set out in Note 15.

In relying on the valuation report, the Directors have
exercised their judgement and are satisfied that the
method of valuation is reflective of the current market
conditions. Whilst the Group’s investment properties are the
best estimates, the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic has resulted
in greater market volatility depending on how the COVID-19
pandemic may progress and evolve, which have led to higher
degree of uncertainties in respect of the valuations in the
current year. Changes to these assumptions, including the
potential risk of any market violation, policy, geopolitical and
social changes or other unexpected incidents as a result of
change in macroeconomic environment, travel restrictions
implemented by many countries, increased complexity in
international trade tensions geopolitics, changes in policy
direction and/or mortgage requirements, or other unexpected
incidents would result in changes in the fair values of the
Group's investment properties and the corresponding
adjustments to the amount of gain or loss reported in the
consolidated income statement.

The Directors have performed internal assessment on the
risks of change in macroeconomic environment through
performing sensitivity analysis in relating to the Group'’s
investment properties.

As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amount of the Group’s

investment properties is HK$1,622,100,000 (2021:
HK$1,601,100,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE -F "4 =H=+—HIL4FHE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES

OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY — CONTINUED

Key sources of estimation uncertainty — Continued

(c) Provision of ECL for interest bearing receivables from loan
and margin financing
The Group makes impairment loss based on an assessment
of the recoverability of interest bearing receivables from loan
and margin financing. In determining whether impairment loss
on receivables is required, the Group takes into consideration
the current creditworthiness, the past collection history, age
status and likelihood of collection. Allowance for credit losses
is only made for receivables that are unlikely to be collected
and is recognised on the difference between the estimated
future cash flow expected to receive discounted using the
original effective interest rate and its carrying amount. If the
financial conditions of customers or debtors of the Group
were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability
to make payments, additional allowance may be required.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group’s interest bearing
receivables from loan and margin financing are disclosed in
Note 29.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #&E R - 4= =+ — H IL4ESE

5. REVENUE

(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers

6
() FFENWZAH

2022 2021
—E-C —E-—F
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Types of goods or services 2 Sk AR S Ay A 2
Broking &a
Commission and brokerage income BHEREZ2HERELAE
from securities broking WA 6,522 9,393
Commission and brokerage income HELL s Re k&L Rle
from futures broking WA 335 599
Management and handling fees EREFEE 1,483 1,387
8,340 11,379
Corporate finance TERE
Commission for subscribing new shares ~ REHRKES 4 17
Placement and underwriting commission  FR& R @A S 1,886 854
Advisory fee HAE 1,286 205
3,176 1,076
Assets management S EEE
Investment management fee KEERE 1,735 1,621
Precious metal trading E¢BEE
Services fee in relation to precious EHRECBZIRBE
metal 428 298
Total revenue from contracts with EFEHNBNE
customers 13,679 14,374
Timing of revenue recognition Uy 55 7 5T Y B RS 1
At a point in time RE—BZ 13,679 14,374
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE -F "4 =H=+—HIL4FHE

5. REVENUE - CONTINUED 5. W& -#&
(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers () BEFEHWZPM-Z
— Continued
Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue of contracts ITINEEEHONGEEHE— I HE
with customers with the amounts disclosed in the segment 27
information:
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
FTERT FHET
Broking 8 8,340 11,379
Corporate finance TEBRE 3,176 1,076
Assets management EEEE 1,735 1,621
Precious metal trading ESBEE 428 298
Revenue from contracts with customers & F & &z 13,679 14,374
Properties investment FEHERE
Leases HE 28,757 27,075
Financing 8%
Interest under effective interest method EBRFEEZTHHE
— Margin clients —-HEREP 8,646 7,002
- Money lending —EFmE 73,014 66,499
- Financial institutions and others — B TS MRS I L SRR 2,915 4,271
84,575 77,772
Total revenue Fll g 127,011 119,221
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #&E R - 4= =+ — H IL4ESE

5%

REVENUE - CONTINUED

(i)

(iii)

Performance obligations for contracts with customers
Provision of trading services

The Group provides broking and dealing services for
securities, futures, options contracts and precious metal.
Commission income, brokerage income and service fee is
recognised at a point in time on the execution date of the
trades at a certain percentage of the transaction value of
the trades executed. Management and handling income is
recognised when the transaction is executed and service is
completed.

Provision of assets management and advisory services

The Group provides asset management and advisory services
to customers. The Group recognise the revenue over time
or at a point in time when the services are rendered in
accordance with contract terms. Asset management fee
income is charged at a fixed percentage per month of the net
asset value of the managed accounts under management of
the Group.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligation for contracts with customers

All revenue contracts are for the period of one year or less. As
permitted by HKFRS15, the transaction price allocated to
these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (&t 4 M 4 W A #)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mo H® X K

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE -F "4 =H=+—HIL4FHE

= a

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. ZHEHHER
Operating segment information: 2ESHER

(i)

Reportable operating segments () EHEELZ

Information reported to the Directors, being the chief
operating decision maker ("CODM"), for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance
focuses on types of goods or services delivered or provided.
No operating segments have been aggregated in arriving at

RERE]D))

the reportable segments of the Group.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable segments under HKFRS 8 AEEmE

are as follows:

Reportable operating segments are as follows:

Broking

S

Financing

%

Corporate finance
PEBE

Assets management

BEEH

Properties investment
FHERE

Precious metal trading
E¢BEE
Investment holding

R A

Securities brokerage and futures brokerage
BERRIHERRE

Securities margin financing and money lending
BEHRRENESAE

Corporate finance advisory, placing and underwriting
rERBEER  REKREHE

Assets management for listed and unlisted companies and high net worth
individuals
RETRELTRAARSEEFEZAREEESR
Properties rental, management and related business
FHEEE EEREBER

Precious metal trading

E¢BEE

Share investment

B RE

Annual Report 2022 AEH
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #&E R - 4= =+ — H IL4ESE

6.

M B O® R M

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION — CONTINUED 6.
Operating segment information: — Continued
(i) Reportable operating segments — Continued

An analysis of segment revenue and results of the Group on
these reportable operating segments for the years ended 31

March 2022 and 2021 is as follows:

BHREES - E
AEARZSERLESITREE
E-FER-FE-_—E=fA=+
HEEZDHREREESNMAT :

2022 2021
—E-C —E-—F
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
FTET FAT
Segment revenue 7 B s
Broking w~a 8,340 11,379
Financing B 7% 84,575 77,772
Corporate finance PERE 3,176 1,076
Assets management BEEE 1,735 1,621
Properties investment FHERE 28,757 27,075
Precious metal trading E2EBEE 428 298
127,011 119,221
2022 2021
—E-= B
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
TET FAT
Segment results DEEE
Broking LSS (2,809) 243
Financing 815 54,598 48,772
Corporate finance TEBE 3,120 1,043
Assets management EEEE 659 83
Properties investment BEiERSE 24,967 23,847
Precious metal trading ESBEE (343) (611)
80,192 73,377
Net increase (decrease) in fair value of KEYMERNREZFEE
investment properties CRE) 21,000 (40,900)
Other revenue H o e 513 2,386
Share of results of an associate JEIGEE =N R 2 £ (4,255) 22,486
Profit before taxation I % 5 0 A 97,450 57,349

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group's accounting policies described in Note
3. Segment results represents the profit earned by (loss from)
each segment without allocation of certain other revenue, net
increase (decrease) in fair value of investment properties and
share of results of an associate. This is the measure reported
to the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and

performance assessment.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (&t 4 M 4 W A #)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION — CONTINUED
Operating segment information: — Continued

(i)

Reportable operating segments — Continued

,ﬁwi\

a8

¥ Ow xR KM O

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE _-F " "4 =H=+—HIL4FK

An analysis of segment assets and liabilities of the Group on

these reportable operating segments as at 31 March 2022

and 2021 is as follows:

Segment

assets/liabilities

Interests in an associate

Ha
o

EESE - B
AEERZEEREBEN BN
ZZERZEZ—F=A=+—H
DHEERBESTET :

N

Unallocated

corporate assets/liabilities Consolidated

AREE/LE REEDFAER THBLEEE/BR &a
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
ZE-ZF -“E--% B -E--f CZEBC-ZE -E--F ZEBEIZE C-E--F
HKS' 000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT T THT TR THT TR ThT TR
Assets 88
Broking &4 157,265 376,539 - = - = 157,265 376,539
Financing g 939705 883945 - = o - 939705 833945
Assets management BEER 1,801 1123 - - - - 1,801 1,123
Properties investment EHERE 1695022 161933 58,135 50,852 = - 1693157 167918
Precious metal trading ECEER 367,931 398,925 - - - - 367,931 398,925
Investment holding REZR 132,011 132,011 - - - = 132,011 132,011
Inter-segment elimination AREEH (3,152) (10,747) - - - - (3,152) (10,747)
Unallocated AR = = = = 4,257 7,299 4,257 7,299
Consolidated A 3,230,583 3,401,130 58,135 59,862 4,257 729 3292975 3,468,281
Liabilities &
Broking ag 105,013 329,030 - - - = 105,013 329,030
Financing B 6,805 13,2686 = - - - 6,805 13,286
Assets management BEEE 54 67 - - - - 54 67
Properfes investment EHERE 219394 189949 - - - - 219304 189949
Precious metal trading E4EEE 7,825 11,924 - - - - 7,825 11,924
Investment holding RERR 7 73 - - - - 73 73
Inter-segment elimination AHEEH (3,152) (10,747) o - = - (3,152) (10,747)
Unallocated AAR = - = = 238,462 278,906 238,462 278,906
Consolidated A 336,012 533,582 - = 238,462 278,906 574,474 812,488
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ _F "~ " 4E=H =+—H IL4EE

6. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION - CONTINUED

Operating segment information: — Continued %Lﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂ - &
(i) Reportable operating segments — Continued (i) zﬁfé‘@ a8 -

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and FPRBEMED B 2BAEE

allocating resources between segments: /ﬁﬁﬁ = -

e All assets are allocated to operating segments other o FBBENNREZEDI({E
than certain corporate assets for central administrative RRTHAGRZE TOEEER
purpose; and a8 R

o All liabilities are allocated to operating segments other e MEBENNARMEZLED I (&
than borrowings and certain other payables. FE T H e FRIBRR SN ©

Impairment loss under
expected credit loss model,
Capital expenditure Depreciation net of reversal Finance cost
RREERBEAET
BREX HEFE NRED HERE
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
_2-_"f -E--% C-E-_-_f -E--f CZB-__F _-E--% C-E__E CZ--f
HKS' 000 HK$'000 HKS' 000 HK$'000 HKS' 000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
Tén ThL Tén Th Tén Thr Tén ThL

Other segment information ~ 1A EEH

Broking N 49 = 50 61 - - - -

Financing B 3 - 1 - 16,744 13,176 = -

Assets management BEER = 7 1 1 = - = -

Properties investment FHERE - - 2 2 - - - -

Precious metal trading RSEBEE - Pl 4 2 - - 121 145

Unallocated AP - 7 2 1 - - 3574 6212

Consolidated Fa 82 38 80 87 16744 13,176 3,695 6,357
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE _-F " "4 =H=+—HIL4FK

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION — CONTINUED
Operating segment information: — Continued

(ii)

(iii)

Geographical information

The Group’s operations are principally located in Hong Kong,
Macau and the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). The
Group’s administration is carried out in Hong Kong.

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s
revenue from external customers by geographical market and
analysis of non-current assets by the geographical location in
which assets are located other than financial instruments and
deferred tax assets.

(i) HEEF

AEEZEETIZMUNER  RFR
REARANBE(HE]) - FEEZ
TBRHAREBET -

TREHASERETSZINBE
P n i RiZ% B E R E 2 3F
RBEEDN (ERMTARELH A
BERI) °

Revenue from external

customers Non-current assets
RENMBEE 2 Wz FRBEE

2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-C —E-—F Z—ZE-__ —E-—%F
HK$’ 000 HK$'000 HK$’ 000 HK$'000
TET FBT TET FHBT
Hong Kong E 96,611 90,183 2,461 2,436
Macau i 30,400 29,038 1,622,620 1,601,643
The PRC o = = 58,135 59,852
127,011 119,221 1,683,216 1,663,931

Information about major customers

The Group’s five largest customers accounted for in
aggregate approximately 38% (2021: 32%) of the Group's
revenue.

The revenue from customers individually contributing over
10% of the total revenue of the Group for the respective
reporting periods are as follow:

(i) TEEFEH

REBRAREFAKERERKRZY
38% (ZE=—4 :32%) ©

RBERR  E—FP KRG AEE
HUTRI0%IA LT

2022 2021
—EC-CF —E—fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Contributed from financing segment KRB ED
Customer A ZEA 16,537 16,269
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ _F "~ " 4E=H =+—H IL4EE

7. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED CREDIT LOSS 7. EHREEFEERRXETZRAESE
MODEL, NET OF REVERSAL R 3% m]
2022 2021
—ECCE —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Impairment losses recognised (reversed) on: E R EEE (B D) :
— interest-bearing receivables — st B EIA 12,536 15,568
- margin financing receivables —HFR#EEYKHE 4,208 (2,392)
16,744 13,176
Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 29(b)(i). ARG Z BRI EE29(b)(i) °
8. FINANCE COSTS 8. REMAK
2022 2021
—E-CFE —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET FTAT
Interest on: IATIERZFIE -
— bank borrowings —RITER 3,574 6,212
— other borrowings —HhExR 121 145
3,695 6,357

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (& £ [ B A w)
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE -F "4 =H=+—HIL4FHE

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

Profit before taxation has been arrived at after charging (crediting)

the followings:

BRFL A& R

BRE A& IS NE (FEA) THIRIE

2022 2021
—ECCE B
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET T
Auditors’ remuneration Z BB
— Audit fee —®:tER 650 752
Staff cost (including directors’ emolument EIXA(BREEME
(Note 10)) (K5£10))
— Salaries, bonuses and other benefits —H& EAREMET 15,027 16,131
— Contributions to retirement schemes —RIRETE] 2 3R 444 453
Total staff cost BTN 15,471 16,584
Depreciation on property, FE-—ME KRR EE
plant and equipment 80 87
Expenses relating to short-term leases RHEEREEER 1,120 1,120
Gross rental income from investment BREMENBES KA
properties (28,757) (27,075)
Less: Bk :
Direct operating expenses incurred for BRENEERSMANEKENZE
investment properties that generated PG BERLEERX
rental income during the year 2,700 2,007
(26,057) (25,068)
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #&E R - 4= =+ — H IL4ESE

10. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
REMUNERATION

10. ESRSREEEMS

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emolument (a) EBZRFETHAEMNE
Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for the year, BiEEA EMRANEB R ARG
disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and the BZENEEZRFTETHABHHH
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows: BT
Basic
salaries,
housing
benefits, Discretionary
other bonuses
allowances and/or
and Contributions performance
benefits to retirement - related
Fees in kind schemes bonuses Total
HEXEe
EERA BEEA
HipizE R ReRGE R/5
we BUR e BHRA st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000 HK$’000
TERL TR THER THERL THET
Year ended 31 March 2022 BE-E-CF
ZAZt-HLEE
Non-executive directors: FHTEE
Mr. Ip Man Tin, David EERLE 50 - - - 50
Dr. Sze Ping Fat BMEBL 50 - - - 50
Executive directors: BHTEE .
Ms. Cheng Wai Ling, Annie BER/ME - 441 40 19 500
Mr. Cheng Wai Lun, Andrew BEfmtE - 256 26 19 301
Mr. Mok Kwai Hang REERE - 1,452 36 61 1,549
Independent non-executive directors: BV HEHTEE .
Mr. Chan Chung Yee, Alan BREfE 50 - - - 50
Mr. Poon Kai Tik ARBEE 50 - - - 50
Mr. Hui Man Ho, Ivan AR 50 - - - 50
250 2,149 102 99 2,600
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ & " " 4E=H =+—H IL4E)F

10. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 10. ESREREEEHE-&
REMUNERATION - CONTINUED
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emolument — Continued (a) EBRFETHAEMES -&
Basic
salaries,
housing
benefits, Discretionary
other bonuses
allowances and/or

and Contributions  performance

benefits  to retirement - related

Fees in kind schemes bonuses Total
BERT KL
B8R RINGE R/%

ve BN 558 Eyia @&t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT AL Tin TEn TAT

Year ended 31 March 2021 HE-E2--F

ZA=t-HIEE
Non-executive directors: HHTEE
Mr. Ip Man Tin, David ERREE 50 - - - 50
Dr. Sze Ping Fat HEREBLT 50 - - - 50
Executive directors: HiTEZE:
Ms. Cheng Wai Ling, Annie BER/ME - 815 25 19 859
Mr. Cheng Wai Lun, Andrew BEfREE - 259 13 19 291
Mr. Mok Kwai Hang REEEE - 1,363 12 61 1,436

Independent non-executive directors: BV FHTEE -

Mr. Chan Chung Yee, Alan BRELE 50 - - - 50
Mr. Poon Kai Tik BREEE 50 = = = 50
Mr. Hui Man Ho, Ivan AR E 50 = = = 50

250 2437 50 99 2,836
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ _F "~ " 4E=H =+—H IL4EE

10.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
REMUNERATION - CONTINUED

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emolument — Continued
The non-executive directors' emoluments shown above were

for their services rendered as directors of the Company.

The executive directors' emoluments shown above were for
their services rendered in connection with the management of

the affairs of the Company and its subsidiaries.

The independent non-executive directors' emoluments shown
above were for their services rendered as directors of the

Company.

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief
executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during

the year.

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as

compensation for loss for office.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ &t 4 45 R 2 #)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= 8 B B | R KM &

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE -F "4 =H=+—HIL4FHE

10. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 10. ESREREEENE - &
REMUNERATION - CONTINUED
(b) Details of emoluments of the five highest paid individuals (b) ZEHZSFMALZMEFE:
are:

For the year ended 31 March 2022, one (2021: two) of the
five highest paid individuals was executive director of the

i

 E_T-__F=-ZA=+—HLHF
T REmRRTMATER B (ZE
—F WB) BARRHITES &
% 2B B =R HTEE10(a) ©

St

Company, whose emoluments are included in Note 10(a).

48 ]

Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining

BB (ZTEZ—F: =&)X

N
/)

four (2021: three) highest paid employees who are neither a RAEENIETETBABZERH
director nor chief executive of the Company are as follows: MEE Z&MzE15mT :
2022 2021
—EC-CF —E—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTET FHET
Basic salaries EX#Fe 2,527 2,025
Contribution to retirement benefits RIRGT IR 144 54
Discretionary bonuses and/or BB TEAT &/ SREB AEAT
performance-related bonuses 125 125
2,796 2,204
The number of the highest paid employees who are not the TEBRESEFHEUTEEN RS
Directors whose remuneration fell within the following bands HMATHAZDT :
is as follows:
2022 2021
—E-CFE —E-—F
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £%1,000,0008 7T 4 3
During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, no HE_E-_—_FR-_ZT=-_—%=A
emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest paid =t+—HALtEE AEBTRAASA
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group SasMALTYNEMNMNE - EAR
or as compensation for loss for office. S EMB R IMBAREE R 2 BE) K
TERBERARIE
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ _F "~ " 4E=H =+—H IL4EE

1,

12.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The basic earnings per share is based on the Group’s profit
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$87,036,000 (2021: HK$46,227,000) and the number of
2,682,316,758 (2021: 2,682,316,758) ordinary shares in issue
during the year.

No diluted earnings per share for both 2022 and 2021 were

presented as there were no potential ordinary shares in issue for
both years ended 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2021.

INCOME TAX EXPENSES

11.

BRIEF
BREXGEFNIRERAAR KA AEN
7K £ B8] 3% 1 4987,036,0008 50 (=T = —
F 146,227,000 ) R AFEE BT
B 2,682,316, 758 (T — —F :
2,682,316,758/%) 5t & -

HREEZZ-_—_F=A=+—HK=Z
T FZA=Zt-HALRAFEHLEE
FEBETTER ARTEZ) T
ERZZ-—F2ERHBHRF -

12. FIEHBX

2022 2021
—EC- & —T_—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET TAT

Hong Kong profits tax: BEMEH
— current year —ANEE 11,154 10,513
— (over) under provision in prior year —HEE (BF) T2EE (3) 4
Deferred tax (Note 22) BIERIE (FMsE22) (694) 394
10,457 10,911
Overseas tax expenses — Macau B AU INGIE — R - 250
10,457 11,161

The Group is subjected to income tax on an entity basis on profits
arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which subsidiaries
of the Group are domiciled and operate. Pursuant to the rules
and regulations of the Cayman Islands and BVI, the Group is not
subject to any income tax in the Cayman Islands and BVI.

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2021: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong
Kong during the year, except for certain subsidiaries of the Group
which is qualifying entity under the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime of Hong Kong Profit Tax, under which the first HK$2 million
of profit of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25% and
profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (&t 4 M 4 W A #)
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12.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INCOME TAX EXPENSES - CONTINUED
Macau Complementary Tax is calculated at 12% of the assessable
profit, however, there are no assessment profit in Macau for the

years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions in which the Group operates
is calculated on the estimated assessable profits for the year at the
rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

Fia 8

8 B B &, x W =

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE -F "4 =H=+—HIL4FHE

12. FBHiRAX -
RFIFE %ﬁ}f%ﬁ&)‘&“%%ﬁiﬁﬁ‘JEﬁ12%§+%'
HBE_T__FR_FT_—F=A=t—
A FEFORPIY & ERBORF -

ARBEHEMBRARREEMEL Z KA
To DA SE A 51 J oR 750 0 i U AR 9 4 B B0

BRERERIHEGE -

Income tax expenses for the year can be reconciled to the profit AREEMERFEZJEGE KGR 2B
before taxation per the consolidated income statement as follows: ﬁﬁiﬁ?’iﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁﬂ? :
2022 2021
—EC-CF T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Profit before taxation BR 7 A1 4 A 97,450 57,349
Tax at the applicable income tax rate of ERAVBEERMERZ
respective tax jurisdictions PG = 13,983 12,236
Tax effect of net (increase) decrease in fair REWMER R EZF (1) BIEH
value of investment properties M E (2,520) 4,908
Tax effect of non-taxable income TR W72 (3,891) (10,078)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses TEMR 2 AT MRS E 3,558 2,845
Tax effect of unrecognised temporary RERH TR EENTKTE
differences - 8
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERZBBEENTLEE 230 1,686
Utilisation of tax losses previously not AR ERERTBER
recognised (870) (416)
(Over) Under provision in prior year NEEE (8% TRiE (3) 2
Tax reduction FIBE R (30) (30)
Income tax expenses Frisfif X 10,457 11,161
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ _F "~ " 4E=H =+—H IL4EE

13. PROPOSED FINAL DIVIDEND 13. BRARHKRE
2022 2021
—E-CFE —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FTAT
Proposed final dividend - HK2.0 cents BORAREARR B — B A%2.078 1l

(2021: HK1.0 cent) per share (ZZ2=—F : 1.081) 53,646 26,823

Note: B e

A proposed final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 2022 of
HK2.0 cents per share (2021: HK1.0 cent per share) was proposed at the
board meeting on 24 June 2022, totalling approximately HK$53,646,000
(2021: HK$26,823,000), subject to the approval of the Company’s
shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (& £ [ B A w)

HE-_Z-_—_E-A=-+-HLEENEEX
HRERER20BI(ZZ=—F : BR1.08
i) BR-ZZE-—F A-tHNENEZSS
ZLEZRE 854 R53,646,0008 T (ZF
——% 126,823,000 ) ' WAFARAIRE
REERFBERE LBLE  HAEE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= & B B | x KM &

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE _-F " "4 =H=+—HIL4FK

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y% HBERFZE
Leasehold Furniture,
land and fixtures and Motor
buildings  equipment vehicles Total
HEL# KA HEBE
kEF BT "E iz
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
THT THET FTET THET
Net carrying amount as RZZZZFMNA—-HZ
at 1 April 2020 agmfa 822 166 - 988
Additions NE = 38 - 38
Depreciation nE (20) (67) = (87)
Net carrying amount as R-_E-—®#=ZA=+—A2
at 31 March 2021 RERE 802 137 - 939
At 31 March 2021 R-_B_—-%=A=+—H
Cost B 1,162 6,528 1,381 9,071
Accumulated depreciation ZRENE (360) (6,391) (1,381) (8,132)
Net carrying amount REFE 802 137 - 939
Net carrying amountasat R=-ZFE-—FMF—-HZ
1 April 2021 EEE@TE 802 137 - 939
Additions NE - 82 - 82
Depreciation nE (20) (60) - (80)
Net carrying amountasat WR-ZE-_F=A=+-HZ
31 March 2022 SREFE 782 159 - 941
At 31 March 2022 R-ZB-ZZ£=Zf=+—H
Cost B AR 1,162 6,610 1,381 9,153
Accumulated depreciation =~ REFE (380) (6,451) (1,381) (8,212)
Net carrying amount REFE 782 159 - 941

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:
Leasehold land and buildings Over the remaining terms
of the leases
15% to 30%
15% to 30%

Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Motor vehicles

Note:

The leasehold land and buildings are situated in Macau and Hong Kong.
The Group is the registered owner of these property interests, including
the underlying leasehold lands. Lump sum payments were made upfront to
acquire these property interests. The leasehold land components of these
owned properties are presented separately only if the payments made can
be allocated reliably.

W& Ty iR ELfib 5 A6 R 4 A DA B 4R0% M8
BENE BEREHEBEEZKAZEER
HREEFE -RUEMSABZEEFEN
T

BELRES RROTSBR

®E -
/“Lﬁ

PR -

(] 15% - 30%
15% — 30%

KER

iz

METHERBTFUNBMIREE - AEEAZE
WERER (BEEEEE L) WEMEE - 27
ﬁ FTENRBZEME RS © EMRTH
BReAT EAENBERT ZEBAENENE
iﬂﬂ%ﬂﬁkaﬁ D77 A BEFIR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ _F "~ " 4E=H =+—H IL4EE

15.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES BREWHE
2022 2021
B8 —E_—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET TAT
Fair value: AR
At 1 April R A— 1,601,100 1,642,000
Net increase (decrease) in fair value ’AJ’ﬂEZ@i‘T (RE)
recognised in the consolidated ERGRAE W= R ER
income statement 21,000 (40,900)
At 31 March R=A=+—H 1,622,100 1,601,100
Unrealised gain (loss) on property MEGEFAERZ
valuation included in profit or loss KERWm (BE) 21,000 (40,900)

The Group leases out shops and carpark under operating leases
with rentals payable monthly. The leases typically run for an initial
period of one to twenty years (2021: one to twenty years), with
unilateral rights to extend the lease beyond initial period held by
lessees only. Certain of the lease contracts contain market review
clauses in the event the lessee exercises the option to extend.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of
the lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in the
respective functional currencies of group entities. The lease
contracts do not contain residual value guarantee and/or lessee's
option to purchase the property at the end of lease term.

The Group’s investment properties are held for rental purpose and
classified and accounted for as investment properties. The Group’s
investment properties are situated in Macau and are held under
medium-term lease.

The Group has pledged certain of its investment properties with
an aggregate carrying value of approximately HK$1,386,100,000
(2021: HK$1,394,100,000) to a bank to secure general banking
facilities granted to the Group (Note 23).

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (&t 4 M 4 W A #)

AEEAMCERER XM LR REEN
m&HRAZN HELBVH-—RA
F0F (ZE=—F 1220%F) ' RAAME
AEBAETEENREREERAER
BA - ETHHESGHNEEMSERBEXK
(fEABATRERBERER)

RRNAMBEHESNEEEESBNEER
HAE BAKEYERNBE RN @R
SMERB - HEANYTEEFHREER
B/ REBARBRERGEEYED
EEE-

AEEREMENLBERENTE A H
BRERRENE AEEZREMENM
RORF R AR HHEOEE

AKECERAETREMET —MRTE
BAREBERE—MIRT ’%ﬂﬁz#ﬁ#ﬁua ,
H 4 REE % A1,386,100,0005% 7T (=
— —% 1 1,394,100,000/ T ) (ﬂﬁaﬂs)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ & " " 4E=H =+—H IL4E)F

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES - CONTINUED

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31 March
2022 and 31 March 2021 has been arrived at on the basis of
a valuation carried out at the end of the reporting date by LCH
(Asia-Pacific) Surveyors Limited, an independent professional
qualified valuer not connected to the Group.

The Directors determine the appropriate valuation techniques and
inputs for fair value measurement.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best
use of the properties is their current use. The fair values of certain
investment properties have been adjusted to exclude prepaid or
accrued operating lease income to avoid double counting.

15. REW*E -

$$lﬂf2::¢zﬂz+—5&:§
Z—F=R=THZEEVMENDR
TIREFERITRHEMARAR (REAEE
WEBENBELEXESBRGERM) NRSE
HIRAT#E 1T 2 BEF A EEE -

EXETRBENBEN ARG EAAEN
BAZE -

%%ZQﬁﬁﬁ’ﬁ@%%Z%ﬁ&m
ERENREERNRE ETRENEN
DREETHE T8 %ﬁﬁ%%#m“
BEKRA  UeBEHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ _F "~ " 4E=H =+—H IL4EE

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES - CONTINUED

15. REME-&

Relationship of
Range unobservable
Significant e inputs to fair value
Valuation techniques unobservable inputs 2022 021 AUBERHALES
hER % EXTTBERARE St ZFC-F DRENEE
Commercial properties Income capitalisation approach
BRYE VoS- Ly e
- shops Capitalisation rate, taking into 1.4-3.4% 1.4-34%  Aslight increase in the
2022: approximately account the capitalisation of capitalisation rate used
HK$1,311,900,000 potential rental income, nature would result in a significant
2021: approximately of the property, and prevailing decrease in fair value, and
HK$1,320,400,000 market condition. vice versa.
L] ANl A RERREUAR 1.4-3.4% 1434%  HRARLEREGEIN L
i Sk Al DERERERDR - fERR - R
#11,311,900,000 70
-
#11,320,400,000 70
Monthly market rent, taking into HK$9-90 HK$9-90 A significant increase in the
account the differences in per square foot ~ per square foot  market rent used would result
location, and individual factors, and month and month in a significant increase in fair
such as frontage and size, value, and vice versa.
between the comparables and
the property.
FAMAHS FRBHEER I BREYAR  EASYIR HRATSHELAEESHLAE
Ry anangzBn@EiR 9-907 7T 90T KB R

Z NINEEARRAR

Market unit rate, taking into HK$4,861- 46,486

account the recent transaction per square foot
prices for similar properties and month
adjusted for nature, location
and conditions of the property.

Efiif - s REBRUNENHR §REYAR

HERGURIEE SHRESR
fEtiE) -

4,861-46,486}% T

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ &t 4 45 R 2 #)

HK$5,335- 45,178
per square foot
and month

BABEAR
5,335-45,1787 ¢

A significant increase in the
market unit rate used would
result in a significant increase
in fair value, and vice versa.

ARENDEAEEERAAE
K& R
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES — CONTINUED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE -F "4 =H=+—HIL4FHE

15. RENE - &

Relationship of
Range unohservable
Significant ] inputs to fair value
Valuation techniques unobservable inputs 2022 021 AuERGAHER
fiER%E EXTUBRERAUR “BCCF IR DRENEE
- carparking Capitalisation rate, taking into 2.0%-2.8% 1.8%  Aslight increase in the
2022: approximately account the capitalisation of capitalisation rate used
HK$74,200,000 rental income, nature of the would result in a significant
2021: approximately property and prevailing market decrease in fair value, and
HK$73,700,000 conditions. vice versa.
- Bfi ERERE G RESUARA 2.0%-2.8% 18% MAEAHLEREGEHLL
it Je 3 ft NEUEERERTR - ERY R2H
474,200,000 7
“E--F:
473,700,000 T
Monthly market rent, taking into HK$610-5,050 HK$610-5,050 A significant increase in the

account the differences in
location, and individual factors,
such as frontage and size,
between the comparables and
the property.

GATHES FRBEER U BABEM
RAsEmEnz 2 e fEsE 610-5,0505 7
Z fINEEARRAERE-

Market unit rate, taking into
account the recent transaction
prices for similar properties
adjusted for nature, location
and conditions of the property.

Bl - st RABEUNES
RHER(ENRNE  HER
RAELEE) -

- Private Car HK$1,599,000 -
Lz HK$1,779,000
1,599,000 7 -

1,779,000 7

- Motor Cycle HK$280,000
REE §280,000%7C

per unit and month per unit and month

SAGEN
610-5,050% 7

HK$1,600,000 -
HK$1,624,000
1,600,000% 7z -
1,624,000% 7
HK$260,000
260,000/ 7

market rent used would result
in a significant increase in fair
value, and vice versa.

fRmSEE AL EY A%
A% R2HA-

A significant increase in the
market unit rate used would
result in a significant increase
in fair value, and vice versa.

FRENTEAESEH A
EAE RZMA e
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ _F "~ " 4E=H =+—H IL4EE

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES - CONTINUED 15. RENX-&
Relationship of
Range unobservable
Significant ] inputs to fair value
Valuation techniques unobservable inputs 2022 021 AUBERGALER
fiER%E EXTIRRRAYE “BCCF ZRC-F RRENEE
Residential development  Residual approach Discount rate 5.25% per annum  5.25% per annum A slight increase in the
2022: approximately discount rate would result in
HK$236,000,000 a significant decrease in fair
2021: approximately value, and vice versa.
HK$207,000,000
EE%RE Henz BRE E71%5.25% FHESB% RAXREEERNAE
It Jnl 3 KB RZIH -
#)236,000,000%
“Eo-f:
#1207,000,000% 7
Residential selling price 9,223 8,534  Aslight increase in the

16.

The fair value measurement is categorised into Level 3 fair value

hierarchy.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets represent the trading rights in the Stock
Exchange and the Hong Kong Futures Exchange Limited which

have indefinite useful lives.

Estimated total construction cost
to complete

R IARRENT2E

Expected developer profit margin

Bt SRAMNEE

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ &t 4 45 R 2 #)

(HKS$/square foot)  (HK$/square foot)

(HKS$/square foot)  (HK$/square foot)

residential selling price would
result in a significant increase
in fair value and vice versa.

9,223 853 frEEEREEERARER
(Bn/T5R)  (Bn/TAR) % RZF%-
2,04 2,010 Asignificant increase in

the cost would result in a
significant decrease in fair
value, and vice versa.

2,041 2010 RAREEBHNLENR R
(Bn/THR)  (En/TAR)  Zh%-

15% on cost 15% on cost A significant increase in the
expected profit would result
in a significant increase in fair
value, and vice versa.

ARRI15% KAM15%  EMAAREERALE

KB R

MREFAERIERAAEERRE=R -

16. B EE
BN EERBIAREENERFHMER
REZ RS HuFAERHAEERE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE

8 B B &, x W =

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE -F "4 =H=+—HIL4FHE

17. REBEE DT 2R

2022 2021
—EC- & == —kE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT TET
Unlisted investment, at cost FELEMRE « FZHIAR 73,691 73,691
Share of post-acquisition losses FEIE IR B 1R (15,832) (11,577)
Exchange adjustment ME 5 276 (2,262)
58,135 59,852
Details of the Group’s associate at the end of the reporting period /N =R Sl RN =2

as follows: T

Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of
Particulars of principal place effective interest Principal
Name of associate issued shares of business attributable to the Group activities
AMARLHY
NG S ERTRAGFE TEEXNY TEEERERAAL TEEH
Quan Zhou Meiyu Limited Registered capital The PRC 30%  Property investment
(“Meiyu”) RMB60,000,000
SMERERBRRA(E4]) T ERARE HE 30% EHERE
60,000,0007T

The interest in an associate is held in trust by a director of the BMENRERE NUAARZESETRERN

Company on behalf of a subsidiary of the Group.

SEHBRRNEESIARE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ _F "~ " 4E=H =+—H IL4EE

17. INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE - CONTINUED 17. REEE DR 2R - &
Summarised financial information of Meiyu, adjusted for any ERMTBERBE (RIE2 5 2 [
difference in accounting policies, and reconciled to the carrying ZRETARE VEESH B HRAEEE
amounts in the consolidated financial statements, are disclosed ETHERE)BWEDOT
below:
2022 2021
—ECCF —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTAET TR
Current assets REBEE 445,382 367,163
Non-current assets FEREEE 51,433 50,966
Current liabilities mEBE (303,030) (218,622)
Equity g 193,785 199,507
Revenue W= 5,201 539,241
(Loss) profit after tax Bz (B518) &7 (14,183) 74,952
Other comprehensive income Hib2mbss 8,461 11,125
Total comprehensive (expense) income 2 (FX) kg (5,722) 86,077
Dividend received from associate BENRZRE - =
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to LB ER B E AR A SRR AT
the carrying amount of the interest in Meiyu recognised in the RNERHERREE 2 YK

consolidated financial statements:

Net assets of Meiyu FHEEFE 193,785 199,507
Proportion of the Group’s ownership REBRERERE R

interest in Meiyu 30% 30%
Carrying amount of the Group's REBRERZ ERREE

interest in Meiyu 58,135 59,852

1 54 UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (&t 4 M 4 W A #)



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE -F "4 =H=+—HIL4FHE

AN

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND 18. EZNHMEBWIE RERANRE
PREPAYMENTS
2022 2021
—ECCF == s
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TET
Amounts receivable arising from the = ”%“%?‘Zﬁ%&ﬁﬂf*%
ordinary course of business of dealing FEW IR
in securities and options:
— Cash clients - ReEF 7,214 8,978
- The SEHK Options Clearing — BRAEREEERMERAR
House Limited 2 2
Amounts receivable arising from the = ”%T%F‘ZH%?EE\%’U?E%
ordinary course of business of FEW IR
dealing in futures contracts:
— Clearing house —EERT 1,929 1,824
Amounts receivable arising from the AEEB RHESFRAE
ordinary course of business of provision FEd IR (BIEEG))
of securities margin financing (Note (i)):
- Clients - ®P 140,194 163,026
Amounts receivable arising from the AEXB E2EEE
ordinary course of business dealing FEWFIE
in precious metal:
- Clients - ®P 104 1,405
— The Chinese Gold and - 2REEHS
Silver Exchange Society (“CGSE”) ([@REEFE] ) 3 3
Amounts receivables arising from AR %K FiERE EKFIE
ordinary courses of business of
properties investment 1,137 188
150,583 175,426
Less: Allowance for credit loss B EEERERE (77,211) (73,003)
Trade receivables, B oRWIE (HREEEEREE)
net of allowance for credit loss 73,372 102,423
Interest-bearing loan receivables (Note (i) stEEWRER (FaE(i)) 967,076 871,635
Less: Allowance for credit loss W EEEERE (144,805) (132,269)
Loan receivables, ERES (MREEEERE)
net allowance for credit loss 822,271 739,366
Other receivables H U A 132,432 132,624
Deposits ®e 685 640
Prepayments R 2,148 2119
1,030,908 977,172
Amount shown under non-current assets ERBDEEB Y& E (89,251) (72,669)
Amount shown under current assets MBEER SIS 941,657 904,503
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ _F "~ " 4E=H =+—H IL4EE

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS - CONTINUED

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

Margin client receivables after ECL of approximately HK$62,983,000
(2021: HK$90,023,000) are repayable on demand, bearing interest
at market rate and secured by clients’ securities listed on the Stock
Exchange with a total market value of approximately HK$211,558,000
as at 31 March 2022 (2021: HK$331,295,000).

The Group considers a loan to be secured when there is collateral or
credit enhancement in place. The main types of collateral and credit
enhancement obtained includes share charges over unlisted and
listed equity securities, personal guarantees, assignment of rights
and charges over properties. As at 31 March 2022, the carrying
amount of secured loans receivable after the ECL amounts to
approximately HK$822,271,000 (2021: HK$739,366,000).

The exposure of the Group’s loan receivables before ECL to
interest rate risks and their contractual maturity dates are as

ESRAMEBWTFIE - BERANKE -

Pt 5t

() HBREHCEBBREZNFERFEKK
T/ #) 562,983,000 T (Z 2 = —F :
90,023,000/ 7T) * JiE & B ki LA 1 35
RABEE YUN-_E-—_F=F=+—
B m{EL 5211,558,00008 T (Z = —
% : 331,295,000/% 70) A B & R T
ETTRE SRR o

(i) AEERBEZERBZEERYKEE
et ERERERER - BAW
FTERAERMEEMAEEREIELD
MEMREZFORDIER  EALR-
BREEMERR AT =__F= A
=t+—0 AEAEREFNEOELHE
HEE BB E822271,0008 T (=%
— —%F : 739,366,000/ T) °

AE B EEE N R E R R
BBRREAHERNT -

follows:
2022 2021
—E_C —E-_—F
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
TET FAT
Loan receivables: FEWE :
On demand mER 443,053 387,851
Within one year —FR 419,198 407,652
In more than one year but HBA-—FETBEME
not more than two years WHEIR A 21,198 7,368
In more than two years but HBAMFETBREAT
not more than five years WHEIR A 36,072 14,263
In more than five years ik e 47,555 54,501
967,076 871,635

The Group has variable-rate loan receivables of HK$477,934,000
(2021: HK$609,608,000), which bear interest rates ranged from
Prime rate minus 1.00% p.a. to Prime rate plus 6.75% p.a. (2021:
from Prime rate minus 1.00% p.a. to Prime rate + 6.75% p.a.; or at
Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR”) plus 8% p.a.).

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ &t 4 45 R 2 #)

REE 27 B)FI 2 fE WS 51 /477,934,000
BT (ZZE=—% :609,608,00087T) * F
FR B REEFIRFH1.00%E RKEEFRM
6.75% (ZE=—F : FR X ARZERF =X
H1.00% 2 HEBFENMNG.75% : HILEB
RITAERE ([BBRITEERE]) N8%
H=
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE -F "4 =H=+—HIL4FHE

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND 18. ESREMEKRFE RERFBENFE -
PREPAYMENTS — CONTINUED F-

The ranges of effective interest rates (which are equal to
contractual interest rates) on the Group’s loan receivables are as
follows:

AEERRERZ EEFE (RERA HF
) BEMT

|

2022 2021
—E-C —E-—F
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
TET FAET

SUSIEE
B K ER
BN

Effective interest rate:
Fixed-rate loan receivables
Variable-rate loan receivables

The settlement terms of cash and securities margin financing
clients arising from the business of dealing in securities are two
working days after trade date, and of trade receivable arising from
the business of dealing in futures contracts are one day after trade
date.

Receivables of approximately HK$355,088,000 (2021:
HK$316,693,000) that were past due related to a number of
independent customers and were reviewed by the Directors with
ECL of approximately HK$222,016,000 made at 31 March 2022
(2021: HK$205,272,000). Based on past experience, the Directors
are of the opinion that no further ECL is necessary in respect of
these balances as there has not been a significant change in
credit quality and the balances are considered fully recoverable.

The Group has policy for allowance of ECL which is based on the
evaluation of collectability and ageing analysis of accounts and on
management’s judgment, including the current creditworthiness,
collaterals and the past collection history of each client.

The ageing analysis of amounts receivable based on trade date
that are neither individually nor collectively considered to be
impaired are as follows:

5.50%-36.00%  6.00%-36.00%
4.50%-15.00%  4.50%-15.00%

REBHFBEEXRBAELENRE RESFT
RRERFPEUFBERRZBEMETLE
AEE REBRANRZEBHELN
HEHRKFERIHHE —KRKEE -

BB H 2 FE W5k T8 49355,088,00075 7T (=
T~ — 4% :316,693,0008 L) hEBE %
BABLIREF LEEBZHERZFLEIR
—E-—H=-A=t+—HELBRYEE
B 18 49222,016,0008 T (ZF = — & :
205,272,000 L) - BIFBATLR  EF
RE TTPBERZEERBELESRE
EER RAREGCELEEWESERE L
M E &R NFAR AR 2EURE -

AEEREEHREEFRRBREBHE T
RBWREE D R BRI DT 2 HE R EEE
A BREE-FEPROZEREE"
BRmRBERRZESL -

3 8 (ARl % B R AT A R (B 2 FEGR IR (1R
BR5AH) ZERAMIMT:

2022 2021

—EC- & —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$'000

TET FATT

Less than 1 month ~R—EA 72,362 102,144
1 to 3 months —Z={EA 323 276
3 months to 1 year =HAE—%F 687 3
73,372 102,423
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ _F "~ " 4E=H =+—H IL4EE

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND 18. EEREMEKEE RERAFNRE -
PREPAYMENTS - CONTINUED =
The ageing analysis of loan receivables based on due date after FUWEZ (REIEHA) CELEHEES
ECL is as follows: B ZE®BIITAT :
2022 2021
—E-—F —E_—fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TAT
Current (Not past due) E (R@H) 523,868 482,358
Less than 1 month past due B — & A 2,843 1,438
1 to 3 months past due BE—=={A8 5,446 4,169
3 months to 1 year past due BH=EAZE—F 164,320 21,388
Over 1 year past due BERB—F 125,794 230,013
822,271 739,366
Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables BEAE S RHEMERZEZ BET LS
are set out in Note 29(b)(i). R FE29(b)(i) ©
19. OTHER ASSETS 19. Hth&E
2022 2021
B —E-—fF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET TAT
Hong Kong Securities Clearing BERREEERAA
Company Limited
- Guarantee fund deposit - REBEEHXK 100 100
— Admission fee -2RE 100 100
Statutory deposit with the Stock Exchange B FTAEZ S 200 200
Reserve fund contribution to the BRFEEEERMERARZ
Stock Exchange Options S U
Clearing House Limited 1,500 1,500
Reserve fund contribution to the BEAHEHERR AR
HKFE Clearing Corporation Limited S U 1,500 1,500
3,400 3,400
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B & B B | & KM EFE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE -F "4 =H=+—HIL4FHE

20. PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT

20. HERRWE

2022 2021

—EC- & — ks

HK$°000 HK$ 000

FET TAT

Properties held for development, at cost FHERRMEUKAFTE 3,011 3,011

21. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

21. RITEHRRES

2022 2021
—E-CF B
HK$’000 HK$'000
T TAT
Cash at banks RITRE 84
— General accounts — —&FO 300,706 369,570
Cash in hand Be 6 10
Non-pledged short-term bank deposits with > F318 B A 5 #i 7 £ 5 #
original maturity less than 3 months BHRITER 163,839 121,938
464,551 491,518
Cash at banks RIT AR
— Trust accounts — 55 H 93,400 313,217
- Segregated accounts - HREEFA 435 1,457
Pledged short-term bank deposits with DH3E A AR 2 B A
original maturity less than 3 months (Note) & B4R 177 2k (P 3%) 10,000 10,000
568,386 816,192

Note: Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy
banks with no recent history of default.

Pledged short-term bank deposits carried fixed interest rates at 1%
(2021: 1%) per annum as at 31 March 2022 and pledged to banks for
securing general bank facilities granted to the Group.

WaE : RITEBRZTHAN R (EREARTEK
FIRFE) RAFE o RITABRTDFRR
FEEE BN B R 8 RTT -

EERERARTERNR_FT-__F=
A=+ REREEEMNE1%: R (ZF
TF i 1%)  REFERTRAEE
T —RIRTRE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ _F "~ " 4E=H =+—H IL4EE

22. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS 22, REBEEE
Provision for
expected credit
loss
BHEERE
B
HK$'000
TAT
At 1 April 2020 N-Z-_ZENA—H 2,592
Charged to profit or loss BBz kR (394)
At 31 March 2021 RZZ-_—F=A=+—H 2,198
Credited to profit or loss FrAEE 694
At 31 March 2022 RZBE-ZHE=A=+—H 2,892
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had unutilised tax RNFEBRE  REEA A HIEKERKE
losses of approximately HK$65,407,000 (2021: HK$69,284,000) SRR 2 K & B A% B 18 965,407,000
available for offsetting against future taxable profits. No deferred BIL (ZZFZ—F : 69,284,000/ 75) °
tax asset has been recognised due to the unpredictability of future AR BE T8I K 7R FE AR B0 A1l 2 1B
taxable profits. The tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely. W ERRRLCEREEE - HEEEE

B5 B 45 48 o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a8 B B ® x KM

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE _-F " "4 =H=+—HIL4FK

Fia 8

23. BORROWINGS . B
2022 2021
—ECCE = ==k
HK$°000 HK$ 000
FET TAT
Amounts shown under current liabilities VSR NiAE =
- Secured bank loan - interest-bearing — BEMETER — FE 234,625 258,629
- Unsecured other loan - interest-bearing ~ — EEFEMER — 5t 8 - 4,724
234,625 263,353
The carrying amounts of the above FEFROEREER—FA
borrowings are repayable within one year %‘i’ - 4,724
The carrying amounts of the above HBERERER G L EK
borrowings that contain a repayable on FHEGITRRBE % )
demand clause (shown under current BERTIERAEERE :
liabilities) but repayable*:
Within one year R—FR 24,058 23,961
Within a period of more than one year R—F A EETBBRE
but not exceeding two years &) ER A 24,448 24,322
Within a period of more than two years iNGES M=K S RS
but not exceeding five years #EAR A 76,009 75,150
For period of more than five years 838 1 5F /Y 2 110,110 135,196
234,625 258,629
234,625 263,353

The amount due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out in

ABRFEREER

1 P BEE 2 X B

the loan agreements. HEE -
The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also equal to AEBEBERZEBRMNE (TEERENF
contracted interest rates) on the Group’s borrowings are as R)2&EEMT :
follows:
2022 2021
—E__fF —E-—F
Variable-rate borrowings (1.25% per annum ZEFIRER (=@ BB ERT

over 3 months HIBOR) FIZE AR B001.25% F FI|&K)

1.39%-1.52%

2.31%-3.25%
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ _F "~ " 4E=H =+—H IL4EE

23. BORROWINGS - CONTINUED

As at the end of the reporting period, the Group has the following
undrawn borrowing facilities:

23. fER-&

RBERR AEEZRARREREREN
N

2022 2021
—E-CFE —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR FTAT
Variable-rate FENFE
— expiring within one year —-R—FRNFH 233,375 209,371

Loan covenants

In respect of the bank loan with carrying amount of HK$234,625,000
as at 31 March 2022 (2021: HK$258,629,000), the Group is required
to comply with the following financial covenants throughout the
continuance of the relevant loan and/or as long as the loan is
outstanding:

e to maintain a loan-to-value ratio at no more than 50% by
reference to the total facilities limit against the value of the
security properties

e o maintain minimum deposit in the bank

The Group has complied with these covenants throughout the
reporting period.

Included in borrowings are the following amount denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency of the Group to which
they relate:

BEREZH

M _E-_—_F=ZA=Z+—HE@E
#234,625,0008 L (Z & = — F :
258,629,000/ 7T) K iR 1T & F M WH
ﬁi’?zximﬁﬁ;ﬁﬁﬁ&/&f’? NRIEE
ANEBBETATHBKRZY

Bl
EH

SREMDXEENERERE &
EXREEL X ERERE0%
 BRFRERTER

AEERBEHAN—BEE

THERD -

3B IE R E B B 5D 2
2 THIHE -

2022 2021
—E-CFE —E-—F
US$'000 FTET - 607

Note: As at 31 March 2022, the bank borrowing of approximately
HK$234,625,000 (2021: HK$258,629,000) was secured by the
Group’s investment properties with carrying amount of approximately
HK$1,386,100,000 (2021: HK$1,394,100,000) with related rental
proceeds (Note 15) and corporate guarantees provided by the
Company.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (&t 4 M 4 W A #)

Misk : RETZZF=A=+—H ' £9234,625,000
BIL(ZF = —F : 258,629,000/ 70) 2 B
17 5 XA 2 & [ AR [ {8 491,386,100,000
BT (ZZ = —4% : 1,394,100,000/ 7T
ZEREMERABAL B (HE5)
FARRA B AR E M D ERRERA o



24.

25.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED PARTIES

B & B B | & KM EFE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ & " " 4E=H =+—H IL4E)F

24, FESEBALTTE

2022 2021
—ECCE = ==k
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT TET
Amounts due to related parties Bz

— Beneficial owner (Note (b)) igza(o))) 963 -

— Related companies (Note (a) and Bt 3 (@) R FiiEE (b))
Note (b)) 209 264
1,172 264

Note: iz
a) The amounts due to related companies represents payables to the a) RENEHARZEARMFBAREEEN

UBA Group (as defined in Note 30).

b)  Amounts due to related parties are unsecured, interest-free and

repayable on demand.

AMOUNT DUE TO THE ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY
The amount is unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed terms of

repayment.

IR (E % RH=30) o

b) ENEBALZFASERR RERE

25. BENRKERRINE
HERBER RENEETERY -
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ _F "~ " 4E=H =+—H IL4EE

26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

26. ESRHMENRIEA

2022 2021
—ECCE —E2-—fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Amounts payable arising from the HEXB BHREAERS
ordinary course of business of FERTRRIE -
dealing in securities and options:
— Cash clients (Note (a)(i)) - HBe&EP (M&E@)) 99,298 319,941
- Hong Kong Security Cleaning — AAPREZER AR
Company Limited 1,443 1,265
Amounts payable arising from the HEEXB BEEARS
ordinary course of business of FERIFRIE ¢
dealing in futures contracts:
- Clients - 2,362 3,279
Amounts payable arising from the ordinary B & £#% 2 IR EEEFHERE
course of business of provision of FEFIE
securities margin financing:
~ Clients = 3,110 3,317
Amounts payable arising from ordinary HEXK ESBEE
course of business of dealing FER SRR (BiaE(a)(i))
in precious metals (Note (a)(ii)) 6,770 7,091
Accruals and other payables (Note (b)) ENERAREMEMNZKE (b)) 5,772 5,068
Rental and other deposits received HERHEMBEUIES 5,688 5,778
Rental received in advance TS 225 233
124,668 345,972
Notes: iz
a)  All the amounts payables are repayable on demand; except a) FMAERNFEERENRER K

i) the settlement terms of cash clients arising from the business of
dealing in securities are two working days after trade date; and

i)  the amounts payables arising from the ordinary courses of
business of dealing in precious metals should be settled within

30 days.

b)  Other payables include approximately HK$2,850,000 (2021: b)
HK$2,850,000) which represents amounts due to minority
shareholders. The amounts due to minority shareholders are interest

) BAREBZESFRSZRASEPEN
FENRZ 5 BERETEREER : R

i) PRFBZELBEEEMNFEAR

=tTHAEE-

H i & 5 ZIE B 492,850,000 7T (=
——4F : 2,850,000/ 7T) Ty R FE /N
RZHBE - B IRRZFEDRS &

=

=3

free, unsecured and are repayable on demand.

All other payables are interest free, unsecured and are repayable on
demand.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (&t 4 M 4 W A #)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B & B B | & KM EFE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE _-F " "4 =H=+—HIL4FK

SHARE CAPITAL 27. B
Number Nominal value
of ordinary of ordinary
shares shares
ZRR2HE ZRRZEE
Authorised: EIE
As at 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021 and RZZ-ZTFMA—AR -
31 March 2022 at HK$0.01 each —E-—F=A=+—HK
—E-__#=A=+—H"
B A0.018T 10,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRHE
As at 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021 and RZZ-TFMHA—H
31 March 2022 “T_—%=ZfA=+—HEK
—E--E=ZA=1-—H 2,682,316,758 26,824
CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 28. EAREKERE

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the Group will be
able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return
to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from
prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes
the borrowings disclosed in Note 23, cash and cash equivalents
and equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
mainly issued share capital, retained profits and other reserves.

Certain subsidiaries of the Group are regulated by the Securities
and Futures Commission (the “SFC”), and a subsidiary which
is a member of CGSE, they are required to comply with certain
minimum capital requirements according to the rules of the SFC
and the CGSE.

The Directors review the capital structure on a semi-annual
basis. As part of this review, the Directors consider the cost of
capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based
on recommendations of the management, the Group will balance
its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends and
new share issues.

As at 31 March 2022, the amount of total borrowings was
approximately HK$234,625,000 (2021: HK$263,353,000). The
gearing being equal to approximately 8.6% (2021: 9.9%) of
the net assets of approximately HK$2,718,501,000 (2021:
HK$2,655,793,000).

AEBEREANRRAEE L AE NS
BREEERE FARERBLEHKRE

B2 TEHAREFRBADS - AEEYN
HEEZRERBRSTE -

REBEXNGEBEED (BEME23MH

BEoER ReRkRe2FEN) RALH
BEAEEERZ (TEREEBTRA R
Bl R B At ) o
AEBETHERARXESRBEEHE
ZZzEe((BEg)k—RANBAR AR
REBHGZEEMEE  ZFAFAAK
BEEEREREEIGZARNETET
REERER -

EXEBXEENESAR BN EF
ERE-HHESIKARABER - A&
EREEEECRZEBRERE KET
HRAFE2mEAERE -

R-ZEBE-_—_F=ZA=+—H #EX
7 #)234,625,0008 7 (Z & = —F ¢
263,353,000 L) cBEL XA FE
= #92,718,501,0008 1t (=T = —F:
2,655,793,0007 7T) K) £18.6% (=& = —
F£:99%) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= & B B | Xk K O

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ _F "~ " 4E=H =+—H IL4EE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS TR
(a) Categories of Financial Instruments (a) BN
2022 2021
—E-CFE —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FTAT
Financial assets BEE
Financial assets at amortised cost: TRE ARSI BRI B S B E -
Trade and other receivables and g5 REMERRERRE
deposits 1,028,760 975,053
Other assets HihEE 3,400 3,400
Bank balances IRITHEER 568,380 816,182
1,600,540 1,794,635
Financial liabilities gy 3=k
Financial liabilities at amortised cost: REHK ARSI BRI AR -
Trade and other payables B5 R AMENTIR 124,443 345,739
Borrowings B0 234,625 263,353
Amounts due to related parties JE S BB A £ 30A 1,172 264
Amount due to the ultimate JE S B A AR A Bl 5K IE
holding company 213,384 200,362
573,624 809,718
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= 8 B B | R KM &

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE -F "4 =H=+—HIL4FHE

The Group’s major financial instruments comprise trade and
other receivables, deposits, other assets, bank balances and
cash, borrowings, amounts due to related parties, amount
due to the ultimate holding company and trade and other
payables.

Details of the financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments
include market risk (foreign currency risk and interest rate
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below. The management of
the Group manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.

(i) Credit risk and impairment assessment
Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties
default on their contractual obligations resulting in
financial losses to the Group. The Group's credit risk
exposures are primarily attributable to trade and other
receivables, deposits, other assets and bank balances
and cash.

The credit risk associated with interest bearing loans
receivables and margin financing receivables are
mitigated because they are secured as detailed in Note
18. The Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements to cover its credit risk associated
with its other financial assets. Management has a credit
policy in place and the exposures to these credit risks
are monitored on an ongoing basis.

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - CONTINUED 2. BKITHE-#&
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) BHEEREEEERBE

ARBEIBMBTABRES KA
RN FIR - BE  HMEE - R1T
BBERE B3 BIBEBALR
B ENREZRARKE BHkK
Hi A5 -

ZERBETAFERBBM TP R
B-ARRSHBIANRRERED
ZRRGMNERREMNERR) 8
R kREESRR o TXEII
BEZSRERBOMBEK AEEERE
REERYEZRRAARR UHEREREK
A R BUE & 5 56

(i) EFERBRBEETFG
FERREARENIZHTE
WMERAEBRE B REN
Bk - AEENEERREER
BESREMERTR  2E
HEtEEARRITEHIRE -

AR BRKRESR R T RARERE
WHENEERRE LB ERT
AR - FI5H2HKE18 -
AGKETENEHAE BT EE
ERBNEERRMN A TR
MmIEMINREERE - B2
B ACERRIFEERZE
EERR -
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #&E R - 4= =+ — H IL4ESE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - CONTINUED
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies —
Continued
(i) Credit risk and impairment assessment — Continued

Interest bearing loans receivables

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approval and
other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up
action is taken for the recoverable amount. In addition,
the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each
individual's loan receivables at the end of each reporting
period to ensure that adequate impairment losses
are made for irrecoverable amounts. As at 31 March
2022, the Directors are of the opinion that provision for
impairment of approximately HK$200,705,000 (2021:
HK$187,979,000) was recognised on individual loans
as credit impaired in respect of these balances as the
debtors were in the process of liquidation.

The Group manages and analyses the credit risk for
each of their new and existing clients before standard
payment terms and conditions are offered. If there
is no independent rating, the Group assesses the
credit quality of the customer based on the customer’s
financial position, past experience and other factors. The
Group holds collateral against certain interest bearing
loans receivables and interest receivables in the form
of mortgages over properties located in Hong Kong.
Certain interest bearing loans receivables are secured
by listed and unlisted equity securities and personal
guarantee. Individual risk limits are set based on the
value of collaterals provided by customers and internal
or external ratings in accordance with limits set by the
directors.

In determining the ECL of the Group’s interest bearing
loans receivables, the management assessed the
expected losses individually by estimation based on
general economic conditions of the relevant industry in
which the debtors operate, value of any pledged assets,
financial position of the debtors and an assessment
of both the current as well as the forecast direction of
conditions at the reporting date.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (&t 4 M 4 W A #)

29. BB TH-&
PBEREEEERBEK - &

(b)

(i)

EEERERAETFG - &
FHEEWE
ARENKEERR  ~AEEE
BEEEZK—#HABREETER
ERE - EHZREMEER
7+ BEREER IR ETTE AT B
BEETS o WA REEREE
HREHE AR ERE SR
WE&%E  BRATIKRENS
FAREHANREEE - HN=F
——F=A=1+—H EERE
AR EREITERIEFMEBA
HEERIEL EEZEER R
{8 # 5 49200,705,000% 7T (=
T~ —4F : 187,979,000 TT)

PRI ER N FRIER K R
Al ARESEERAMESH
EPRRABEPZEERR - i
BBV ARERRERP
ZHBIN - BERR L E M E
ZHEEFPZEEER - A5H
A Tat S RME R R ELF S
BEERNERBYAZER
e BTt S ERERTIA LT
B3 Em IR E 7 & (B A B R
AEEA - ERIRBRREDRE
ESRTELRBEMET AL
SMERSE AR T EE

REEASEEREERNE
HESHRE  TRESBRERN
EBALERERBITROEE
KERR  EACEREENE
B BEHEANTBARRRRHRE
B ¥ B AT A R IR R 77 R A9 RF
fhzfhst - BEFERAEE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE -F "4 =H=+—HIL4FHE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - CONTINUED 2. UHKITE-#&
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies — (b) BEEMREEEERBE-&
Continued
(i) Credit risk and impairment assessment — Continued () EEREERBEEFG-E

Interest bearing loans receivables — Continued

As at 31 March 2022, the Group has concentration of
credit risk as 17.33% (2021: 17.33%) and 51.57% (2021:
53.18%) of the total principal receivables from loan was
due from the Group’s largest customer and the five
largest customers respectively.

The Group seeks to minimise its risk by dealing with
counter parties which have good credit history.

The Group assesses allowance for credit losses on
interest bearing loans receivables individually based
on historical credit loss experience of the customers
as well as the fair value of the collateral pledged
by the customers and adjusted for forward-looking
information. As at 31 March 2022, allowance of
credit losses in respect of interest bearing loans
receivables was approximately HK$144,805,000 (2021:
HK$132,269,000).

FrEEKEF - &
m_gzzi—ﬂ—+fal$
SEEEHEERBSAIRER
EENSEARFRAARF LML
TERKERBEL17.33% (=
T = —%:17.33%) %51.57%
(ZF=—%F :53.18%) °

AEEFNEEERENRFH
FETRS  ARERR -

AEERBERFNBEAGEES
B 5 DA R P K 18 6 1 1
MORARME  BAUFETEEK
EXMEEERREE URE
AIEHERETAZE - RZF
ZZF=A=1t—H B@FE
EREFNEEEBRENE
144,805,000/ 7L (=T = —%F :
132,269,000/ 7T) °
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ _F "~ " 4E=H =+—H IL4EE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - CONTINUED
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies —
Continued
(i) Credit risk and impairment assessment — Continued
Amounts receivable arising from ordinary course of
business of margin financing, dealing in securities and
options, futures contracts and precious metal
(a) Amounts receivable arising from the ordinary
course of business of provision of securities margin
financing

In determining the impairment on margin loans
which were credit-impaired, the management of
the Group reviews and assesses each margin
client individually based on the evaluation of
collectability, ageing analysis of accounts and on
management’s judgement, including the current
creditworthiness and the past collection statistics
of each client, the realisation value of securities or
collaterals from clients and their guarantors which
are held by the Group, subsequent settlement or
additional collaterals received. The write-off was
made in respect of margin loans that have been
fully provided for in the prior years.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group has concentration
of credit risk as 42.54% (2021: 36.58%) and
58.85% (2021: 52.99%) of the total interest bearing
receivables from margin financing was due from
the Group’s largest customer and the five largest
customers respectively.

The Group assess allowance for credit losses on
margin financing receivables individually based on
historical credit loss experience of the customers
as well as the fair value of collateral pledged by
the customers and adjusted for forward-looking
information. As at 31 March 2022, allowance
of credit losses in respect of margin financing
receivables was approximately HK$77,211,000
(2021: HK$73,003,000)

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (&t 4 M 4 W A #)

BBITHE-

(b)

%ﬁﬂm BEREREE -

() GEEEEREETEG-&
AERBLITRABE  EHRH
# HEEHIRESBRFZE
Wz E
(a) AREBZRHEBSIRE
BB ERHRIE

BEREERENFER
BEERER ~£EE
EEREN KE S EF
BB RN ﬁ&a@
EXE (BREEMREE
%Fﬁaﬁwnwm+%ﬁ
ﬁﬁlﬁﬁmgﬁ&ﬁﬁ
RARE 7 B a A &
ﬁﬁ@ HEHEEUARE
W sME R ) 8 Bl AT &
FEEFREP - AKHE
BN BT FE ARG
ROFEME -
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B AEEE&EFEER
B0 1T R B & AT B R UK
BB FEA254% (Z B = —
F :36.58% ) &58.85%
(Z2=—F :52.99%) 7
AREAEEHNZAEP
RAKREFE -
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EEBERAREP R
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE _-F " "4 =H=+—HIL4FK

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - CONTINUED
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies —
Continued
(i) Credit risk and impairment assessment — Continued
Amounts receivable arising from ordinary course of

business of dealing in margin financing, securities

and options, futures contracts and precious metal —

Continued

(b)

Amounts receivable due from clearing houses and
brokers

In respect of amounts receivable from clearing
houses and brokers, credit risks are considered
low as the Company normally enters into
transactions with clearing houses and brokers
which are registered with regulatory bodies and
enjoy sound reputation in the industry. For the
year ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group
assessed the ECL for amounts receivable due from
clearing houses and brokers are insignificant and
thus no loss allowance is recognised.

Amounts receivable due from cash clients

In respect of amounts due from cash clients,
individual credit evaluations are performed on
all clients. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual receivable
at the end of each reporting period to ensure
that adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts. The settlement terms of
cash clients arising from the business of dealing
in securities are two working days after trade
date, the Directors consider that the credit risk is
significantly reduced.

Besides above mentioned transactions, clients
are required to place deposits as prescribed
in the Company's policy before execution of
any purchase transactions. No loss allowance
recognised from ordinary course dealing in futures
brokerage and precious metal during the years
ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.

MBIR-&
DHRREEEEREEK - &

(i) EEEBRBEEFG - &

ABEXBLITRABE - EHRH
# HEEHIRESEBRSZE
WK - &

(b) RWEEMRERLTA

MRARRE—MREE [ B
ERBEAMEXANEER
HZHEEMRERETR
5 WHMEMEE R RER
HEZEERRER - #
2T _FR-_FT-_—
F=ZA=Z+—BLEFE"
AEBFHEEKEER R
KEFBERBEERE
EEBRYAERN WA E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i

8 B % & & B =

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ _F "~ " 4E=H =+—H IL4EE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - CONTINUED
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies —
Continued
(i) Credit risk and impairment assessment — Continued

Amounts receivable arising from ordinary course of
business of properties investment

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide
for ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits the
use of the lifetime ECL for amounts receivable arising
from ordinary course of business. To measure the ECL,
these amounts receivable have been based on past
due status, historical credit loss experience based
on the past default experience of the Group and are
adjusted with forward-looking information. On that basis,
the Group assessed that there is no loss allowance
recognised during the years ended 31 March 2022 and
2021.

Other receivables

For other receivables, the management makes
periodic individual assessment on the recoverability
of other receivables based on historical settlement
records, past experience, and also quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportive
forward-looking information. The management believes
that there is no significant increase in credit risk of these
amounts since initial recognition. For the year ended
31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group assessed the ECL
for other receivables are insignificant and thus no loss
allowance is recognised.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (&t 4 M 4 W A #)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= 8 B B | R KW &

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE -F "4 =H=+—HIL4FHE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - CONTINUED 29. MKEITH-#&
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies - (b) BEEMREEEERBE-&
Continued
(i) Credit risk and impairment assessment — Continued () EEREERBEEFG-E

Other assets

Other assets represent statutory deposits and reserved
fund contribution to the regulatory bodies, the credit
risks are considered to be low. For the year ended 31
March 2022 and 2021, the Group assessed the ECL of
other assets are insignificant and thus no loss allowance
is recognised.

Bank balances

Credit risk on bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks with high credit
ratings assigned by international credit agencies. The
Group assessed 12m ECL for bank balances by
reference to information relating to probability of
default and loss given default of the respective credit
rating grades published by external credit rating
agencies. Based on the average loss rates, the 12m ECL
on bank balances is considered to be insignificant.

Financial guarantee contract

For financial guarantee contracts, the aggregate
amount of outstanding financial guarantees issued
to banks in respect of bank facilities granted to the
third parties that the Group could be required to pay
amounted to HK$3,000,000 as at 31 March 2022
(2021: HK$3,000,000), being the outstanding financial
guarantees has been utilised by the third parties. The
fair value of these financial guarantee, as at dates of
initial recognition, were considered insignificant. No loss
allowance was recognised in the profit or loss.

ity & &
HMBERETFERRMEE#
BELNESRE  EEERR
BRAEE -BE_T__F}
—E—F=H=+—HL#%F
B REBEFEEMEERRA
HEREEERYTEX -
BHRBEREE -

ﬁ?m 23
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EESEINMEE T RMEATE
HEREETRERNENEE
BB BT ERITRERA12
BERABEHEERSE - ERFHE
BE  12AABHEEBEERE
BTEK-

HHEERER

RUBEREAOME R=F
“—F#=A=+—H HETFE
=H Bnge AR AL BEERR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ _F "~ " 4E=H =+—H IL4EE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - CONTINUED

29. BB TH-&

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies - (b) VEEBEEEERBR-&
Continued
(i) Credit risk and impairment assessment — Continued () EEREERREFGE-E

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment in
respect of loans receivables comprises the following

AEBERRRUERNAREE
R R EREA TR

categories:
Internal credit rating Description ECL Categories
MR 1= &R AR i HAHMEEBESE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and 12m ECL
does not have any past-due amounts or debtor
frequently repays after due dates in full
1K B HFEAMENRRBIEL BEMBHRE - 12AARBEERR
BEAREHEI A REREER
Medium risk There have been significant increases in credit Lifetime ECL
risk since initial recognition through information - not credit-impaired
developed internally or external resources
i E R BEABERFINBEIR - EE R B NRHERE FEHESREERE
N —-BEERE
High risk There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL
credit-impaired — credit-impaired
= R FEBRTEELRGEERNE FEBRHBEEER
—f=ERE

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ &t 4 45 R 2 #)



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE -F "4 =H=+—HIL4FHE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - CONTINUED 2. BKITHE-#&
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies — (b) BEEMREEEERBE-&
Continued
(i) Credit risk and impairment assessment — Continued () EEREERBEEFG-E
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of TRFANAEEBETEBREER
the Group’s financial assets, which are subject to ECL EREIGHNMGEEZCEER
assessment: &
2022 2022 2021 2021
“E--f ZB--E -Z--F& -E-—&
Gross Gross Gross Gross
Financial assets Internal 12m or carrying carrying carrying carrying
at amortised costs Notes credit rating lifetime ECL amount amount amount amount
12 SRS
R RNDBEE Wi ABEETR BREEEER hE4E REfE RELE REAE

HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$000  HK$000
TRT TRT AT TR

Bank balances 21 NA 12m ECL 474,545 501,508
RiThe FER 12 RS EEEE
Bank balances - trust and
segregated accounts 21 NA 12m ECL 93,835 314,674
BB -ERERARREPO TR 1REARHEESE
Amounts receivables and
loan receivables 18 Lowrisk 12m ECL 557,440 622,245
WA RERER (L 12 ARSEEEE
Lifetime ECL (non-
credit-impaired) 90,130 1,051
FERRSEERR
(BEERE)
Lifetime ECL
(credit-impaired) 470,089 1,117,659 423,765 1,047,061
FERRSEERR
(EERE)
Other receivables and deposits 18 Lowrisk 12m ECL 133,117 133,264
AfERFE RS (L 12 RS EEEE
Other assets 19  NA 12m ECL 3,400 3,400
EftERE FER 12 AESEEER
Other item
HthEg
Financial guarantor (Note) 31 Low risk 12m ECL 3,000 3,000
BB R (fish) {EC el 12EARBEERS
Note: BfsE
For financial guarantee contract, the gross carrying amount BHERAANEREERRAE
represents the maximum amount the Group has guaranteed REACHERZEDEE -

under the respective contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE R " "4 =H=+—HIL4EE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - CONTINUED
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies —
Continued
(i) Credit risk and impairment assessment — Continued
The movements in ECL on interest bearing loan
receivables and margin financing receivables during the
years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

BMBRTA-&

(b)

MERREERERIGE - &

() EERRREEFG-&
BE-_T-__ER-_FT-_—F=
A=+ —HIEFEFERERER
rHFERMERKGIEZEREE
BEZFHMT

Lifetime ECL
Lifetime ECL credit-
not credit- impaired
12m ECL impaired (Note) Total
RESHES
FEHEES FEEE-
1218 A 78 EEEE- FERE
FEEE EEEHE (B &E) ‘st
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000
TET TER TER TET
At 1 April 2020 R-B-ZEMA-B 22295 17,661 152,140 192,096
Transfer to credit-impaired BEEERE (3,827) (15,074) 18,901 _
Reversal of impairment loss on BETEREER
margin financing receivables FEREES (5,919) - - (5,919)
Reversal of impairment loss BB B
on interest bearing loan BEFURBEER
receivables - (2,000) (22) (2,022)
Impairment loss on margin FERRERE
financing B 3,527 = = 3,527
Impairment loss on interest SFEEKER
bearing loan receivables WEEE 354 276 16,960 17,590
At 31 March 2021 and RZBEZ-F
1 April 2021 =A=t-HE
—EC--F
A—AH 16,430 863 187,979 205,272
Transfer to lifetime ECL BEGENTER
- not credit-impaired EEEE-BES
AL (12,445) 12,552 (107) -
Reversal of impairment loss on EEHFEREENK
margin financing receivables RERESE - (8,481) - (8,481)
Reversal of impairment loss e T R E R
on interest bearing loan ENRERE
receivables (742) - (57) (799)
Impairment loss on margin fFRAEERE
financing EE - 12,689 - 12,689
Impairment loss on interest TERERER
bearing loan receivables REEE 445 - 12,890 13,335
At 31 March 2022 RZEZZF
=R=+—H 3,688 17,623 200,705 222,016
Note: The credit impaired receivables related to customers that fieE - BEERERERREDER

were in the process of liquidation and/or management
assessed that the receivables are unlikely to be

recovered.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (&t 4 W 4 B A )
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - CONTINUED
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies —
Continued
(ii) Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining
sufficient cash and marketable securities, the availability
of funding through an adequate amount of credit
facilities and the ability to close out market positions.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. For
non-derivative financial liabilities, the table has been
drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
the financial liabilities based on the earliest date on
which the Group can be required to pay. Specifically,
borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are
included in the earliest time band regardless of the
probability of the banks choosing to exercise their
rights. The maturity dates for other non-derivative
financial liabilities are based on the agreed repayment
dates.

The table includes both interest and principal cash
flows. To the extend that interest flows are floating rate,
the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at
the end of the reporting period.

PAN

N (=)
For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE _-F " "4 =H=+—HIL4FK

29.

M B O® R M

B TE-#&
(b) VHEREERERBE-&

(i)

HEEZEE

BEEARDESRREZEER
RRNRERABEEES - BB
EAHEEERECRAERRSE
B MARNBEEMSRR -

TRAEASIAEENHBRE
ZEREMS - THRBEZHER
EEBINMEMBABZIREI
BHERPNFEERTEERT
ZEH - AT - MHEREX
ERERZERBENREHRE
BA - MAEZFRITEETR
HiER 2 rlaelt - HtbJEOTARE
BRAEIZHIMAUERBER
AL

THRRHI AL RSB RS
- WHER BB - K
RSB NEHEIR 2 FIEE
H o

Weighted On demand Total
average or less than undiscounted Carrying
interest rate one year  cash flows amounts
REXY ARERAL
IHEFE R = PR—F mER G FEE
HK$’000 HK$’ 000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER TET TERT TER
2022 “ECCF
Trade and other payables B 5 RE b EMN %A - 124,443 124,443 124,443
Borrowings & 1.48% 234,625 234,625 234,625
Amounts due to FEf BEEE A £ 500E
related parties - 1,172 1,172 1,172
Amount due to the ultimate & & &R A B FUE
holding company - 213,384 213,384 213,384
573,624 573,624 573,624
2021 —E-—F
Trade and other payables & 5} E i f& 4 58 - 345,739 345,739 345,739
Borrowings A 2.31% 263,353 263,353 263,353
Amounts due to related JE T AR A+ 5RIE
parties - 264 264 264
Amount due to the ultimate & & &R A B FUA
holding company - 200,362 200,362 200,362
809,718 809,718 809,718
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #&E R - 4= =+ — H IL4ESE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - CONTINUED BT H -
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies - (b) ﬁ?ﬁ%ﬂlﬁt BEEERBEK-#&
Continued
(ii) Liquidity risk - Continued (i) "EBEZLERE -E

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause
are included in the “on demand or less than 1 year”
time band in the above maturity analysis. As at 31
March 2022, the aggregate carrying amounts of
these bank borrowings amounted to approximately
HK$234,625,000 (2021: HK$258,629,000). Taking into
account the Group's financial position, the management
does not believe that it is probable that the banks will
exercise their discretionary rights to demand immediate
repayment. The management believes that such bank
loans will be repaid in accordance with the scheduled
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements, details
of which are set out in the table below:

M RBEREERINEBETE
RAALMBBEITHRE
KPR —E|BHEER -
RZZE-_—_F=ZfF=+—8"
ZERTEFRNERLELN A
234,625,000 (ZF=—4F -
258,629,000/87T) ° ZEEI A&
BRE BN  EBERART
AR RIS Z KA
BR-EBERAR ZEHRAE
PR RBEE R G EME T EER
REIEER  FEERTE:

Maturity analysis — bank borrowings with a repayment on FHEON — RBEERTEINA
demand clause based on a scheduled repayment RERKEREREOBRITER
Total
undiscounted
Within One to Two to Over cash Carrying
oneyear  twoyears  fiveyears five years outflows amount
AEBRE
—Fi -2fE MERLE BBALE bt BEE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$' 000
TR TiEx TiEn Tin TiEn TiEn
At 31 March 2022 R-E-—&#=f=+-H 21,938 21,965 83,900 114,201 254,004 234,625
At 31 March 2021 RZE--%=f=1-H 32,352 21,622 82,869 135,847 278,690 258,629

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments are subject to change if changes in variable
interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates
determined at the end of the reporting period.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (&t 4 M 4 W A #)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE _-F " "4 =H=+—HIL4FK

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - CONTINUED 29. MIKITA-#&
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies — (b) BBEEMREEEZERBEK-&

Continued

(iii) Interest rate risk (i) FZ 2

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed-rate interest-bearing loans receivables
(see Note 18). The Group is also exposed to cash
flow interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank
balances (see Note 21 for details), variable-rate
interest-bearing loans and margin financing receivables
(see Note 18 for details) and variable-rate bank and
other borrowings (see Note 23 for details). The Group
cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on
the fluctuation of interest rates on bank balances,
variable-rate receivables and borrowings. The Group
aims at keeping borrowings at variable rates. The Group
manages its interest rate exposures by assessing
the potential impact arising from any interest rate
movements based on interest rate level and outlook. The
management will review the proportion of borrowings
in fixed and floating rates and ensure they are within
reasonable range.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all
other variables held constant, the Group’s profit before
tax (through the impact on bank deposits, variable
rate borrowings, variable-rate interest-bearing loans

ASEHEEEBAXEERERE
WEFMIAENRRR (F2
BAFFE18) © A N He B B
FRNRRTES (HBEFLH
MaE21) R EERRAFR
B A YRR 2 5 B MOR
(HBF2RME18) AKFEA
KRITREMER (FRFLH
EE23) RS REF KRR
AEKEHERENERARTE
STRRNRITHER - FBRYGE
URERZMERE - NEEEE
NEFREFTAFB RS - K
KERBEMZKERAR - 5HE
AR REHELNELETEN
FEREFXERE - EEEHEH
BlE KIF B R 2 Rl - 3
ERiEXBEEEER -

TRFIR A& BB B A it ) (48
HIRITER  FBMERER F
PMEFBRKERLFRAE
BUREMTE) RASE#E R
HMELREEEZOGXIEM

receivables and margin financing receivables) and the HEEERETE -
Group’s equity.
Increase
Increase (decrease) Increase
(decrease) in profit before (decrease)
in basis points taxation in equity
HERy BREAENZ &2
2 Cri4) 2GRl 2) 2 O 2)
HK$'000 HK$’000
FHBT FHT
2022 —E -
Hong Kong dollars BT 50 4,158 3,607
Hong Kong dollars BT (50) (4,158) (3,607)
2021 &
Hong Kong dollars BT 50 3,542 3,058
Hong Kong dollars BT (50) (3,542) (3,058)

A fundamental reform of major interest rate benchmarks
is being undertaken globally, including the replacement
of some interbank offered rate (“IBORs”) with
alternative nearly risk-free rates. While the Hong Kong
Dollar Overnight Index Average (*HONIA”) has been
identified as an alternative to HIBOR, there is no plan to
discontinue HIBOR. The multi-rate approach has been
adopted in Hong Kong, whereby HIBOR and HONIA will
co-exist.

EREEHTENEEEETR
AUE  BEATTERETER
SEMREARE TRITRE &
EATRRFOEIRRBERE
BRITAXFEZBERTR - 1
BATRABR B R EBBRITRE
wE - BERAZMNELA &
BRITRAERERETRETY
BEBLE -

Annual Report 2022 AEH

179



180

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ _F "~ " 4E=H =+—H IL4EE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - CONTINUED

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies — (b)

Continued
(iv) Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily
through transactions which gives rise to bank balances
and borrowings that are denominated in a foreign
currency, i.e. a currency other than functional currency
of the operations to which the transactions relate. The
currency giving rise to this risk is primarily United States

dollars (“US$").

Since US$ are pegged to HK$, the Group considers
risk of movements in exchange rates between the HK$
and US$ to be insignificant. Accordingly, no sensitivity
analysis with respect to US$ is presented.

29. BHTH-&

PHEREERERBEK -#&

(iv) SPE/EF

AKEAS ZINERREEBB
RPN 2R RITREEHRRE
P BRSBRERBLIEE
B EMER - BEERR
HEBERERET((XT])

RRETEBTES - AEER
MR BB TR ETTE R 2 K EH
TRiE - Rt RENBHEET
R B AE DA

30. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 30. BERBEBALRS
Other than as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial MZEGEAT SRR EMIDDPTIHESEIN
statements, the Group has the following transactions with its ANEESHEEMBE A TETUTRS
related parties:
Name of related parties Nature of transactions Notes 2022 2021
BEALER R5ME B = —F-C —T-—F
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
TEx FHBIT
UBA Investments Limited (“UBA”) Investment management fee income (a) 1,569 1,621
HAKREERLA (HAKRE]) REEEE MW
Securities brokerage commission fee
income (b) 33 20
B RAE R
Handling fee income for dividend
collection (c) 22 20
REBRFEE KR
Storage fee income for bullion (d) 6 6
EeBFRENE
Town Bright Industries Limited Expenses relating to short-term lease (e) 676 676
REEXERAQAE RHHEER
Upbest Properties Company Limited Expenses relating to short-term lease (f) 84 84
ERERRAA REHEER
Champion Assets Limited Expenses relating to short-term lease (9) 60 60
iR ARAR REHEER
Loong Cheong Limited Expenses relating to short-term lease (h) 156 156

EERRRA

MHEEER

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (&t 4 M 4 W A #)




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= 8 B B | R KM &

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #& £ —

30. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS -
CONTINUED

Notes:

(a)

A subsidiary of the Company, Upbest Assets Management Limited
(“UAML") as investment manager, and UBA Investments Limited
("UBA”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “UBA Group”) have
entered into Investment Management Agreement dated 25 January
2019 (“Investment Management Agreement”) and agreed that the
investment management services provided by UAML to UBA for a
period of three years from 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2022. Pursuant
to the Investment Management Agreement, monthly investment
management fee is payable by UBA in advance and amounts to 1.5%
per annum of the consolidated net asset value of UBA (“Net Asset
Value”) as at the immediately preceding valuation date on the basis
of the actual number of days in the relevant calendar month over 365
days a year.

In addition to the investment management fee, provided that the Net
Asset Value as at the end of the relevant financial year exceeds the
higher (the “High Watermark”) of:

(i)  the Net Asset Value as at the financial year ended 31 March
2019 (“Reference Year”); and

(i) the Net Asset Value as at the end of the most recent financial
year after the Reference Year and in which the performance fee
is paid.

UBA will pay UAML the performance fee for the relevant financial
year equal to 20% of the amount by which the Net Asset Value as at
the end of the relevant financial year exceeds the High Watermark.
The annual cap for the investment management fee and performance
fee for each of the financial years ending 31 March 2020, 2021
and 2022 are HK$8,600,000, HK$9,100,000 and HK$9,600,000
respectively. It is expected that the total of investment management
fee and performance fee will be less than HK$10,000,000 per annum
and all the applicable percentage ratios (as defined under Rule
14.07 of the Listing Rules) in respect of the Investment Management
Agreement are less than 25%. Thus, transaction contemplated under
the New Investment Management Agreements is considered to be
a de-minimis transaction for the Company pursuant to Rule 14A.76
of the Listing Rules. There was no performance fee for the financial
years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021. The investment management
income has been included under revenue.

On 26 January 2022, UAML and UBA have entered into the 2022
Investment Management Agreement which the term in respect of the
management fee and the performance fee for the asset management
services were the same as the Investment Management Agreement.
The proposed annual cap for the management fee and performance
fee for the financial years ended 31 March 2023, 2024 and 2025 are
HK$6,100,000, HK$6,200,000 and HK$6,300,000 respectively.

FoHE=EHE+—HILEE

30. BERBEBALIRS -

i ¢

(a)

ARAHMBRAXEERERAR (X
%%ﬁh%%&ﬁ@ﬁ’ﬁﬁ%&ﬁﬁ
ﬁ(fﬁﬁﬁﬁ&ﬁﬂ)&ﬁﬁﬁ% ) (5

%Fﬁ%&ﬁgl) RZZE—NF—A
“THARATREERE G ((REEED

) UREREEERNFBRARE
ZREEEREAP=FH_"T—HLEMN
A—HZZZE-_—#=A=+—H - RE
REEERS SPAREEEBHMARAR
ERAENTREERZEEFE(BE
FED15BZEFRREBEAERBH
BRAZFI65H 2 EEWEERS -

BREEEEEI  ERERBYRFEL
MEEFERBATSEA(SKAED

(i) MNEEZT-NF=A=t—HLH
BEE([2Z4E ) MEEFE &

(i) 2EEFEEKO—EFINRRMH
SZHBERNEEFE -

AAKEBRAEEEEY S HBTKRE
ERXREMS  HERNEEAMBEELN
BEFERBESKUIESEN20% HE
E-EFE T —FER-FT--F= H
S+ HUZEUBREEZ2FREERE
EREZAMEFE LR D 5 A8,600,000
7 7T 9,100,000/ 7T %9,600,000/% JT ©
HHREEEBRARBLEEEE IR
10,000,000 T kB @R EE B k2 F
BEBESLE(ERA LEMRAE14.07
1§) 191K 125% A It - R i% TR IS
14A.761% IR EEBIHZRE FHETH
ROGWBBRRBIFAREREREKF
MRP HE-ZT-_—FR-_FT-_—F=
A=+ ALMBREETERBRHE - %
EEBWREWBERKREET °

R-F-__F—-A-+RH XEEEA
HARER T - —SREEERHS -
HEAEEEERBOREEEERRRAE
BEREERBHEMEF -BE_T =4
“ERCNER-B-RE=A=+—-RIt
HREECREERERRAB ZEAF
& EMR % 5l £6,100,0007% 7T * 6,200,000
7 7T 56,300,000/ 7T ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ _F "~ " 4E=H =+—H IL4EE

30. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS -
CONTINUED

Notes: — Continued

(b)

On 25 January 2019, Upbest Securities Company Limited (*USCL”")
and UBA and four of its subsidiaries have separately entered into
securities brokerage supplemental agreements for the transaction
in relation to the provision of securities brokerage services and
agreed that the original agreements were further extended for a
period of three years to 31 March 2022. It is expected that the
annual brokerage commission will be less than HK$3,000,000 per
annum and all the applicable percentage ratios (as defined under
Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules) are less than 5%. Thus, transactions
contemplated under the securities brokerage supplemental
agreements are considered to be a de-minims transaction for USCL
pursuant to Rule 14A.76 of the Listing Rules. Brokerage commission
fee income was charged at 0.25% (2021: 0.25%), the prevailing
market rate, on the value of the transactions.

On 26 January 2022, USCL and UBA and six of its subsidiaries
have entered into the 2022 Securities Brokerage Supplemental
Agreements and agreed that the original agreement will be extended
for the period from 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2025. The proposed
annual cap regarding to the securities brokerage service for each
of the financial year ended 31 March 2023, 2024 and 2025 is
HK$800,000.

Handling fee for dividend collection was charged at minimum of
HK$30 or 0.50% per transaction amount.

Storage fee for precious metals trading was charged at US$2 (2021:
US$2) per day.

Two subsidiaries of the Company have respectively entered into
tenancy agreements with Town Bright Industries Limited for one
year, commencing from 1 April 2021. On 1 April 2022, the tenancy
agreements were renewed for one year to 31 March 2023. (Note)

A subsidiary of the Company entered into a tenancy agreement with
Upbest Properties Company Limited for one year, commencing from
1 April 2021. On 1 April 2022, the tenancy agreement was renewed
for one year to 31 March 2023. (Note)

A subsidiary of the Company entered into a tenancy agreement with
Champion Assets Limited for one year, commencing from 1 April
2021. On 1 April 2022, the tenancy agreement was renewed for one
year to 31 March 2023. (Note)
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30. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS -
CONTINUED

Notes: — Continued

(h)

A subsidiary of the Company entered into a tenancy agreement with
Loong Cheong Limited for one year, commencing from 1 April 2021.
On 1 April 2022, the tenancy agreement was renewed for one year to
31 March 2023. (Note)

Note:

As at 31 March 2022, CCAA Group Limited (“CCAA”) holds
approximately 74.29% interest in Upbest Group Limited (“Upbest”).
Fung Fai Growth Limited (“Fung Fai”) holds approximately 26.74% of
UBA. The ultimate beneficial owner of CCAA and Fung Fai is Cheng's
Family Trust. Interested beneficiaries of the Cheng's Family Trust
include Mr. CHENG Kai Ming, Charles, Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie
(“Ms. Cheng”) and Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew (“Mr. Cheng”).
Ms. Cheng and Mr. Cheng are directors of Upbest. Mr. Cheng is also
a director of UBA. Moreover, UAML, the investment manager of UBA,
is regarded as a connected person of UBA under Rule 14A.08 of the
Listing Rules.

Mr. CHENG Kai Ming, Charles, the father of Ms. Cheng and
Mr. Cheng, has beneficial interests in Town Bright Industries Limited,
Upbest Properties Company Limited, Champion Assets Limited and
Loong Cheong Limited.

The remuneration of Directors and other members of key
management during the year are disclosed in Note 10.

The above transactions were carried out in the normal course of the

Group's business on terms mutually agreed between the parties.
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31. FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

1. BBEREH

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET TAT
Guarantees given by the Company RRRIREMNBARABYE=H
and its subsidiaries to financial 1A T I IS e PR R DARUS
institutions in respect of facilities
granted to independent third parties 3,000 3,000
Guarantees given by the Company to KARIREMB ARG TI®
financial institutions in respect of HEERIEUSEER
facilities granted to subsidiaries 452,000 452,000

At the end of the reporting period, the Directors do not consider it
is probable that a claim will be made against the Group under any
of the guarantees.

Of the above guarantees, the amount utilised by the subsidiaries

at 31 March 2022 is approximately HK$234,625,000 (2021:
HK$258,629,000)

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ &t 4 45 R 2 #)
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32. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

32. ADAMNHBARR K

2022 2021
—EC- & — ks
HK$°000 HK$ 000
FET TAT

NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - W REE 4 5
Interests in subsidiaries NN 397,009 368,679
397,013 368,684

CURRENT ASSETS nRBEE
Prepayments and other receivable T8 1 508 K HL A e YRR 4 =
Bank balances and cash RITEH RIS 147 2,185
151 2,185
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE

Accrued expenses FEfT & A 345 405
Net current (liabilities) assets nE (BE) BE (194) 1,780
NET ASSETS EEFE 396,819 370,464

CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXR A
Share capital A 26,824 26,824
Reserves (Note) fEf (FIsE) 369,995 343,640
396,819 370,464

AREMHMBRARRCRETEN T
FEANA-THRRERRER L RH T
EEAERRE:

The Company’s statement of financial position was approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 24 June 2022 and
are signed on its behalf by:

Cheng Wai Lun, Andrew Cheng Wai Ling, Annie
BER B;ER

Executive Director Executive Director

HITEE HITEF
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32. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY - 32, XA GWEBEMRREK - &

CONTINUED
Note: Reserves of the Company [E R NG o) -
Proposed
Share Contributed  Retained final
premium surplus profits dividend Total
RRAH
BRoaE BHEH%  RKRIEW B st
HK$’000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’000
TER TET THET TER TER
At 1 April 2020 RZE-_TEMA—H 300,959 8,515 14,921 26,823 351,218

Profit and total comprehensive A% B 7l & H it 2 E I %

income for the year - - 19,245 - 19,245
Dividend payable RIS - - - (26,823)  (26,823)
Proposed final dividend (Note 13) ##ix RS (F1:£13) - - (26,823) 26,823 =
At 31 March 2021 RZZZ—F$=A=+—H 300,959 8,515 7,343 26,823 343,640

Profit and total comprehensive  ZNF B Fil & H b2 E U 25

income for the year - - 53,178 - 53,178
Dividend payable RS - - - (26,823)  (26,823)
Proposed final dividend (Note 13) #5 R &15% & (Fi3513) - - (53,646) 53,646 -
At 31 March 2022 RZE-ZZ#=H=1+-H 300,959 8,515 6,875 53,646 369,995

186 UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3 #t % M 4 B 2 5])
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33. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM 33.

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified as
cash flows from financing activities in the Group’s consolidated
statement of cash flows.

METHMELABZHE

TERFAAEEREEDFELABZE
g BRASNFESEY -BETDA
EXRERERERECHAARRASRES
REGKEGERERDRADBRRER
PREREZEE-

Bank Dividend Interest

borrowing payable payable Total

RITRERK JE A AR 2 & A~ 7118, e

HK$ " 000 HKS$ " 000 HK$ " 000 HK$ 000

TET FET FHBT FHET
At 1 April 2020 RZZE_ZTFMWA—H 281,204 - - 281,204
Financing cash flows net FRERERE (22,575) (26,823) (6,212) (55,610)
Finance cost &R A = = 6,212 6,212
Dividend approved BHERE - 26,823 - 26,823

At 31 March 2021 and R-EBE-—%=A=+—H

1 April 2021 —E—FMmMA—H 258,629 - - 258,629
Financing cash flows net FRHERERE (24,004) (26,823) (3,574) (54,401)
Finance cost & B A - - 3,574 3,574
Dividend approved BHER S - 26,823 - 26,823
At 31 March 2022 R-ZE-_—_F=H=+—H 234,625 - - 234,625
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i

34. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

34. B RFE

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31 March 2022 and 2021

are as follows:

N-BE-——FR-—"FE-——&F=A=+—§ -
ARFIMBRABGFENT

Issued and Proportion of
Principal fully paid interest/voting power
Place of place of ordinary attributable
Name of subsidiaries incorporation operation share capital to the Group Principal activities
BEIR REBEL
WELREH SMALHE FEEENE  HRLERRA BHELA,/ REE TEEH
2022 2021
—B-CE —E--&
Upbest Financial Holdings Limited British Virgin Hong Kong US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Islands (“BVI")
ABABRES B E RELER
Upbest Land Company Limited BVI Hong Kong US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
EBARRES B E RELER
Citybest Management Limited BVI Macau US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
EBARRES AP E RELER
Companhia De Desenvolvimento Macau Macau MOP25,000 100% 100%  Property investment
E Fomento Predial Si Wan Limitada
KEEXERERAA P R 25,0008 7 FHERE
Gold-Face Finance Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$28,000,004 100% 100% Money lending
HRBBERAA i BE  28,000,004% 7 ERRE
Good Foundation Company Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
FEBRAT &b Bk 10,0007 7T REER
Good Profit Development Limited Samoa Hong Kong US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
ANERARAA BE: B0 (E REERK
Great Luck Consultants Limited BVI Hong Kong US$50,000 100% 100% Inactive
RERFARAA RBRRRES B0 50,000% 7T IRELRD
King Standard International Limited BVI Macau US$1 100% 100% Property holding
REBARRES 2P (E B PR
Marco Tech Limited BVI Hong Kong US$2 100% 100%  Investment holding
RBRRRES 0 2XTT REERK

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ &t 4 45 R 2 #)



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= 8 B B | R KM &
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34. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY - 34. MBARIFE-&
CONTINUED
Issued and Proportion of
Principal fully paid interest/voting power
Place of place of ordinary attributable
Name of subsidiaries incorporation operation share capital to the Group Principal activities
BRTR AREEE
WELREH AMRVBE FTEEXRBE HEREBERRA BELH,/ REE EL:3 3
2022 2021
—E-__F —E--F

Mei Tou Real Estate Company Limited Macau Macau MOP25,000 100% 100%  Property investment

FBEEXARAA 2P 2P 25,0002 7 FHERE

Mei Wo Company Limited Macau Macau MOP25,000 100% 100%  Property investment

ENERARF 2P 2P 25,0002 7 FHERE

Perfect Result Investments Limited BVI Hong Kong US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding

FEREFRAT ABABARES &b 1% REZR

Profit Up Development Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10 70% 70% Project and

property

management

BRERARRA B B0 1087 BHERNEER

Upbest Assets Management Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$600,000 100% 100%  Asset management

FREBERAA N 0 600,000 7 BEER

Upbest Bullion Company Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$11,000,000 100% 100% Precious metal

dealing

XREXARATA Bk &% 11,000,008 RLREE

Upbest Commodities Company Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 100% 100% Futures dealing

XEHEARAT Bk &% 10,000,000 HEER

Upbest Credit and Mortgage Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$2 100% 100% Inactive

FREEREBARRAA &k B 28T IREEY

Upbest Cyber Trade Company Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$2 100% 100% Inactive

FRETHEERAA & B 28T IRELD

Upbest Hong Kong Land Company BVI Hong Kong US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding

Limited
ABRARES B (EI REEMRK
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34. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY -

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34. WEBLARFHE-£&

CONTINUED
Issued and Proportion of
Principal fully paid interest/voting power
Place of place of ordinary attributable
Name of subsidiaries incorporation operation share capital to the Group Principal activities
BRTR AREEE
(il IR MR FEEXRBE SREBERRA BRELH,/ RER TEXEH
2022 2021
—E-__E —E-_-&

Upbest Investment Company Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong  HK$40,000,000 100% 100% Securities margin
financing
XRRAFRAT B &% 40,000,000% T BRRAE
Upbest Macau Land Company Limited BVI Hong Kong US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
XRRMAEXERAT ABRRARES &b [EY REER
Upbest Online Securities Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$5,000,000 100% 100% Inactive
XRBLEFERAT &t &%  5000,000%7T IRELY
Upbest Strategic Company Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$5,002 100% 100%  Investment holding
XRABERAT B &b 500287 REER
Upbest Securities Company Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong  HK$10,000,000 100% 100% Securities dealing
and broking
ERESERAA ) #%& 10,000,000 EARHRER
Peals International Limited BVI Hong Kong US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
YHERERAT ABABRES B E REER
Maiyon Investment Company Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$35,000 100% 100% Inactive
FEREAFRAT BB B 35,0008 7 IRELY
Peace Gain Holdings Limited BVI Hong Kong US$100 55% 55%  Investment holding
ABABRES B 100% 7T REZER

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ &t 4 45 R 2 #)
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PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY -
CONTINUED

34.

MERAE - &

Issued and Proportion of
Principal fully paid interest/voting power
Place of place of ordinary attributable
Name of subsidiaries incorporation operation share capital to the Group Principal activities
BRTR AREEE
WELREH AMRVBE FTEEXRBE HEREBERRA BELH,/ REE EL:3 3
2022 2021
—E-__F —E--F
Christian Faith Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 55% 55%  Property investment
Bk B 1A FHERE
Bible Workshop Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 55% 55% Inactive
B B 1A ERELRD
Upbest Gold & Silver Trading Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100% Precious metal
dealing
FReREFERAT &b B 10,0007 7T HEEEE
Mega Benefit International Limited BVI Hong Kong US$1 100% 100% Inactive
ABABRER &k E ERERY

None of the subsidiaries had any loan capital outstanding at the
end of the reporting period or at any time during the year.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

For the existing business of rental income from operating lease,
the Group has experienced difficulties owing to the outbreak of the
coronavirus (“COVID-19") pandemic and uncertainties due to the
gradual slowdown of the Macau economy. Although the tension
of COVID-19 seemed to be abating, the Group expects that the
COVID-19 will still continue impacting our business. The Group will
continue to pay close attention to COVID-19 and to evaluate its
impact on the financial position, cash flows and operating result of
this business line.

35.

RFERRLARFEENEMRRE - AN
BLRHERFEZERNEERN

BEHREE

BREECEMEZHEREERME AR
EAEE ([COVID-19]) BB 3 K R P48
EEHREEBER I RERR  A5EE
5 R M S Pk o B E B IE FICOVID-19%
BRREN 2R - NEBETEHCOVID-194
EEZZZMOEL - AEEKHEERY
BECOVID-19% 15 « Wil EHZEBE
MPBMRL  REREREEEEIFE -
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SCHEDULE OF PROPERTIES

W E K R
(1) INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AS AT 31" MARCH, 2022 (1) RZEZZE=ZB=1+—HzREYE
Approximate Percentage of the
Description Usage gross floor area Status  Group’s interest
EE T B BHEEAER R REBFE
BEBEDL
(square feet)
(FAR) %
(a) Macau Commercial 105,000 Rental 100
& ki 78
51 Various car parking spaces and
the whole of the ground floor and
1st Floor of Chino Plaza, located
in Baia Sul Do Bairro Fai Chi Kei,
Lote PS2 Macau
LR RFI R F EFEPS2ER 2
EMES  BES AR -
WER—EB2E
(b) Macau Residential/ 11,492 Rental 100
B Commercial fnfié|
Ex/®A
1 piece of land at
Nossa Senhora Do Camo,
Taipa, Macau with
a two-story restaurant
RRMKFRELR
ez —tELi b
E-EMERREEEZEEY
(2) PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT AS 2 ARZEBEZZFE=Zf=+—HzEEER
AT 31T MARCH, 2022 LY/
Percentage
of the Estimated
Approximate Group’s completion Stage of
Description Usage site area interest date development
EE3 itk Bagm r&EE st BRER
BER Frib s SRk A
Aok
(square feet)
(FAR) %
(a) Hong Kong Government, 9,147 58] N/A~ Vacant land
% Institution or TER EETIH
Community
2 pieces of land at BT gt
Tseung Kwan O
Declamation

District Number 248
MR A S B ER248E ) 1 it
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